# Mobile Populations and HIV/AIDS in the Southern African Region

**Recommendations for Action** 

# Deskreview and Bibliography on HIV/AIDS and Mobile Populations

May 2003





This document has been financed by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency, Sida. Sida does not necessarily share the views expressed in this material. Responsibility for its contents rests entirely with the author.



IOM's Regional Office for Southern Africa would like to thank the following organizations and people:

- Khulisa Management Services and Barbara Rijks (IOM) for the research and writing;
- Daan Brummer (IOM) for collecting the database on mobile populations and HIV/ AIDS in the SADC region;
- Mary Haour Knipe (IOM), Helen Jackson (UNFPA), Aurorita Mendoza (UNAIDS) and Danielle Grondin (IOM) for their review and feedback;
- Hein Marais (UNAIDS) for editing;
- Ivan Hermans and Bunmi Makinwa (UNAIDS ICT for Eastern and Southern Africa) for financial support towards the printing and launch of the report, and
- Colleagues in IOM Publications Unit in Geneva for their efforts in producing this report.

#### And in particular:

• Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency for their financial support for this review.

The human immunodefiency virus (HIV) epidemic carries with it forces of destruction and healing. Which prevails will be the measure of ourselves and our societies.

Reid (1995)



#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acronyms	6
Foreword	8
<b>Executive Summary</b>	11
Agenda for Advocacy	16
Introduction	26
Sections different Mobile Groups	29
Military personnel	29
Transport workers	36
Mine workers	46
Workers in the construction sector and other major industries	54
Agricultural farm workers	58
Informal traders	63
Domestic workers	67
Refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs)	70
Conclusion	74
Endnotes	75
eword cutive Summary nda for Advocacy oduction ions different Mobile Groups Military personnel Transport workers Mine workers Workers in the construction sector and other major industries Agricultural farm workers Informal traders Domestic workers Refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) clusion notes endix A: Acknowledgements endix B: National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies ne Member States of the Southern African Development amunity (SADC) endix C: Bibliography Database on HIV/AIDS	84
Appendix B: National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the Member States of the Southern African Development	
Community (SADC)	86
Appendix C: Bibliography Database on HIV/AIDS	
Agenda for Advocacy Introduction Sections different Mobile Groups Military personnel Transport workers Mine workers Workers in the construction sector and other major industries Agricultural farm workers Informal traders Domestic workers Refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs)  Conclusion Endnotes  Appendix A: Acknowledgements Appendix B: National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the Member States of the Southern African Development Community (SADC)	91

#### **ACRONYMS**

AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AIDSCAP AIDS Control and Prevention (FHI Project)

AZT Azidothymidine

BCC Behaviour Change Communication

CFU Commercial Farmers Union (Zimbabwe)
COSATU Congress of South African Trade Unions
CSIR Council for Scientific and Industrial Research

CSM Condom Social Marketing CSW Commercial Sex Worker

DPW Department of Public Works (South Africa)

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo

EU European Union

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization

FHI Family Health International GDP Gross Domestic Product

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus IDPs Internally Displaced Persons

IEC Information, Education and Communication

ILO International Labour Organization

IOM International Organization for Migration

ISAPSO Integrated Services for AIDS Prevention and Support Organiza-

tion (WFP Project)

MRC Medical Research Council
MSM Men Having Sex with Men
MTCT Mother To Child Transmission

NACL Network Against Child Labour (South Africa)

NBC National Bargaining Council

NECTOI National Employment Council for the Transport Operating Indus-

try (Zimbabwe)

NEPAD New Partnership for Africa's Development

NGO Non-Governmental Organization NUM National Union of Mineworkers OVC Orphans and Vulnerable Children

PWA Person living With AIDS

RHAP Regional HIV/AIDS Programme (USAID)

RSA Republic of South Africa SAA South African Airways

SACTWU Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers Union

SADC Southern African Development Community

SAMP Southern African Migration Project

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority

SIDA Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency

SMME Small Medium and Micro-Enterprise

STI Sexually Transmitted Infection

TB Tuberculosis

TFGI The Futures Group International

UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNGASS United Nations General Assembly Special Session
UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
USAID United States Agency for International Development

VCT Voluntary Counselling and Testing

WFP World Food Programme
WHO World Health Organization

WSSD World Summit on Sustainable Development

ZCTU Zimbabwe Congress of Trade Unions

#### **FOREWORD**

By far the world's worst-affected region, sub-Saharan Africa is now home to 29.4 million people living with HIV/AIDS, 70 per cent of the total 42.9 million people living with HIV/AIDS globally. The eight Southern African Development Community (SADC) countries under review in this study have the highest HIV adult prevalence rates in the world: Botswana (38.8%), Zimbabwe (33.7%), Swaziland (33.4%), Lesotho (31.0%), Namibia (22.5%), South Africa (20.1%), Zambia (21.5%), and Mozambique (13.0%).

Since the start of the HIV/AIDS epidemic, SADC governments have been concerned that the movement of people between countries was a major factor in the spread of HIV. Today there is increasing recognition that mobile populations may be more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS than populations that do not move. They may be subject to discrimination, xenophobia, exploitation and harassment, and enjoy scant legal or social protection in the host community. They may also have little or no access to HIV information, health services and means of AIDS prevention such as condoms or treatment of sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Mobile people may acquire HIV while on the move, and return home with the virus, often unwittingly.

Given the high number of mobile populations in the SADC region, there is an urgent need for responses that address their particular vulnerabilities to HIV/AIDS. Such responses are critical to the effectiveness of national AIDS programmes in the many countries that experience significant migration and population mobility. Such responses must be based on the social and contextual realities faced by mobile populations and should form part of broader empowerment that improves their legal, social, economic and health status.

The Regional Office for Southern Africa of the International Organization for Migration (IOM) is concerned with the vulnerability of mobile populations in the SADC region to HIV/AIDS. In consultation with the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), IOM initiated this desk review which focuses on eight mobile groups in as many SADC countries.

The following eight mobile groups were reviewed: (1) Military personnel, (2) Transport Workers, (3) Mine workers, (4) Construction Workers, (5) Agricultural Farm Workers, (6) Informal Traders, (7) Domestic Workers, (8) Refugees/IDPs.

The following countries were reviewed: (1) Botswana, (2) Lesotho, (3) Mozambique, (4) Namibia, (5) South Africa, (6) Swaziland, (7) Zambia, (8) Zimbabwe.

The objectives of the study are:

- to document the vulnerability of the different mobile groups to HIV/AIDS;
- to examine existing policies and programmes that address the causes of HIV vulnerability of these groups;
- to identify policy and programmatic gaps, and provide recommendations that could help reduce HIV vulnerability for mobile populations;
- to compile a bibliography on mobile populations and HIV/AIDS.

This study is the first part of a regional project on Mobile Populations and HIV/AIDS, funded by SIDA. The second part of this project entails field research, implemented in partnership with CARE International in Zimbabwe, South Africa and Mozambique. The field research will map different migrant or mobile populations, especially traders, agricultural workers, fishermen/sailors/seafarers, miners' families and domestic workers (mainly internal migration) and offer programming recommendations.

One of the objectives of this study was to create a bibliography on mobile populations and HIV/AIDS in the SADC region.<sup>1</sup> The bibliography is a comprehensive and upto-date overview of newspaper articles, papers, articles in journals and books covering mobile populations in ten SADC countries. Together with the southern African organization CADRE (the Centre for AIDS Development, Research and Evaluation), IOM is hosting this bibliography on CADRE's website www.cadre.org.za.

This report is not a complete overview of all the programmes and policies that have been developed in the SADC region, nor is it an in-depth study into the sexual behaviour or root causes of HIV vulnerability of the different mobile populations. Many in-depth studies of this sort have already been carried out, many of which can be found in Annex C of this report.

By searching the Internet, reviewing existing literature and interviewing key experts between July and December 2002, this desk review has tried to analyse how different mobile populations are vulnerable to HIV/AIDS, and what policies and programmes exist to address such vulnerability. The review also formulates some recommendations to address the causes of vulnerability for each stage of the mobility process: source, transit, destination and return. These recommendations are by no means exhaustive.

We hope this desk review will encourage more research and stronger operational policies and programmes that could eventually reduce the HIV vulnerability of mobile populations and of those close to them.

In commending this publication to a wider readership, I would like to thank SIDA – on behalf of IOM – for its generous financial support for this desk review. Our organization is committed to playing a key role in addressing the HIV vulnerability of mobile populations in this region, in cooperation with Governments, appropriate UN Agencies and NGOs.

Hans-Petter Boe Regional Representative for Southern Africa International Organization for Migration Pretoria

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

In much of the literature on HIV/AIDS and mobility, mobile populations and/or migrants are described and treated as one, homogenous group. This report examines the different sub-groups of mobile populations, and looks at their commonalities and differences

Mobile groups are vulnerable to HIV/AIDS in different respects, which complicates prevention and mitigation strategies. Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS is often related to a particular stage of the mobility process. IOM has defined a process framework for HIV/AIDS based on four stages of mobility:

- **Source**: where people come from, why they leave, and the relationships they maintain at home while away;
- **Transit**: the places people pass through, how they travel and their behaviour while they travel;
- **Destination**: where people go, the attitudes they encounter and their new living and working conditions;
- **Return**: the changes that have occurred in people's lives and the conditions they find upon their return.

Some migrants are most vulnerable at their destination – for example, men who work far from home, such as mine workers, farm workers and military personnel who live in men-only camps or barracks. For others, the greatest risk occurs in transit, when female informal traders or farm workers might have to trade sex in order to survive or complete their journeys.<sup>2</sup>

This report highlights the ways in which the different mobile populations are vulnerable to HIV/AIDS, and draws together some of the policies and programmes that governments, employers, unions and NGOs have put in place. Since different mobile populations are vulnerable to HIV infection at different stages of mobility, the report formulates recommendations for each stage of the mobility process. Although Commercial Sex Workers (CSWs) constitute a mobile group in their own right, we have decided not to highlight them in a separate section but rather integrate them in the other sections. A separate section on Commercial Sex Workers can be found in the bibliography in Annex C.

#### **Findings**

It has long been clear that the AIDS epidemic thrives in an environment of social exclusion. Most mobile populations work and live in such an environment. Separated from their familiar social structures and from shared norms and values, language and social support, they are more likely to engage in risky behaviour. Their new environment often lacks strong community cohesiveness, thus increasing the risk of HIV infection.<sup>3</sup>

The optimal context for HIV transmission is one where men have money, have few recreational options, are away from families, and are amid low-income communities where women's limited access to education, employment, credit or income can force resort to commercial or transactional sex. Thus, migrant workers – including (seasonal) plantation workers, truckers, military personnel and mine workers – are especially vulnerable to HIV,<sup>4</sup> and infection rates tend to be highest in peri-urban areas beside major highways, military bases, mines, plantations, timber estates and other migrant centres.

Mobile populations experience a multitude of risks. Preoccupied by more immediate challenges of physical survival and financial need, many people on the move regard HIV as a distant risk. <sup>5</sup>

The transient nature of migrants' lives puts them at risk. The longer they spend away from home, the more likely it is that some will indulge in casual, high-risk sex. Other factors boost the odds of infection even more. Lengthy delays at border crossings can turn those areas hotspots for high-risk sexual activities. The overcrowded shacks of farm workers, the isolation of migrant worker hostels or the anonymity of refugee camps beckons companionship and the possibility of risky sexual conduct.

Gender relations are an important dimension of migration. In Southern Africa most migrants are men who move to urban areas, leaving their partners in rural areas. Areas from which migrants originate often are underdeveloped and impoverished – and women, in the absence of their partners, might have to sell or trade sex in order to survive. Rural women face an even higher risk of HIV infection when their migrant partners return home regularly from areas of high HIV prevalence.

Many migrating women move to urban areas in order to achieve economic and social independence. Lack of education, however, restricts many of them to the informal trading sector, domestic work or sex work. CSWs are often migrant workers themselves, moving from city to city in pursuit of better earning opportunities and

safer working conditions. For example, a study found that 40 per cent of the CSWs in Hillbrow, Johannesburg, were originally from South Africa's Eastern Cape province.<sup>6</sup> At the same time, migrating female farm workers in rural areas (who often outnumber men as seasonal labourers on some border farms in South Africa) have been known to exchange sex for food.<sup>7</sup>

The social constructions of gender and sexuality underpin HIV vulnerability. Working environments, such as that of truckers, soldiers, mineworkers, plantation workers and fishermen, contribute significantly to male notions of masculinity and sexuality. Next to the boredom and loneliness of these jobs, the men endure dangerous and unpleasant working conditions, poor accommodation and estranging environments, to which they may respond with exaggerated "masculinity" and sexual bravado. Male migrants often subscribe to gender norms that prize multiple sexual partnerships. Another significant source of HIV transmission is sex between men, especially those working and living in predominantly male environments.

In summary, the main factors increasing the vulnerability of mobile populations to HIV include:10

- work involving mobility, in particular the obligation to travel regularly and live away from spouses;
- separation from socio-cultural norms that regulate behaviour in stable communities;
- work in isolated environments with limited recreation and easy access to CSWs, drugs and alcohol;
- limited access to health facilities, including treatment for sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and HIV/AIDS prevention and care programmes;
- types of accommodation such as single-sex, overcrowded living quarters or having to sleep in trucks;
- difficult and dangerous working conditions, with high risk of physical injury;
- workplaces dominated by men;
- transactional sex, sexual abuse and sexual violence;
- a sense of anonymity which allows for more sexual freedom;
- xenophobia and discrimination;
- lack of legal rights and legal protection.

There are many policies and programmes in place to address the vulnerability of various mobile populations to HIV/AIDS. Many are related to the workplace and address issues such as discrimination, confidentiality, recruitment and employment, testing and treatment. Some government departments have established strategic plans on HIV/AIDS for specific sectors, though their implementation has been slow.

Most workplace programmes cover peer education, condom distribution, dissemination of Information, Education and Communication (IEC) materials, HIV/AIDS awareness programmes and support to Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT). Some trade unions have been active in addressing some of the socio-economic factors driving the epidemic like housing and working conditions of migrant workers. Some successful programmes, mostly funded by international donors, have specifically addressed HIV vulnerability of certain mobile workers such as truck drivers, CSWs, traders and miners in mining towns, border areas and other risk-areas along transport routes.

Overall, however, few policies and programmes address the specific socioeconomic conditions that increase HIV risk for mobile workers. Conditions that devalue people's dignity signal to individuals that their lives are considered to be of little worth. In such circumstances the fight against HIV/AIDS is unlikely to encounter much success.

Dangerous work environments – the heat and noise of a cramped mine stope, the ferocity of a battlefront, the rush to meet tight transport deadlines – imperil life. Why worry about HIV/AIDS when one may die in a rock fall, a landmine explosion or an accident? And poverty imposes its own imperatives. As one Botswana sex worker once explained, "I can ask clients to use condoms but they pay more for sex without condoms, by the time I die of AIDS I will have been able to educate my children and build a house."<sup>11</sup>

SADC governments, companies and NGOs need to take such factors into consideration when they develop policies and programmes on HIV/AIDS and mobile populations.

#### The way forward

To reduce the HIV vulnerability of mobile populations in the long term, the socioeconomic and political factors that drive mobility should be addressed, including the uneven distribution of resources, unemployment, socio-economic insecurity, economic instability and political unrest.

Similarly the characteristics and underlying conditions of migration should be addressed. Programmes that train peer educators in the workplace and that distribute IEC materials and condoms are extremely important. But they do not address the root causes of vulnerability. Therefore such programmes need to be implemented in

tandem with efforts that protect basic human rights and improve the living and working conditions of mobile workers. If these workers feel valued and have their basic human rights protected, they would be more likely to value their own lives enough to practice safe sex.

The next section, Agenda for Advocacy, offers recommendations for action on policy, research, programme implementation and advocacy. Heeding and implementing them can address some of the structural causes of HIV vulnerability among mobile populations.

#### AGENDA FOR ADVOCACY

Policies and programmes aimed at reducing the risk of mobile populations to HIV infection work best when they reflect an understanding of the economic, social and contextual dimensions of AIDS. This entails distinguishing between different mobile populations and their respective characteristics. At the same time, the experiences of various mobile populations can also be quite similar. The common issues should be used to advocate for programmes and policies for all mobile populations and to put their HIV vulnerability on the agendas of governments, international organizations, regional organizations and NGOs. There are many global, regional and national plans, declarations of commitment, and codes of conduct in place that include recommendations and guidelines on mobile populations. These can be used to raise the profile of mobile populations and reduce their vulnerability to HIV/AIDS.

#### Recommendations for action

The following recommendations address the most urgent needs of mobile populations and their vulnerability to HIV/AIDS:

## 1. Develop a solid policy framework in each SADC country and within the SADC secretariat to reduce the vulnerability of mobile populations

The many HIV/AIDS policies in place in the SADC region include strategic plans, codes of conduct, workplace policies and sectoral policies. However, few national strategic plans include mobile populations as a vulnerable group. But research conducted for this desk review also showed that some SADC countries have sectoral policies on HIV/AIDS that are relevant to mobile populations – such as in the agriculture, minerals and energy, transport, public works, and uniformed services and police sectors. The underlying causes of vulnerability of mobile populations are seldom mentioned, however. In addition, there are questions about the extent to which such policies are in fact being implemented. In some cases, Ministry participation is limited to having an AIDS policy for employees while in others, a Ministry might be more actively involved in implementing programmes to address HIV/AIDS for a constituent.

As long as mobile populations are not addressed in national and sector policies, responses to reduce their vulnerability will fall short. One effective and important way of developing more appropriate policies is to increase the representation of mobile populations in decision forums. Key representatives of relevant sectors (transport, mining, agriculture, military, etc) representing mobile populations could be included

in multi-sectoral national AIDS councils. The SADC Secretariat, in particular its Health Sector Coordinating Unit (HSCU), could play a strong facilitating role in developing policy and developing advocacy activities.

There is a need to develop and strengthen policies in the following areas:

- Mobile populations need to be integrated into national strategic plans on HIV/ AIDS of SADC countries as a vulnerable group and separate strategies should be developed to address this vulnerability;
- Sectoral policies on HIV/AIDS are needed for sectors that employ mobile workers especially in Agriculture, Minerals and Energy, Transport and Works, and Uniformed Services and Police in various SADC countries themselves and in the relevant SADC sector units:
- Laws and policies can be harmonized and systems can be strengthened to speed
  up customs and immigration formalities. This would reduce delays at borders and
  reduce the potential sexual abuse and bribery of especially female migrants by
  border officials. Needed, too, are working visas that cater for informal traders and
  cross-border farm workers;
- Laws and regulations can be improved to protect the basic rights of mobile populations, especially in the informal sector;
- Reduce the time that mobile populations spend away from families and regular sexual partners by facilitating increased family visits. Employers of mobile populations can review leave schedules and change workplace policies;
- Employers should recognize as co-factors of HIV transmission issues such as job security and working conditions, including comprehensive medical aid schemes that allow for regular HIV testing, treatment of opportunistic infections and STIs, post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) and provision of antiretroviral (ARV) treatment. Workplace HIV/AIDS policies should include these co-factors.

# 2. Conduct more research to inform policies and programmes on mobile populations

Among the aspects that require more research and analysis are:

Sector impact studies. Too little is known about how HIV/AIDS affects the formal and informal sectors in the SADC region, including those that employ mobile workers (such as minerals and energy, transport, uniformed services and public works). Also, in the informal sector, where mobile populations such as informal traders, domestic workers and to some extent informal farm workers are employed, there is very little knowledge of the impact of HIV/AIDS and what the most effective responses to HIV/AIDS would involve.

- Migrant-sending areas. Some mobile populations (such as mineworkers, construction workers, domestic workers and informal traders) leave their places of origin in search of better economic opportunities. Greater efforts are needed to determine how the economic prospects of their places of origins could be boosted. Also requiring further research are the particular types of vulnerability that beset migrants' families, and the sexual networking patterns in which they participate in.
- Men having sex with men (MSM). The research encountered anecdotal evidence
  of sexual relationships between men, especially in single-sex working and living
  environments, as well as of male rape. Too little is known about the character of
  these relationships and what possible role they play in the transmission of HIV/
  AIDS in the SADC region.
- Mobile populations such as seafarers, fishermen, domestic workers, female migrants, informal traders, students, teachers, and public servants can be presumed to be vulnerable to HIV, but the evidence base needs to be improved.
- The extreme vulnerability of female mobile populations such as refugee women, informal traders, CSWs, farm workers and domestic workers. In 1999, about half of all migrants were female, 12 yet there has been very little research done on female migrants. They receive scant attention at international and regional conferences, in policies or in programmes. Female migrants are subject to sexual abuse and violence, especially those who work in informal occupations where they are easily exploited and where they enjoy few legal rights. Such exploitation makes them even more vulnerable to HIV infection than migrant men.

# 3. Implement programmes that reduce the vulnerability of mobile populations to HIV/AIDS

Some guiding principles:

✓ Programmes should shift from biomedical and behavioural interventions towards "structural interventions" and "enabling approaches". In addition to trying to *persuade* people to change their behaviour, the latter involve greater emphasis on creating circumstances that *enable* behaviour change. Programmes should therefore focus more on strategic sites through which mobile population groups pass, thereby addressing the needs of multiple target groups. For example, some programmes in the SADC region are targeting border areas that cater to several groups at once – such as truckers, informal traders and commercial sex workers. In some cases, the coverage would extend to other groups around the intervention site who may also be at risk.

- ✓ Involve employers, trade unions, relevant community support organizations and CSWs whenever possible in HIV/AIDS prevention and care programmes. It is not enough to only focus on the workforce if mobile workers socialize in or eventually return to communities where high-risk behaviour is the norm. HIV/AIDS education needs to extend into communities close to the work environment.
- ✓ Programmes should reflect the needs of mobile populations. Some mobile groups may see their social conditions as their main concern, not HIV.

#### Programmes that need to be developed or integrated include:

- Training and sensitizing border officials on the human rights of mobile populations, and steps to prevent sexual abuse and transactional sex between border officials and informal traders and CSWs:
- Implementing prevention and care programmes in the migrant-receiving *and* migrant-sending areas;
- Programmes that mobilize mobile populations to target their own communities, for example using peer education or drama performances. Community or peer theatre groups are often effective in putting across thought provoking messages in a memorable way. Peer educators (if possible PWAs) are often more effective educators on HIV/AIDS and STIs than outside educators:
- The integration of voluntary HIV counselling and testing (VCT) in formal and informal sectors, especially in the uniformed services where typically screening takes place upon recruitment and deployment;
- Especially in all-male work and living environments, programmes need to tackle gender stereotyping, promote women's rights and sensitize men against sexual violence:
- Develop and strengthen care and support programmes for mobile workers, especially at key migrant labour points such as border posts, mines, commercial farms, construction sites, etc. This could include extend to low-cost pre-packaged STI treatment kits, PEP STI treatment and VCT and also other aspects of care such as sup-port groups, spiritual care and information on nutrition to bolster immune systems;
- Set up counselling services and support groups to deal with work-related stress, in
  particular for those who face danger in their work, whether miners, truckers or
  soldiers. Stress, particularly when related to alcohol and drug abuse, increases the
  risk of unsafe sex:

- Provide entertainment and recreation facilities at key migrant routes such as border posts, mines, commercial farms, construction sites, etc. Recreational activities

   especially sport enable workers to use spare time constructively and safely.
   Fostering a sense of belonging within the broader community (via church groups, youth clubs, etc.) can help build self-esteem and counter risky behaviour;
- Integrate compulsory HIV education in all training manuals and develop IEC/BCC programmes, which include education on sexual and reproductive health issues;
- Develop pilot projects on family housing or alternative housing that respects privacy and reduces vulnerability;
- Ensure condoms are available at every stage along migrants' journey (at places of origin, transit, destination and return).
- 4. Alongside advocacy activities aimed at establishing the policies and (research) programmes mentioned above, distinct information, education and communication (IEC) advocacy activities are needed:
- SADC should facilitate greater sector involvement in HIV/AIDS programmes by popularizing tangible examples of successful sector programmes in and beyond the region;
- Lobby groups, civil society and other relevant players can seek to strengthen
  workers associations where there are no unions, especially for informal traders,
  domestic workers and farm workers;
- There is a need for a central independent information dissemination service within SADC that could raise awareness about the vulnerability to HIV/AIDS among key stakeholders. It could use tools such as a central website, email service and other IEC material to regularly update interested parties;
- To reach the broader public and educate members of the media, journalists from SADC countries can be commissioned to write regular articles about the vulnerability of the different mobile populations to HIV/AIDS;
- Community radio programmes could be produced by mobile populations for their peers, or IEC audio tapes on HIV/AIDS could be developed for truck drivers;
- Of special importance is the extreme vulnerability of female mobile populations such as refugee women, informal traders, CSWs, farm workers and domestic workers. Special information, education and communication initiatives should target these groups and help them to reduce their vulnerability to HIV/AIDS.

## What instruments can be used to reduce the vulnerability of mobile populations to HIV/AIDS?

Knowing what needs to be done is one thing; developing strategies and instruments that can get the job done is another.

#### National and sector policies

The Policy Project<sup>13</sup> has reviewed national and sectoral HIV/AIDS policies of SADC member states. It found that, of the eight countries under review, only Lesotho and Zambia explicitly include migrants in their national strategic plan on HIV/AIDS (see Table 2A and 2B). Only Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa and Zambia have or are beginning to have a policy that applies to sectors that employ mobile populations (such as agriculture, minerals and energy, transport and public works and uniformed services; see Table 1). As long as mobile populations are not addressed in national and sectoral policies, efforts to reduce their HIV/AIDS vulnerability will falter.

TABLE 1

RELEVANT SECTOR POLICIES ON HIV/AIDS<sup>a</sup>

Country	Sector							
	Agriculture	Minerals and Energy	Transport and Works	Uniformed Services and Police				
Botswana								
Lesotho	Х		1	Х				
Mozambique								
Namibia	ı	1	1	ı				
South Africa	W	W	W	W				
Swaziland								
Zambia	ı	W	W	1				
Zimbabwe								

X = Either partial or comprehensive HIV/AIDS policy or programme in place and being implemented

Note: (a) The Policy Project, National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the Member States of the Southern Africa Development Community, September 2002.

I = HIV/AIDS policy or programme in initial planning stages

W = Workplace specific HIV/AIDS policy or programme only

The biggest question around sector initiatives is not so much which sectors are formally involved in the AIDS programme, but what they are doing. In some cases, ministerial participation is limited to having an AIDS policy for ministry employees while in others, the ministry is actively involved in implementing programmes to address HIV/AIDS for its constituencies (e.g. school children, prisoners, military personnel, truck drivers). SADC should facilitate greater sector involvement in HIV/AIDS programmes by promoting dissemination and discussion of concrete examples of successful sector programmes inside and outside the region.

Tables 2A and 2B summarize the main HIV/AIDS policies that were identified in the SADC region.

TABLE 2A
HIV/AIDS POLICIES IN THE SADC REGION<sup>a</sup>

Policies	SADC Country							
	Botswana	Lesotho	Mozambique	Namibia	South Africa	Swaziland	Zambia	Zimbabwe
Strategic Plan	Х	X	X		Х	Х	Х	Х
National Crisis/Disaster	Х	Χ				Χ		Χ
Multi-sectoral approach	Х	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х
Human Rights	Х	Χ		Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х
PWA Involvement	Х	Χ	Χ		Χ			
Employment	Х	Χ			Χ	Χ		Х
Travel	Х	Χ				Χ		Χ
Wilful Transmission	Х	Χ					Χ	Х
Confidentiality	Х	Χ					Χ	Χ
Right to Insurance		Χ						
Prisons		Χ					Χ	Х
MSM		Χ						
Testing	Х	Χ				Χ	Χ	Χ
VCT	Х	Χ	Χ		Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
IEC	Х	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ

TABLE 2B
HIV/AIDS POLICIES IN THE SADC REGION<sup>a</sup>

Policies	SADC Country							
	Botswana	Lesotho	Mozambique	Namibia	South Africa	Swaziland	Zambia	Zimbabwe
Condom Promotion	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
STIs	Х	Х	Χ		Χ	Χ	Х	Х
Safe Blood	Х	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
PMTCT	Х	Χ			Χ		Χ	Х
Breastfeeding	Х	Χ						Χ
Care	Х	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
Care for Care Givers	Х	Χ			Χ		Χ	Χ
Gender	Х	Χ			Χ		Χ	Χ
Youth	Х	Χ			Χ	Χ	Χ	Х
Research/Surveillance	Х	Χ	Χ		Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ
HIV/AIDS and poverty	Х	Χ	Χ		Χ		Χ	Χ
Orphans	Х	Χ		Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	
Migrants		Χ					Χ	
Culture and HIV/AIDS		Χ			Χ			

Note: (a) The Policy Project.

#### Regional and global instruments

The SADC Code of Conduct on HIV/AIDS and Employment is an important instrument that can be used to enforce the rights of mobile populations in the SADC region. Relevant paragraphs in the Code of Conduct include:

• (para. 1.1) "information and education programmes should be developed jointly by employers and employees [...] and should incorporate employee families";

- (para. 3.1) "there should be no compulsory workplace testing for HIV. Voluntary testing [...] should be done [...] with informed consent of the employee [...] with pre- and post-test counselling";
- (para. 8.3) "under conditions where people move for work, government and organizations should lift restrictions [on family reunification] to enable them to move with their families and dependants";
- (para. 8.4) "people who are in an occupation that requires routine travel in the course of their duties should be provided with the means to minimize the risk of infection including information, condoms and adequate accommodation".

Equally valuable is the Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS which was signed by the governments of 189 countries at the United Nations General Assembly (UNGASS) on HIV/AIDS in June 2001. The Declaration established a number of goals for the achievement of specific quantified and time-bound targets. UNAIDS and its partners have developed guidelines for tracking and measuring the implementation of the commitments adopted at UNGASS. <sup>14</sup> In particular, the indicators of national commitment and action could be used as advocacy tools to hold governments accountable on their expressed commitment to protect mobile reduce HIV vulnerability of mobile populations.

Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS The Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS signed at the United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS) in June 2001 maps the actions needed to mount a comprehensive and coordinated global response against the epidemic. Among the commitments: "By 2005, develop and begin to implement national, regional and international strategies that facilitate access to HIV/AIDS prevention programmes for migrants and mobile workers, including the provision of information on health and social services." [para 50]

The National Composite Policy Index assesses progress in the development of national-level HIV/AIDS policies and strategies and covers four broad areas of policy:

- ✓ Strategic Plan
- ✓ Prevention
- ✓ Human Rights
- ✓ Care and Support

For example, governments are obliged to report on whether they have a strategy that addresses HIV/AIDS issues among its national uniformed services, including armed forces and civil forces. With respect to prevention efforts, governments are required to report whether they have a policy or strategy that promotes IEC and other health interventions for cross-border migrants. Governments also have to report whether they have put in place laws and regulations that protect certain vulnerable groups against discrimination, including sex workers and mobile populations.

With respect to care and support, Governments have to report whether they have a policy or strategy to promote comprehensive care and support, with emphasis on vulnerable groups, including UCT, psychosocial care, access to medicines and community-based care.

#### INTRODUCTION

Migration, mobility and HIV/AIDS are major global phenomena at the beginning of the new millennium. The 2002 UNAIDS *Report on the global HIV/AIDS* epidemic highlights relevant and crucial links between HIV/AIDS and Mobile Populations. The United Nations Population Division estimates that approximately 175 million people worldwide are considered migrants in that they live outside their country of birth. 16

People move for a variety of reasons – some voluntary – some not. The dramatic political, economic, social and demographic changes in Africa over the past few decades have been accompanied by rapid urbanization, significant population displacement, and migration. Improved transport and communication systems, the increased exchange of goods, and the launching of large-scale development projects have prompted millions of young women and men to move within and beyond their countries. Armed conflicts, political instability, economic crises, natural disasters and environmental degradation have forced many millions more to flee their homes and run a gauntlet of dangers which, for many, could include much higher risks of HIV infection. Population mobility facilitates the spread of STIs, including HIV as documented in the UNAIDS Technical Update on population mobility and AIDS. In many countries, areas reporting higher seasonal and long-term mobility also have higher rates of HIV infection, and rates of infection also tend to be higher along main transport routes and in border regions.

Southern Africa has significant levels of migration and the world's highest rates of HIV infection. The latest statistics from UNAIDS indicate that 14.7 million out of the total 42 million adults living with HIV/AIDS are living in southern Africa.<sup>17</sup>

The following sections describe different groups that face increased vulnerability to HIV/AIDS because of their mobility. The first section surveys southern Africa's armed forces, among which HIV prevalence rates are estimated to be about twice as high as among civilian populations. In peacetime, STI rates among armed forces are generally two-to-five times higher than in the general populace. This difference can be much greater in times of conflict, with infection rates increasing as much as 50 times.<sup>18</sup>

The next section highlights truck drivers, whose vulnerability to HIV/AIDS is associated largely with long delays at border crossings, relatively easy access to CSWs and limited access to services for the management of STI. As the section shows, little information on STI clinics along major transport routes is available to truckers, migrants, sex workers and travellers.

Mineworkers in Southern Africa, as the following section shows, endure dangerous working and difficult living conditions. Separated from their families for long periods and often released from the behavioural norms and sanctions associated with their communities, the mineworkers are more likely to engage in high-risk sexual behaviour.

Few policies or programmes address the needs and vulnerabilities of construction workers, agricultural farm workers (Section 5.5), informal cross-border traders and domestic workers. The migrant workers in the informal sector are especially vulnerable as they are not officially employed, do not have trade unions and lack access to medical facilities, awareness initiatives and condoms.

The issues facing refugees, described in the final section, are particularly complex. The second largest population of refugees in the world is in Africa (following Asia)<sup>19</sup> and includes people of all ages and socio-economic backgrounds. Having escaped from the perils of war, civil strife or natural disasters, many of them now find themselves even more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS.

Experiences worldwide underline the fact that action aimed at behaviour change alone is unlikely to yield the necessary results. The missing link has been a solid understanding of social, economic and cultural contexts that engender risk practices and inhibit behaviour change. An appreciation of the social dimensions of HIV vulnerability for mobile populations is an essential building block for effective responses. The recommendations in this report therefore are aimed at facilitating an enabling environment for behaviour change and addressing some of the underlying causes of HIV vulnerability for mobile populations.

#### Limitations of the research

A desk review of this type faces some limitations, given the extensive number of countries and diverse mobile population groups it sets out to examine. Budgetary constraints did not allow for travel to the eight countries, limiting the review to already-available documentation, especially material available on the Internet. This imposed additional constraints. In several southern African countries, there is a paucity of information available electronically. Besides South Africa, no country in the region has an official government website where legislative and policy documents can be viewed, nor do most trade union and employer organizations have websites. This desk review therefore focuses on countries such as Botswana, South Africa, Zambia and Zimbabwe and, to a lesser extent, on Lesotho, Mozambique, Namibia and Swaziland

Due to the scarcity of information available on some mobile groups (specifically fishermen/maritime workers and domestic workers), the review focuses mainly on the well-documented mobile population groups (such as the military, mineworkers and truck drivers). In addition, the groups examined are predominantly male, although it is known that women are becoming increasingly mobile, especially as informal traders.

A follow-up study is therefore recommended – using face-to-face interviews as its primary methodology – especially in the countries that yielded insufficient information. Visits to each country would enable interaction with key personnel from trade unions, NGOs, governments, etc. and allow for more effective access to documentation, information and analysis.

#### MILITARY PERSONNEL

#### **Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS**

International and national uniformed services, including peacekeepers, peace observers, national defence and civil defence forces, generally rank among the population groups most affected by STIs, including HIV/AIDS.<sup>21 22 23</sup> Risk factors for military personnel include:<sup>24 25</sup>

- living in same-sex quarters;
- age group at greatest risk for HIV infection the sexually active 15-24 year age group, perceiving themselves invulnerable and trained not to be deterred by risk and danger;
- mostly single, separated for long periods from spouses and partners, or denied marriage during enlistment periods;
- frequently deployed away from their home countries and/or communities, which removes them from the social discipline that might hold sway in their own communities;
- nearby civilian populations often become economically dependent on the military who are relatively well-paid which can create high levels of sexual activity between women from the local communities and members from the military;
- access to commercial sex workers:
- susceptible to peer pressures;
- on active duty, members of the military often live and work in close proximity to refugees and displaced persons who are vulnerable to sexual exploitation;
- trained to regard risk-taking and aggressive behaviour as the norm;
- at risk to physical injury involving loss of blood and need for blood transfusion under possibly non-sterile conditions;
- sharing of razors and skin-piercing instruments in tattooing and scarification;
- long periods on duty without access to sex, alcohol and/or drugs often followed by short breaks of sex, drinking and/or drug binges, including the injection of drugs.

It is estimated that HIV prevalence rates in southern Africa's armed forces average between 20-40 per cent. <sup>26</sup> Soldiers contract HIV in the same ways that civilians do: through unprotected sex, sharing equipment in drug use, receiving infected blood transfusions. However the conditions in which they live and work often mean that they are significantly more likely than civilians to encounter HIV risk. Soldiers live in an enclosed community where masculine values predominate, stress and boredom is commonplace, and alcohol abuse and sexual activity may be rife. Accustomed to taking risks in their profession, they may be more inclined to engage in risky sex.

According to two recent studies, more than 40 per cent of military personnel report having unprotected sex during their deployment.<sup>27</sup> Sex is usually consensual, but in times of war it may include rape, including male rape, sometimes as part of deliberate terror tactics.<sup>28</sup>

Studies have shown that, during peacetime, STI rates among military populations can be between two and five times that found among their civilian counterparts. Indeed, there is some evidence that soldiers might even consider the acquisition of an STI as a symbol of sexual prowess and proof of manhood.<sup>29</sup> Yet, HIV transmission is five to 20 times more likely to occur when other STIs are present. The upshot is considerably enhanced risk for military personnel.

While emotional bonds among soldiers boost morale, in armed forces sex between men is aggressively barred. Like most of their peers, male Zambian soldiers, for example, claim that there is no sexual interaction between them – partly because of the strong taboo, and partly because two men are seldom alone together. Nevertheless, there is evidence that some soldiers around the world do have sex with men, either exclusively or in addition to sex with women.<sup>30</sup>

In the midst of war, attitudes towards death and survival and perceptions of risk change. The increased likelihood of death means that soldiers and civilians may also be more willing to engage in risky sex. Indeed, during war, sex activity increases, prostitution spreads, the age of sex workers tends to decline, rape becomes more commonplace and protection against STIs is seen as less important.<sup>31</sup>

Deployment to military zones and training settings increases the chances of acquiring HIV, as military personnel are exposed not only to socially disrupted settings where STIs may be more prevalent, but also to the possibility of infection through transfusions of contaminated blood, and sharing unsterilized sharp or skin-piercing instruments, such as medical equipment, syringes in drug injection, needles in tattooing, and razors. In comparison with HIV transmission through sex, however, these forms of HIV transmission are reportedly relatively rare.<sup>32</sup>

High rates of HIV infection are often found in civilian populations living near military installations. In navy ports and remote garrisons, soldiers often have a limited choice of partners. Soldiers or sailors are likely to have sex with the same women over a period of time; when their units are replaced, the new soldiers or sailors frequent the same women. For instance, in northern Namibia in the 1990s, HIV prevalence rates in communities close to military bases were significantly higher than the national average.<sup>33</sup> The large military presence in Oshakati, Eenhana and Grootfontein,

where personnel interacted closely with surrounding communities, is believed to have been a significant factor.<sup>34</sup>

Civilians – especially adolescents – are at risk during armed conflict. They are targets for (forced) recruitment into armed forces, as well as for sexual exploitation and abuse – all of which increases their chances of contracting STIs, including HIV.<sup>35</sup> The proliferation of trafficking of women for prostitution is increasingly associated with armed conflict and peacekeeping operations.<sup>36</sup>

The physical and psychological conditions in which soldiers live vary widely. Sleeping, washing and other facilities may be overcrowded and poorly maintained. Common rooms, sport facilities and entertainment facilities (such as television and video) are often absent. In the case of peacekeeping, the duration of deployment differs significantly; Kenyan peacekeepers were deployed for a year in East Timor without home leave, while their Australian colleagues had home leave every three months.<sup>37</sup>

Families and communities of military personnel can become more vulnerable to HIV when armed forces are demobilized and soldiers move back home to reintegrate into civilian life. For instance, the comparative isolation of towns and communities during Angola lengthy civil war probably helped the country to avert the HIV/AIDS epidemic facing other southern African populations. During the war, HIV infection levels rose at a relatively slow rate because the conflict restricted the movement of people, internally and to and from neighbouring countries. The demobilization of soldiers and the emergence of peace in Angola will see an increase in trade, migration and travel – three important factors that facilitate the spread of HIV infection.<sup>38</sup>

HIV/AIDS can also compromise the ability of the military to protect state sover-eignty and defend national interests once high infection rates take hold among military personnel.<sup>39</sup> In the worst affected countries, which tend to be poor and have relatively few adults in higher education, the epidemic reduces the pool of potential replacements, particularly for officers. HIV/AIDS could well be so widespread among the military in southern Africa that complete well-trained companies are not immediately available for mobilization. The epidemic therefore also poses a threat to international peacekeeping and to the prospect of significantly reducing or even ending conflicts.

#### Relevant policies and programmes

It is unclear which SADC countries conduct mandatory testing. The military authorities are often reluctant to reveal their recruitment and strength-related deploy-

ment practices with regard to HIV/AIDS. However, many African militaries are believed to have begun practising mandatory testing, for a variety of reasons. In some cases this might be occurring in apparent violation of countries' legal and/or constitutional human-rights provisions.<sup>40</sup>

An expert panel, convened by the Executive Director of UNAIDS in early 2002, concluded that mandatory testing is not the most effective means for preventing the transmission of HIV in the context of peacekeeping, and that HIV tests do not efficiently stem the spread of HIV/AIDS. UNAIDS argues that mandatory testing has not demonstrated individual or public health benefits. The panel stressed that Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT) should be provided to peacekeeping personnel and should be offered as part of a comprehensive range of integrated HIV prevention and care services.<sup>41</sup>

A regional policy seminar held in February 2001<sup>42</sup> <sup>43</sup> in Namibia and attended by representatives from the military of eight southern African countries focused on developing a comprehensive approach to HIV/AIDS in the military. There was general agreement to include the following points in national policies: recruitment, incapacity, periodic assessment, surveillance and monitoring the epidemic, prevention, counselling, care, research and resource allocation.<sup>44</sup>

Two months later, the South African Department of Defence (DoD) approved a departmental policy on HIV/AIDS, which outlines measures for controlling the epidemic and the provision of care and support for personnel and their dependants. In addition, the policy provides specific guidelines to ensure a non-discriminatory work environment.<sup>45</sup> In August 2001, DoD launched a campaign, *Masibambisane* (Zulu for working together and supporting each other), which aims to:

- Provide every member of DoD with basic information on HIV/AIDS through a peer education programme;
- Develop workplace policies and programmes in all parts of DoD;
- Inform and sensitize management at all levels;
- Ensure all health care staff have the skills to deal with pre- and post-test counselling;
- Develop the HIV/AIDS management skills of medical staff; and
- Establish specialized HIV/AIDS health management information throughout DoD.

Within DoD, the Surgeon General (the most senior medical professional within the organization) is responsible for the HIV/AIDS programme. *Masibambisane* also commits DoD to combine its HIV/AIDS communication, coordination and cooperation work with that of other stakeholders.<sup>46</sup>

In Zambia, meanwhile, the Ministry of Defence has drafted a comprehensive, five-year HIV/AIDS prevention, care and support programme. Proposed activities include condom distribution, home-based care, training of psychosocial counsellors, peer educators, and care-givers for different target groups, including youth in the military, women, military dependants and civilian populations.<sup>47</sup>

Many other countries in southern Africa have introduced peer education and other prevention programmes in their militaries. Zimbabwe, for example, initiated a peer education programme with the national army and air force that includes military personnel and their spouses.<sup>48</sup>

#### Recommendations

- In terms of mandatory testing in the military, it is recommended that the example of the Brazilian Government be followed. There, People Living with HIV/AIDS (PWAs) are allowed to serve in the army, while people who are not HIV-infected are provided with the means to protect themselves against acquiring HIV infection. General cognitive tests are regularly applied to all relevant personnel, thus identifying those who are not capable of fulfilling their tasks, irrespective of the cause. Performance tests are not selectively applied to PWAs.<sup>49</sup>
- Although military personnel are highly susceptible to STI and HIV infections as a group, the military is also a unique opportunity in which HIV/AIDS prevention and care programmes can be provided to a large "captive audience" in a disciplined, highly organized setting. The military could take more advantage of this fact.<sup>50</sup>
- The military should adopt a gender-sensitive approach in training and education on HIV/AIDS and set up codes of conduct that promote respect for women and girls. The duty of protecting people deserves greater emphasis. The aim is to get soldiers and peacekeepers to re-think their role as responsible individuals and as important advocates in preventing the spread of HIV/AIDS.
- Deployments to areas of conflict can be of shorter duration. In non-conflict settings, provision can be made for regular family visits or even family housing.
- HIV prevention services, including STI treatment, should be available to military
  personnel, their families and the civilian population living nearby deployment areas.<sup>51</sup>
  Compulsory HIV education and training appears to have worked in countries,
  such as Cameroon, Uganda, and Viet Nam, where the military stages compulsory

courses in STI prevention, broadcasts weekly radio programmes on STIs and AIDS, and assigns peer educators to conduct further HIV/AIDS education.<sup>52</sup>

- In the case of demobilized soldiers, some could be trained as community educators to organize discussion groups, provide counselling, ensure distribution of condoms and assist in other activities that can promote changes in attitude and behaviour. Therefore, soldiers should receive HIV/AIDS prevention and care education prior to demobilization.
- SADC governments should be encouraged to implement the relevant sections of the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS. National, regional and international stakeholders should hold them accountable to those commitments. Several clauses in the Declaration of Commitment address HIV/AIDS and the uniformed services.<sup>53</sup>

(para. 77) By 2003, have in place national strategies to address the spread of HIV among national uniformed services [...] and consider ways of using personnel from these services who are educated and trained in HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention to assist with HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention activities [...].

(para. 78) By 2003, ensure the inclusion of HIV/AIDS awareness and training, including a gender component, into guidelines designed for use by defence personnel [...] while also continuing with on-going education and prevention efforts, including pre-deployment orientation, for these personnel.

Table 3 lists specific recommendations for each stage of mobility concerning military personnel.

TABLE 3
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH MILITARY,
BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*					
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return		
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	<b>√</b>	✓	✓	<b>√</b>		
No mandatory HIV testing for military personnel	✓		✓			
Provide compulsory HIV education in training manuals	✓		✓			
Medical aid schemes should provide for VCT and treatment of opportunistic infections and ideally, ARV treatment in the long term	✓	✓	✓	✓		
Organize free and easily accessible VCT, support groups and provide counselling for issues ranging from HIV to substance abuse	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	✓		
Provide access to stress counselling and debriefing as part of a mechanism to reduce high-risk sexual conduct	~		<b>✓</b>	✓		
Ensure STI clinics and treatment are accessible in deployment areas	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	✓		
Use peer educators and PWAs from among military personnel for HIV prevention and coping skills	<b>✓</b>		✓			
Ensure accessibility to condoms	✓	✓	✓	✓		
Have the military assist with community HIV/AIDS education and care programmes	✓		✓			
Train the military to reduce sexual violence and exploitation in deployment areas and include aspects of human rights education in the military training	~	✓	✓	✓		
Relieve boredom and reduce substance abuse and interaction with CSW by providing recreational and entertainment facilities	<b>✓</b>		✓			
Give the option for spouses/partners to accompany personnel or arrange regular leave for family visits	✓		✓			
Conduct more research into MSM behaviours and into sexual violence among military personnel	✓		✓	✓		
Integrate the military into national AIDS plans and include key representatives of the military in multisectoral National AIDS Councils	✓		✓			
Use the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS as advocacy tool to ensure compliance with agreed commitments of governments	<b>✓</b>		✓			

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

#### TRANSPORT WORKERS

#### **Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS**

The trucking and shipping industries in southern Africa are largely in private hands. South Africa alone has over 200,000 registered commercial vehicles in which more than 40,000 are heavy freight vehicles operated by some 3,000 companies.<sup>54</sup> In contrast, most airlines and railways are largely government-owned and -operated. Although the vast majority of rail operations are focused on moving cargo, passenger travel is increasing in the region and is dominated by South Africa's railway system,<sup>55</sup> which covers 7 million train kilometres and services approximately 4.2 million passengers each year, most of them (85%) commuters and traders. It operates daily long-distance passenger services between urban centres of South Africa, as well as to destinations in Mozambique, Swaziland and Zimbabwe.

Most attention has been directed at the factors that boost the risk of HIV infection among truck drivers. <sup>56</sup> The highly mobile lifestyles and high-risk sexual behaviour of many truck drivers is widely believed to have facilitated the spread of HIV infection along major road transportation routes. Risk factors for truck drivers include:

- **Duration spent away from home.** The extent and nature of truck drivers' vulnerability to HIV/AIDS varies from country to country and depends largely on the distance of truck drivers' routes. Research in South Africa has shown that an estimated 71 per cent of long-distance truck drivers spent 15 or fewer days at home in the six months prior to the study.<sup>57</sup>
- Poor working conditions. Many truck drivers prefer to stay at the border gates
  to avoid paying for boarding. Truck drivers often sleep in their trucks for fear of
  being robbed or highjacked and because accommodation is expensive. Sleeping at
  the home of a sex worker is sometimes the only affordable source of accommodation for truckers.<sup>58</sup>
- **Delays at border crossings.** Drivers often spend many hours even days waiting to complete customs and other formalities at border crossings. Truck drivers from Durban (RSA) to the mines in Brazzaville (Congo) often spend days waiting to pass through borders. <sup>59</sup> It can take an entire day to cross the Mozambique-South Africa border. Delays of two to three days are commonplace at Beit Bridge (which separates South Africa and Zimbabwe), while crossing into Malawi can take even longer. <sup>60</sup>

- **High-risk behaviours.** Qualitative assessments of extremely high-risk communities along different routes between Durban and Lusaka indicate that men and women often adopt riskier behaviour when in cross-border communities. Another study found that 35 per cent of South African drivers had two or more concurrent partners and that condom use was scant and irregular. Low condom use could not simply be attributed to a lack of access; at the Lesotho border, clients were found to pay M50 (approximately US\$5.00) to spend a night with a CSW if a condom was used and M100 (approximately US\$10.00) without a condom.
- Low levels of knowledge. The Cross Border Road Transport Aids Project<sup>64</sup> has found low levels of HIV/AIDS knowledge among truckers from South Africa and Mozambique. One-third believed that AIDS could be cured and one in ten questioned whether the disease existed at all. Knowledge levels appear to be related in part to the presence of HIV/AIDS education programmes. Fifty per cent of transport workplaces in Zimbabwe offer HIV/AIDS information to employees, while only 19 per cent of workplaces in Mozambique, 17 per cent in South Africa and 16 per cent in Zambia have followed suit.
- Lack of access to health services. Often transport workers have neither access to health services nor the time to use them. Because of drivers' irregular work hours, clinics are not always open when drivers are able to visit them.
- Conditions of service, salaries and relations with employers. Conditions of employment are believed to affect drivers' vulnerability to HIV/AIDS. Most truck drivers are on contract and do not receive medical benefits. 65 This makes it more difficult for truck drivers to access the necessary medical care needed to treat STIs and HIV, even when such treatment is available.

Many efforts have been made to address HIV/AIDS among mobile workers in the transport sector (specifically in road transport) but such efforts have too often been limited to distributing information: they do not address the underlying causes of transport workers' vulnerability, including their working conditions. <sup>66</sup> According to the International Transport Workers Federation, "truck drivers maintain that the daily insecurity, isolation and hostility they experience encourages them to respond counterproductively to the HIV/AIDS prevention message." <sup>67</sup> As a result, prevention efforts often fail to achieve the desired behaviour changes. <sup>68</sup> The costs are likely to keep mounting, as Paul Matthew of the Learning Clinic has pointed out:

If we don't act now, in five or six years time we will be in trouble. To train a new driver is very expensive because of the increasing sophistication of the equipment. Ten years ago there were unemployed drivers waiting for work hanging around any depot. You don't see that any more, that pool has gone. Absenteeism due to illness has been high during the last three years. We know that many new recruits are already infected. Measures must be taken, not just to save the drivers but also to save the industry.<sup>69</sup>

Transport managers are drawn from a small group of educated and professional people. They are in scarce supply, expensive to train, and take time to replace. Evidence suggests that in Africa HIV prevalence rates among managers and professionals are comparable to those in the general population.<sup>70</sup>

The vulnerability of air/rail/water crew<sup>71</sup> is similar to that experienced by truck drivers. The longer they are away from home and separated from their families, the greater the chance of casual sexual relations and potential exposure to HIV/AIDS. Sailors and fishermen experience long periods of isolation at sea. Their comparatively high incomes (and limited expenses while at sea) can make commercial sex at ports of call a common feature of their working lives.

Since 1992 the South African Medical Research Council (MRC) has conducted research among an estimated 800 CSWs operating at truck stops on the national highway that links Durban and Johannesburg. <sup>72</sup> Between 1996 and 1998, 4,777 women from five truck stops were screened for HIV as part of a microbicides trial. In 1998 ten CSWs were trained as field workers to collect sociodemographic data from their clients and to obtain a saliva sample to determine the HIV status of their clients. <sup>73</sup> A total of 320 truckers were interviewed of whom 60 per cent reported having had an STI in the previous six months. More than one-third of them said they always stopped for sex along the route, while almost 30 per cent reported never using condoms with CSWs. A mere 13 per cent had ever used condoms with their wives. All the truckers had travelled to three or more provinces in South Africa and 65 per cent had been to neighbouring countries in the SADC region. Fully 56 per cent of the truckers were HIV-positive. <sup>74</sup> <sup>75</sup>

# Relevant policies and programmes

Pre-employment HIV testing for transport workers is illegal in most countries in southern Africa. There have been cases where such testing has been used however. In 2000, South African Airways (SAA) was found guilty by the country's Constitu-

tional Court of discrimination after it had refused to employ an HIV-positive person as a cabin attendant.<sup>76</sup> SAA argued that HIV-positive individuals could not receive yellow fever vaccinations for travel to endemic areas.

Existing policies/programmes are largely focused on the road transport industry, and thus there are gaps in policies for the air/rail/water sectors. Likewise, while policies are publicly available in South Africa and Zimbabwe, the same cannot be said for most other SADC countries.

#### Governments

The very nature of transport work requires that policies and programmes be implemented across the region (and not just within individual countries). Most SADC countries are aware of the susceptibility of transport workers to HIV/AIDS, and their Ministries of Transport have begun to develop plans to address the epidemic. However, a number of reasons, including financial and human resources constraints, are holding up full implementation of those plans.<sup>77</sup>

There is a clear need for more forthright action in some countries. According to Barney Curtis, 78 spokesperson for the Federation of East and Southern African Road Transport Associations (FESARTA), there is ample scope for stronger efforts in Zambia and Malawi, for example. The Governments of Botswana and Swaziland were described as "very proactive", while Namibia was beginning to move towards stepping up its activities.

The South African Department of Transport developed its Transport Sector HIV/AIDS Strategic AIDS Plan in November 2001.<sup>79</sup> The plan contains components on prevention; treatment and care; research, monitoring and evaluation; human and legal rights; and training and development.

Only Lesotho and Zambia make explicit reference to mobile populations and transport workers in their national AIDS plans. In the Zambia National HIV/AIDS/STI/TB Institutional Framework for 2001-2003, truck drivers are categorized as one of the most vulnerable to infection. The framework also mentions non-governmental programmes that address HIV/AIDS within the trucking industry. In the Lesotho National AIDS Strategic Plan for 2001/2002 to 2003/2004, long-distance truck drivers are mentioned as one of the target groups. The properties of the strategic Plan for 2001/2002 to 2003/2004, long-distance truck drivers are mentioned as one of the target groups.

The Maputo Corridor Spatial Development Initiative created in the 1990s to strengthen trading links between Mozambique and South Africa has plans to create a

"Borderlands" Initiative. This initiative plans to upgrade the border post and ease the congestion of truckers by creating a 24-hour "one-stop" border post. This would mean that truckers would only have to stop once to clear customs and immigration for both countries 82

#### Private sector

Private sector transport companies are beginning to recognize that HIV/AIDS can drain productivity levels, as increased absenteeism and the time-consuming training of replacement workers takes its toll.<sup>83</sup>

Some South African transport companies have set up rest stops for drivers, primarily to improve security. However, it appears that the stops have also reduced risky sexual encounters. In Namibia, the petroleum company Engen and transport company FleetWatch launched a booklet called *Living on the Road, a Driver's Handbook* which also has a chapter on HIV/AIDS. In Zimbabwe, CLAN Transport (PVT) Ltd. has initiated weekly HIV/AIDS peer education for all workers at its depot. CLAN also has a full-time nurse to provide home-based care for ill workers. Peer educators encourage workers to bring their wives to the training session (though most prefer bringing girlfriends). It is estimated that about two-thirds of the CLAN employees' spouses live in rural areas.

UNIFREIGHT, another Zimbabwean transport company, has developed an HIV/ AIDS awareness campaign<sup>87</sup> and an AIDS Policy for the company.<sup>88</sup> The company operates two clinics, one in Harare and one in Bulawayo, and has organized about 100 peer educators and some drama groups to disseminate information among workers. UNIFREIGHT also distributes free condoms from the National Employment Council for the Transport Operating Industry (NECTOI).

Spoornet, the region's largest rail company, has introduced a variety prevention activities for its workers – including access to information and knowledge about HIV/AIDS, promotion of a culture of responsible sexual behaviour, encouraging compassionate attitudes towards people affected by the disease, establishment of HIV/AIDS support groups within the company, and voluntary HIV/AIDS testing with pre- and post-test counselling.<sup>89</sup>

By protecting their workers at all levels (including management), transport companies can limit the steadily mounting costs and setbacks that accompany the epidemic.<sup>90</sup>

#### **Trade unions**

In Zimbabwe, the National Employment Council for the Transport Operating Industry (NECTOI) has implemented peer education programmes among truck drivers and border communities and has helped build up the peer education programmes within the transport industry. <sup>91</sup> The Zimbabwe Congress of Trade Unions (ZCTU) has an HIV/AIDS policy and supports union members who offer HIV/AIDS information and training within their industries. <sup>92</sup>

# Non-governmental and international organizations

Various NGOs have targeted transport workers for HIV prevention programmes. In South Africa, the Learning Clinic Roadside Containers Project<sup>93</sup> (which receives funding from the transport industry and government) includes initiatives such as:

- Clinics that focus on preventing and treating STIs by providing condoms and medication. The clinics operate from 5 p.m. to midnight in order to be accessible to truck drivers and sex workers. The clinics train truck drivers and sex workers in issues related to HIV/AIDS and to other STIs. They distribute condoms. Each night about 30 to 40 people visit the clinics, which have assisted an estimated 54,000 in the three years since they were set up.
- A Training Unit runs programmes within the workplace.

The Learning Clinic is also involved in a project initiated by the National Bargaining Council (NBC) for the Road Freight Industry called "Trucking Against AIDS in the Road Freight Industry".<sup>94</sup>

The Regional HIV/AIDS Programme in Southern Africa (RHAPSA) is active in Angola, Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The programme is funded by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). The primary aim of the programme is to target high transmission areas at cross-border sites and to implement appropriate interventions. RHAPSA has four activities: (1) policy initiatives, (2) networking initiatives, (3) surveillance, and (4) cross-border initiatives. As part of the cross-border initiatives, assessments have been conducted to identify target groups such as truckers, sex workers, uniformed services and informal traders. Initiatives include: Condom Social Marketing (CSM), IEC for behaviour change, Syndromic Management of STIs, Community Mobilization, Peer Support, and Home Based Care.

The project works on the assumption that there is a direct correlation between the length of time truckers spend at border posts and the number of sexual encounters they have. Therefore, the strategy is to convince governments to improve and speed up procedures for cross-border customs clearance.

World Vision, which is implementing the Cross Border Initiative Project in Zambia<sup>96</sup>, is mainly targeting CSWs and truck drivers. The main objectives of the project are behaviour change through peer education, CSM and STI Management. World Vision has also provided entertainment facilities such as cinema halls, football pitches and other recreational games at some of their border.

The Regional Programme of the International Labour Organization (ILO), "HIV/AIDS Prevention in the Transport Sector in Southern Africa", 97 has chosen the following objectives in its bid to help reduce the spread of HIV/AIDS among transport workers and mitigate the epidemic's impact on the sector:

- Develop national policies to prevent the transmission of HIV among employees of the transport sector, including road, rail, water and air transport;
- Develop a regional strategy and a set of inter-country mechanisms for the prevention of HIV transmission in the transport sector; and
- Assist the countries with the implementation of effective national strategies.

This regional project will also address HIV/AIDS in all elements of the transport chain, including the development of policies and strategies that address the underlying cause for the vulnerability of transport workers (such as rules and regulations governing the transport sector, border formalities and the working conditions of transport workers).

The desk review was unable to identify existing polices or programmes that are aimed at reducing the HIV/AIDS vulnerability of sailors and fishermen in southern Africa. Most policies generally pertain to safety at sea. However, the South African National Port Authority has awarded R4 million (approximately US\$400,000) to a programme that includes prevention, treatment, care and support, research, monitoring and surveillance, human and legal rights and joint ventures with NGOs, CBOs, government and private sector. It is establishing peer education programmes, the treatment of opportunistic infections, home-based care and a toll-free line. The programme will employ People Living with HIV/AIDS (PWAs). 98

There are a wide variety of religious organizations and NGOs that provide psychosocial and social support to seafarers<sup>99</sup> at major ports throughout the world,

including southern Africa. The International Society of Seafarers Welfare has HIV/AIDS-awareness materials available in different languages on their website, 100 although none are specific to southern Africa.

#### Recommendations

- Trucking companies could establish rest stops that offer security, meals and rest facilities for drivers. Such rest stops could significantly reduce risky sexual behaviour.
- Governments can be more supportive of transport sector initiatives and take stronger action to speed up border-crossing formalities.<sup>101</sup>
- HIV/AIDS activities should be prioritized in border towns. Yet, national prevention programmes tend to be weaker at border towns/international ports, despite the fact that mobile populations can be reached more effectively at international borders than at other points along their routes. Direct men and women show increased risk behaviour in cross-border communities, risk-reduction strategies should adopt a contextual and community response thus going beyond approaches that focus strictly on the individual. This entails targeting entire communities, including the transient groups (such as the truck drivers, commercial sex workers, traders, etc.) that move in and out of areas.
- HIV/AIDS programmes should also be implemented in cities that lie close to borders where high-risk activities occur (as is the case in Lesotho, Mozambique and Swaziland).<sup>104</sup>
- Programmes need to be coordinated regionally, where possible, with consistent and complementary prevention strategies implemented on both sides of a border.<sup>105</sup>
- Low-cost pre-packaged STI treatment kits (that contain antibiotics for men with urethritis, gonococcal or chlamydial infection, condoms and information on HIV and STI prevention) could be distributed. The kits are often subsidized and marketed over-the-counter in settings where antibiotics are being sold without medical prescription. They are ideally suited for the male traveller who may not have time for a clinic visit, but can afford to buy an inexpensive prevention package.<sup>106</sup>
- Establish national and regional (SADC) HIV action plans for the transport sector which include addressing root causes of HIV vulnerability, such as working conditions of transport workers.

- Integrate the transport sector into national AIDS plans and include key representatives of the transport sector in multi-sectoral National AIDS Councils.
- Use SADC Code of Conduct on HIV/AIDS and Employment and UNGASS Declaration of Commitment as advocacy tools to enforce compliance with agreed commitments of governments and employers

TABLE 4

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH TRANSPORT WORKERS,
BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendation	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	✓
Incorporate HIV/AIDS and STI topics into the general occupational health/safety training or technical training for transport workers	✓			✓
Involve transport workers, unions and employers in HIV programmes	✓	✓	✓	✓
Conduct more in-depth research into sexual behaviour patterns of transport workers	✓	✓	✓	✓
Provide comprehensive medical aid schemes which include VCT, treatment of opportunistic infections and ideally, ARVs in the long term	✓			
Increase interactions with nearby community and include CSW and community stakeholders in programme design		✓	✓	
Develop secure rest stops along major transport routes and enhance security conditions at truck stops to reduce vulnerability to hijacking and crime		✓	✓	✓
Develop policies that provide for safe and clean accommodation along major transport routes		✓	✓	✓
Focus HIV/AIDS activities in border towns and nearby cities		✓	✓	
Consistent and complementary prevention strategies and messages, implemented on both sides of a border	<b>√</b>	✓	✓	✓
Involve transport workers spouses/partners in prevention and care programmes	✓			
Provide reproductive/sexual health services incl. low-cost or free STI treatment packs along transport routes		✓	<b>√</b>	✓

Recommendation	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Speed up and harmonize immigration and customs regulations across the SADC region to minimize time spent at borders		<b>√</b>		
Provide entertainment/recreation at major transport hubs		✓	✓	✓
Reduce the length of time away and allow transport workers to bring along family members for long-haul trips where possible		✓	✓	✓
Provide condoms and information on correct condom use	✓	✓	✓	✓
Develop and implement HIV prevention campaigns for transport workers and CSWs in high-risk areas		✓	✓	✓

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

### MINE WORKERS

# **Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS**

Mineworkers, like the other mobile population groups surveyed in this report, are characterized by a transient lifestyle and a vulnerability to HIV/AIDS that is exacerbated by their living and working conditions. Mines are often located in remote and inhospitable areas, and often employ workers drawn from distant communities. Typically, the workers are young men from rural areas, who now work in dangerous, stressful conditions, and who live in single-sex hostels with easy access to CSWs and alcohol. Their living and working environment provide ideal conditions for the spread of an infection such as HIV.

Epidemiological surveys among mine workers in southern Africa show very high HIV prevalence. In March 2001, Zambia's Konkola Copper Mines reported that of the 8,523 workers surveyed, 18 per cent were found to be HIV-positive. Konkola accounts for about two-thirds of Zambia's copper output.<sup>107</sup>

In interviews with mine workers in a South African gold mine, issues such as working and living conditions at the mines, the ever-present risk of accidents, and mine workers' perceived lack of control over their health and well-being were consistently highlighted.<sup>108</sup>

In the mines, workers engage in physically taxing and dangerous work for 8-12 hours a day, with infrequent breaks, limited access to food and water, and in sweltering and dusty conditions. Mine workers live with the constant prospect of mutilating or fatal accidents. Indeed, occupational injuries and diseases are more common in mining than in any other sector of industry. The average gold miner faces a one-inforty chance of being killed on the job and a one-in-three chance of suffering a reportable injury during a 20-year mining career. The There are often limited channels for airing grievances or complaints. The upshot is a relative lack of control over one's fate, which shapes the ways in which miners might approach other dangers. The distant risk of AIDS appears faint when compared to the daily odds of being maimed or killed in the mine. The

Compounding all this is the fact that most mine workers live some distance from their homes and families, in large single-sex hostels, with up to 18 people sharing a room. These settings offer limited social support and scant opportunities for intimacy. In conditions of loneliness and isolation, sexual intimacy comes to symbolize a

form of emotional intimacy that may be lacking in other areas of their lives. <sup>113</sup> Mineworkers describe compound life as dirty and overcrowded, with no privacy. Opportunities for leisure are few, which makes drinking and sex with girlfriends, CSWs or other mine workers one of the few recreational activities available on a day-to-day basis.

In such ways, the migrant labour system that has serviced the mines of southern Africa has also generated exaggerated forms of masculine identity that now abet the spread of HIV.<sup>114</sup> Lacking power over their own lives, separated from kin and loved ones, and surrounded by the discipline of work and the peer pressure of colleagues, many mine workers adopt a "macho masculinity" in which manhood is equated with prolific sexual prowess.<sup>115</sup>

Mining communities also tend to have a less-developed health infrastructure, and available facilities are often under-utilized due to workers' lack of familiarity with the area. For foreign mine workers, HIV/AIDS prevention programmes are often not accessible or effective because of cultural and language differences.<sup>116</sup>

Mineworkers are seen as bridging populations in a sexual network that links transient and residential communities. For example, Basotho workers in the South African mining industry provide a valuable monetary lifeline to extended families in Lesotho. If they lose that capacity and return home, the loss of income drives poor communities deeper into poverty. This exacerbates the HIV/AIDS risk, as migrants' spouses and children may be forced to offer sex in exchange for money and food. Similarly, the tradition of "going-home-to-die" is familiar in the rural communities from which many migrant workers come, and could place even greater economic pressure on the infected individuals' families and communities.

Generally, men who live away from their families, as well as the spouses of migrants, are more likely to have multiple sex partners and to maintain links to more than one "family". 118 A study in South Africa's Limpopo province showed that migrant mineworkers who return home three times or fewer annually, report more concurrent partners than other men. 119 Most migrant mineworkers who return home four or more times a year appear to be at significantly lower risk of HIV infection than other men working in the same area. This indicates that the commonly held assumption that migration itself leads to higher risk behaviour is not always justified, and that high risk behaviour can be as widespread among rural men as their urban counterparts.

In another South African study<sup>120</sup> male migrant mineworkers were found to be 2.4 times more likely to be infected with HIV than non migrant men Migrant couples were also significantly more likely to be HIV discordant (one partner infected, the other not) than non migrant couples. Significantly, among these discordant couples the woman was the infected partner in nearly 40 per cent of the cases. This seems at odds with the common assumption that it is principally migrant men who become infected while away and who then return home to infect their rural partners. These findings highlight the need to improve the understanding of sexual networking in migrant sending areas. It might be that the socioeconomic situation in many migrant sending areas forces women to sell or barter sex for essential goods and services.

# Relevant policies and programmes

Many gold mines are investing in the development of a range of innovative HIV/ AIDS awareness and educational interventions. However, many still rely on traditional information-based awareness programmes that are provided to largely passive audiences.<sup>121</sup>

A SADC Protocol on Mining came into effect in September 1997. It has been ratified by 12 member states, including Botswana, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Zambia and Zimbabwe. 122 The protocol, however, does not address HIV/AIDS explicitly but focuses on on environmental protection, small-scale mining and occupational health and safety. A SADC HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework and Programme of Action was established in 2000. 123 It outlines plans and strategies for dealing with the epidemic for all SADC sectors. Within this strategic framework, a section relating to mining is enunciated, which includes:

- establishing the extent of HIV/AIDS in the SADC mining sector;
- minimizing the spread of HIV/AIDS in the mining sector; and
- providing adequate care for the infected and affected in the mining sector.

The main thrust of these strategies appear to be aimed at dealing with the economic impact of HIV/AIDS on the sector, rather than the preventing HIV infection. The SADC HIV/AIDS strategic framework has been guided by the SADC Protocol on Health, the recognizes the need for policies and procedures to be devised and carried out by member states. However, it takes little cognizance of the vulnerability of specific groups such as mobile populations.

#### Government

South Africa's White Paper on Mining and Minerals (in which dates to October 1998)<sup>126</sup> outlines the need to develop an HIV/AIDS policy, the plight of migrant labour, housing and living conditions and the respective responsibilities of government and employers in addressing these issues. It also emphasizes the need to protect human and labour rights in relation to education, counselling, testing and treatment. The White Paper<sup>127</sup> recommendations include:

- A range of tenure types should be offered to workers, including rental accommodation, home ownership and social housing. Housing options should include single and family accommodation, accommodation in nearby settlements where feasible, and accommodation in mineworkers' home areas. The principle of choice for mineworkers from a wide range of flexible housing options should apply;
- Existing hostels on mines should be converted steadily into family units and into single units for mine workers without families or who choose not to live with their families. The provision of family housing should include community and education services and facilities;
- Each mine should, in conjunction with representative trade unions, be required to
  draw up a five-year plan for the improvement of living conditions for workers,
  incorporating specific targets;
- The management of hostels must be democratized so that residents participate
  jointly with mine management in all areas of decision-making around the running
  of the hostels.

The White Paper also specifically mentions the need to address migrant labour issues, and deals with other important issues such as the right to citizenship, suitable living conditions, remuneration levels and the disintegration of families.

Namibia's Ministry of Mines and Energy, in partnership with unions and relevant private corporations, is also targeting families of employees and "relevant communities" for HIV/AIDS prevention, condom distribution, and care and support programmes. 128

In Zambia, the Ministry of Energy and Water Development has recognized the loss of human resources, lower productivity due to illness and funeral attendance, and the costs of recruiting and retraining new staff as high HIV/AIDS mortality rates take their toll among staff. The 2001 work plan included the training of designated "HIV/AIDS focal persons" and health committees, distribution of male and female condoms, establishing counselling centres, and providing support through peer education.

#### Private sector

A recent development by Lonmin Platinum in Rustenburg, South Africa, has seen the building of family housing in an effort to stem the spread of HIV and nurture a more stable workforce. The emphasis appears to be on replacing crowded, all-male accommodation with low-cost family housing. This is being done in several ways, including building new houses, converting old hostels into family dwellings and offering financial stipends to miners who live off company property and wish to have their families present. 129

The Lesedi Project is a model of best practice in the Mining Sector in South Africa's Free State province.<sup>130</sup> This project has reduced the prevalence of STIs among mineworkers and CSWs by using periodic presumptive STI treatment among CSWs. The project demonstrated that STI interventions are a cost-effective means of preventing STIs, including HIV infection at the mines.

AngloGold, a South African mining company, is striving to ensure that STI treatment services, amongst other health care services, are readily available on-site. In an attempt to reduce new HIV infections and mitigate the impact of HIV/AIDS, the company maintains a clinic and wellness centre, and is in the process of providing anti-retrovirals to the workforce. AngloGold has also signed an agreement on HIV/AIDS in the workplace with various trade unions. In many respects a progressive policy, the agreement recognizes the combined role of all stakeholders in combating HIV/AIDS and supports an approach that includes prevention and care. It makes provision for counselling, awareness, education, testing and disclosure, and highlights the need to address housing issues:

In accordance with the NUM/COM 2001 Wage Agreement, AngloGold will, within the parameters of affordability and employee preference, involve its best endeavours to accelerate programmes of making family accommodation available, including the conversion of hostels and utilization of empty houses. <sup>133</sup>

Goldfields mining company established an HIV/AIDS in the Workplace Policy<sup>134</sup> in December 2001 that resembles that of AngloGold. It emphasizes the need for interventions and programmes to focus not only on workers but on their communities and families. Its three-pronged approach includes education, home-based care interventions and counselling.

In Botswana, the Debswana Diamond Company has developed a comprehensive HIV/AIDS policy and strategy. Its Jwaneng Mine AIDS programme is a good exam-

ple of the private sector's growing involvement in the fight against HIV/AIDS. Started in 1992, the programme has a pro-active management committee, an HIV Policy and provides for support groups and services. The HIV/AIDS Programme Coordinator manages the activities of the various support structures and links with national AIDS management structures, including NGOs. The programme addresses mineworkers, their families and the wider community, and has three main components: AIDS awareness (mainly through IEC), Education (peer education programmes, gender workshops) and Care (VCT, Home Based Care and ARVs).<sup>135</sup>

#### Trade unions

The South African National Union of Mineworkers (NUM) has established an HIV/AIDS policy that addresses the issue of single-sex housing. <sup>136</sup> This policy was created in line with other legislative instruments (such as South African Constitution, Mine Health and Safety Act, Labour Relations Act, Employment Equity Act and the Basic Conditions of Employment Act) and takes the rights of workers into account.

In dealing with the living conditions of mine workers, the NUM Policy<sup>137</sup> calls for management commitment to provide family housing, facilities for visiting wives and other members, and humane hostel management.

#### Recommendations

- The risky nature of the mining environment makes it difficult to bring about behaviour change among mine workers. Thus, the response to HIV/AIDS in the mining sector should take into account the social, cultural and psychological pressures facing this group and the community contexts that facilitate the spread of HIV infection.<sup>138</sup> A collaborative relationship needs to be established between governments, mining organizations and unions to ensure that the mechanisms for dealing with the epidemic are holistic and involve all stakeholders.
- While many mines made substantial efforts to establish HIV prevention programmes relatively early in the epidemic, these appear to have had little impact. Campbell and Williams argue that the energy devoted to biomedical/behavioural prevention programmes or to individual human rights issues has served to obscure the social and developmental dimensions of HIV transmission.<sup>139</sup> They suggest developing a more holistic approach to HIV management in an industrial setting by conceptualizing HIV as a social and development issue that has to be addressed not only at

the level of specific mines, but also at the level of the communities in which the mines are located.

- It is essential that HIV and STI prevention programmes in mining communities include all sexual partners, including CSWs who are often excluded from such programmes due to the stigma and discrimination that surrounds them. Studies by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) in South Africa among mineworkers in Carletonville have shown that the inclusion of sex workers in programmes can lead to an increase in visits of their clients to STI clinics. 140
- Other studies have shown that STI services are cost-effective. However in the context of mobile populations, such as CSWs, it is estimated that the cost-effectiveness would improve two- to threefold by scaling up such services to cover all the major high-risk areas in their social networks. Issues of sexual networks always present a challenge to evaluating STI services, as the effects register not only in the target group but also throughout their sexual networks (which may consist of both high and low-risk populations).<sup>141</sup>
- One study in a mining community in South Africa showed that there is a strong link between sexual health and "social capital". 142 This relates to the cultivation of community cohesion via the membership of local voluntary associations such as sports clubs and youth groups. Findings of the study show, amongst others, that young men and women who belonged to sports clubs were less likely to be HIV-positive, and young women who belonged to sports clubs were more likely to use condoms with casual partners than non-members. If such initiatives can reduce an individual's vulnerability to HIV/AIDS, they could be replicated in other countries.
- Recent analyses<sup>143</sup> indicate that family housing could substantially reduce HIV transmission among migrants and their partners in South Africa by as much as 41 per cent. This policy alternative should be examined closely to assess its viability and use as a prevention method.
- Integrate the mining sector into national AIDS plans and include key representatives of the mining sector in multi-sectoral national AIDS councils.

TABLE 5

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH MINE WORKERS,
BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	✓
Remove conditions that cause (unintended) migrancy and develop sustainable rural programmes in mineworker-sending areas	<b>✓</b>			
Improve working conditions (e.g. medical aid, working hours, establish complaint procedures and support groups)			✓	
Improve living conditions (privacy, family-friendly housing, and home ownership or rental)			✓	
Increase interactions with nearby community and include community stakeholders, including CSWs, in programme design			✓	
Increase entertainment and recreation facilities (e.g. sports, youth clubs, video, table tennis, etc.) on mines and in surrounding communities			✓	
Manage STIs (possibly through presumptive treatment), and provide better health education and access to health services	<b>✓</b>		✓	
Facilitate trade union/worker and company partnerships in HIV education and care			✓	
Reach the spouses and regular partners of mine workers with HIV prevention activities	✓			✓
Develop and implement HIV prevention campaigns for mineworkers and CSWs	✓		✓	
Provide condoms and information on correct condom use	✓	✓	✓	✓
Conduct more research on sexual knowledge, attitudes and practices among mineworkers, especially on MSM and sexual violence among mineworkers	<b>~</b>		✓	

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

# WORKERS IN THE CONSTRUCTION SECTOR AND OTHER MAJOR INDUSTRIES

# Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS

Like mine workers, construction workers are generally young men. Construction work is characterized by relatively short-term work on a variety of sites. By removing workers from their families and support systems for extended periods of time, this nomadic "on-site" lifestyle increases their vulnerability to HIV infection. Often living in all-male housing in isolated areas that offer little diversion or recreation, workers are more likely to indulge in risk-taking behaviour such as alcohol abuse and unsafe casual sex.<sup>144</sup> In addition, their comparative wealth enables them to purchase sex from sex workers in the community.

The construction sector develops major transport and infrastructure routes that are often HIV risk areas due to the steady flow of people along them. Large construction projects can require opening new transport links (whether road or rail) through isolated and impoverished communities. In Malawi, road construction has been linked to the spread of HIV, 145 while in Lesotho the Highlands Water Project has led to an increase in STIs in the remote mountain areas. 146

Research conducted by construction industry stakeholders and the South African Department of Public Works (DPW) indicates that the industry has the third highest HIV incidence among economic sectors in that country. If allowed to persist, this situation will negatively affect the South African economy, as productivity decreases and the costs of replacing and retraining workers rise.<sup>147</sup>

The experiences of other industrial workers (e.g. clothing and textile, manufacturing or chemical workers) in relation to the epidemic do not appear to be well-documented. These workers appear not to share specific patterns of recruitment or placement that place them at specific risk to HIV/AIDS. Nevertheless, many industrial workers do work in areas distant from their own communities, even if their living conditions might be less isolating and estranged than those of mine and construction workers. In Lesotho, for example, women are the primary workers in the clothing manufacturing industry. They migrate to the factories from other areas (leaving children in the care of grandparents or other family members). Meanwhile, many of their spouses work in South Africa as migrants.

# Relevant policies and programmes

#### Governments

South Africa's Department of Public Works (DPW) has launched a project aimed at building awareness about the HIV/AIDS pandemic in the construction industry. <sup>148</sup> The overall goal is to improve health and safety in the industry by implementing awareness campaigns on DPW projects. The strategy is aimed at addressing issues such as HIV/AIDS training and prevention programmes, encouragement of voluntary HIV/AIDS and STI testing, the creation of a non-discriminatory working environment, the establishment of counselling and referral systems for support and care, and the promotion of respect for the rights and obligations of individuals, as well as employer responsibility. <sup>149</sup> Once the pilot project phase is completed, implementation of the strategy will become mandatory for all contractors tendering for DPW contracts. The Department's procurement process will be amended to ensure enforcement of this requirement.

In Lesotho, the Ministry of Works, Department of Rural Roads plans to supply free condoms to employees. In Namibia, ministries' and unions' respective works, transport, and communication companies will ensure condom social marketing and care and support services. <sup>150</sup> In Zambia, the Ministry of Works and Supply has established a workplace-specific HIV/AIDS work plan for workers and their families. The plan calls for the formation of a health committee, establishment of workplace condom distribution centres, and a travelling theatre group to "sensitize workers on the messages of the HIV/AIDS campaigns". <sup>151</sup>

#### **Trade unions**

In South Africa, the National Union of Mineworkers (NUM) also organizers workers in the construction industry. It has an established HIV/AIDS Policy<sup>152</sup> that pinpoints the vulnerability of employees in the construction sector due to poor housing conditions.<sup>153</sup> However, since the majority of NUM members are mineworkers, the trade union's policy tends to focus more on them than on construction workers.

The Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers Union (SACTWU) has adopted what it regards as a groundbreaking HIV/AIDS Policy. 154 Despite being a progressive and practical policy, it does not address the needs of mobile populations directly. The policy covers testing and counselling, home-based care, education and the provision of anti-retroviral therapy. It also addresses the issue of dependants and proposes

innovative use of collaborations and the education of shop stewards to help ensure that educational messages are conveyed in the workplace.

#### **Private Sector**

A framework agreement has been drafted between the South African Federation of Civil Engineering Contractors (SAFCEC), the NUM, and the Building Construction Allied Workers Union (BCAWU) to combat the spread and impact of HIV/AIDS in the industry. The agreement was formally signed in January 2003. Lifeline Southern Africa has been identified as the preferred service provider and employers will pay a monthly fee per worker to finance the HIV/AIDS programmes.

#### Recommendations

- On-site training programmes can serve as an important vehicle for AIDS education and for encouraging support of HIV-infected and -affected workers. It is suggested that the construction industry enters into collaborative partnerships with surrounding communities to find ways of extending cooperative housing and social services.
- It is vital that the industry takes into account the factors that render individuals susceptible to HIV infection (such as long periods away from families) and make every effort to combat those factors. Regular family visits should be encouraged and work schedules could be revised to enable more contact between construction workers and their spouses. Steps such as these could go a long way towards narrowing the risk of HIV infection.
- As well, governments can encourage the employment of local labour, and require building and maintenance contracts to integrate this. The construction sector can also link up with national HIV/AIDS control programmes to ensure the sector is included in relevant activities.
- Reducing the exposure to HIV during road building and maintenance programmes
  (for both workers and local communities) would involve several agencies and
  organizations. Governments and private sector firms using a mobile labour force
  can, through training, increase awareness of HIV/AIDS and improve the sexual
  health of workers and CSWs. On-site health services should be available and
  should include HIV/AIDS education; distribution of condoms and treatment of
  STIs.

• Integrate the construction sector into national AIDS plans and include key representatives of the construction sector in multi-sectoral National AIDS Councils.

TABLE 6

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH THE CONSTRUCTION SECTOR AND OTHER MAJOR INDUSTRIES, BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Develop policies that create an enabling environment and encourage disclosure and openness about HIV infection	<b>✓</b>	✓	<b>√</b>	<b>~</b>
Encourage a sense of community on the job-site that includes all workers and involves surrounding communities (incl. CSWs) in HIV/AIDS prevention and care efforts			✓	
Management of STIs (possibly through presumptive treatment), health education and access to health services close to/at the job site			✓	
Encourage businesses, trade unions and governments to form partnerships and address the HIV vulnerability of mobile populations in their HIV/AIDS policies and programmes			✓	
Improve living and working conditions (e.g. family housing, medical aid, working hours, establish complaint procedures and support groups)			✓	
Develop recreational programmes such as sports and entertainment both at the job-site and in surrounding communities			✓	
Reach the spouses and regular partners of mobile workers in this sector with HIV prevention activities	<b>✓</b>			
Develop and implement HIV prevention campaigns for mobile workers and CSWs			✓	
Provide condoms and information on correct condom use	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	✓

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

# AGRICULTURAL FARM WORKERS

# Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS

The commercial agriculture sector is vitally important to most developing countries. It contributes substantially to the GDP, is often the largest single employer of wage labour, and can be essential for achieving food security in a country. <sup>156</sup> But farm workers in this sector are vulnerable to HIV in much the same way as mobile workers in the mine and construction sector. Not only do their living and working conditions place them at risk, <sup>157</sup> but they are accorded very little rights and labour protection:

- Farm workers often live in compound accommodation, tents or shacks that are unhygienic, overcrowded and lacking in privacy;
- Casual and commercial sex is common on or near commercial farms;
- Commercial farms are characterized by a high incidence of STIs and other common diseases:<sup>158</sup>
- Most farms do not have HIV/AIDS programmes or STI services and workers' access to health care services is often poor;
- The sector employs many undocumented farm workers and border-crossers who are reluctant to access health services for fear of revealing their work status to the authorities and risking deportation. As a result, there is a major burden of untreated STIs among migrants;<sup>158</sup>
- Many farm workers have seasonal contracts which increase their mobility;
- Recreation facilities are sorely lacking often;
- Income-earning opportunities are strikingly unequal for men and women;

In Zimbabwe and South Africa, many farm workers are migrants who enjoy little if any legal protection. A recent farm workers survey in Zimbabwe notes that a large percentage of farm workers in Zimbabwe are from Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia. <sup>159</sup> A study by the Southern African Migration Project (SAMP) in 2000 South African Commercial Agriculture found that most foreign migrants working on South Africa's commercial farms endure extremely poor working and living conditions. <sup>160</sup> The study documents shocking wage levels on many farms, ranging from 2 SAR per day (approximately US\$ 0.20) to 23 SAR per day (approximately US\$ 2.30). The same study found difficult working conditions with long working hours and working weeks of up to seven days. Remuneration is often late, wages are not paid in full and in some cases workers are not paid at all (some farmers would deliberately hire undocumented workers and report them to the police shortly before pay-day). <sup>161</sup>

Temporary workers are the worst-paid and lowest-skilled people on farms. The duration of their work stints ranges from mere days to months. Seasonal workers may be employed for longer periods of time, but the work and conditions are insecure and trying. Permanent workers earn the highest wages and enjoy better conditions of work; on some farms they may belong to medical aid schemes, with their employer contributing to the Unemployment Insurance Fund. <sup>162</sup> The SAMP study found that most farms do not have grievance committees, and those that do exist are of limited value to seasonal migrant farm workers. <sup>163</sup>

South African border farmers appear to be drawing on cross-border migrants to meet their temporary and seasonal labour needs. Farmers hire undocumented migrants, particularly during harvesting, for three reasons. First, the workers are available and accessible. By their own accord, the workers arrive at the right times of the season seeking employment. Second, the official channels for soliciting workers are slow and cumbersome by comparison. And, third, some farmers prefer to hire workers who lack the required documentation because they are cheaper and are more easily exploited. The threat of exposure (coupled with the knowledge that the farmer himself is seldom prosecuted) can, and is used to keep workers in line.<sup>164</sup>

In South Africa, foreign farm workers are virtually "invisible" and lack a "voice". Most of them are concentrated in border areas or where major migration routes cross commercial farming districts. Many of these areas are relatively remote and difficult to monitor. Those in the country clandestinely have a vested interest remaining as invisible as possible to the authorities – a defensive option which, paradoxically, also renders them more vulnerable to exploitation and abuse.<sup>165</sup>

Estimates of the number of Mozambicans working on farms in Mpumalanga province (South Africa) range from 10-80,000, while between 7,000 and 80,000 Zimbabweans work seasonally on farms in South Africa's Limpopo province. Upwards of 7,000 Basotho seasonal farm-workers are estimated to be employed on asparagus farms in the Free State province (South Africa). 166

Considerable confusion and uncertainty surrounds the regulatory mechanisms that govern the hiring of foreign farm workers in South Africa. For instance, no official agreement with Zimbabwe, a major supplier of labour in South Africa, underpins the hiring of Zimbabwean workers. There is also wide, local-level variation in the ways in which Mozambican, Basotho and Zimbabwean migrants are allowed to enter and work. The effective policing of undocumented migration is hampered by these local-level formal and informal "deals" among officials, farmers and labour recruiters.<sup>167</sup>

The many female farm workers who work in this sector are particularly vulnerable to HIV infection because of sexual harassment and abuse. About 15 per cent of the women migrants interviewed in the SAMP study reported having being raped or knowing someone who had been raped or sexually harassed while working on Free State farms, for example. One interviewee described sexual violence and abuse as a very common occurrence, but said most women were too afraid or embarrassed to report the incidents for fear of losing their jobs. <sup>168</sup> Rape and child abuse were also cited as major concerns of Zimbabwean female farm workers interviewed during a recent IOM/CARE study in the Limpopo province. Blame was pointed mainly at male Zimbabwean border-crossers, but further investigation revealed that South African soldiers were also highly feared by female residents. <sup>169</sup>

Female farm workers may also be forced to engage in sexual relations to supplement their meagre wages or food rations or to gain liberties such as being able to slip away from the farm, receive lighter work duties, or work shorter hours.<sup>170</sup>

# Relevant policies and programmes

Policy reform in the commercial agriculture sector is urgently needed. Governments in the SADC region need to establish clear and standardized policies that cover foreign farm workers. It is clear that these workers fill an important gap in the labour market in the region. Therefore there is a need for policies that support a system of controlled access that is workable and manageable.<sup>171</sup>

Most policies that deal with HIV/AIDS in the agricultural sector appear to focus on mitigating the epidemic's impact rather than preventing infection. Even then, there are only a few examples of prevention activities, such as the commercial farm worker peer education programmes in Zimbabwe, where the Commercial Farmers Union (CFU) established an intensive peer education and condom supply programme among farm workers.

The sector can serve as a powerful conduit for information and training on HIV prevention, as well as provide opportunities for youth to learn essential life skills and agricultural skills. More commercial farmers can introduce farm worker education and support programmes such as those developed and implemented in Zimbabwe.<sup>172</sup> In addition, commercial farms can organize living arrangements that accommodate family members of migrant workers.

In Lesotho, the HIV/AIDS Strategic Plan of the Ministry of Agriculture and Marketing recognizes the importance of targeted communication channels (for example,

for personnel, youth farmers, herd boys, agriculture association members) and reinforced behaviour change messages via HIV/AIDS radio broadcasts, competitions, public gatherings of extension workers, and district and central agricultural shows.

#### Recommendations

- A CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe, carried
  out in 2002, found that migrants' rights were systematically violated in ways that
  increased their HIV vulnerability. It is essential, therefore, that HIV/AIDS programmes for migrants adopt a rights-based approach.<sup>173</sup>
- The commercial agricultural sector is both varied and complex. Distinctions can be drawn between resident farm workers, tenant labour, commuter labour and migrant labour, for example. In some areas (such as South Africa's Mpumalanga province) all four labour categories can be found, while only one or two might be present in other areas. Nevertheless, migration management policies have to reflect and respond to such local dynamics and conditions.<sup>174</sup>
- The commercial farm sector, in collaboration with employee welfare organizations and NGOs, should address the social and economic environments in which behaviours are shaped and perpetuated. This includes improving and expanding workers' access to social facilities, improving sanitation and general hygiene in housing estates, combating violence against discrimination against women, and mounting campaigns to reduce alcohol abuse.<sup>175</sup>
- Foreign migrant workers on commercial farms should be regulated, not arrested
  and deported. Strictly punitive strategies are not only likely to fail, but they also
  aggravate the vulnerability of undocumented workers on commercial farms.<sup>176</sup>
- There is disagreement whether the unionization of farm workers would indeed improve the conditions of foreign migrants in the short- to medium-terms.<sup>177</sup> In South Africa, trade unions have been struggling to organize permanent workers on farms, let alone foreign seasonal workers. In addition to opposition from farmers, trade unions wishing to organize farm workers have had to contend with a fragmented workforce that is scattered across vast distances. However, conditions on commercial farms in other countries might be more conducive to effective unionization of farm workers.
- Integrate the commercial agricultural sector into national AIDS plans and include key representatives of the commercial farming sector in multi-sectoral National AIDS Councils.

TABLE 7

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH AGRICULTURAL FARM WORKERS, BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	✓	✓	✓	✓
Remove conditions causing (unintended) migration and develop sustainable rural programmes in migrant-sending areas	✓			
Improve living and working conditions (e.g. family housing, medical aid, working hours, establish complaint procedures and support groups)			✓	
Encourage farmers to provide family-friendly housing that is safe and hygienic with privacy			✓	
Increase HIV, TB and STI campaigns and programmes on farms, especially during harvesting and times of a high influx of seasonal workers			✓	
Increase access to health care services, incl. STI services (possibly through mobile clinics), with possible presumptive treatment of STIs for farm workers and CSWs			✓	
Encourage and strengthen workers organizations/associations and unions for farm workers			✓	
Provide condoms and information on correct condom use		✓	✓	✓
Provide entertainment/recreation facilities on farms			✓	
Improve legal rights and protection of farm workers	✓		✓	
Develop public education programmes that address xenophobia and show foreign migrants are important contributors to economic growth who should be afforded rights and protection	~	✓	✓	✓
Promote knowledge of human rights among farmers and farm workers			✓	
Reach the spouses and regular partners of farm workers with HIV prevention activities	<b>✓</b>			

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

### **INFORMAL TRADERS**

# Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS

South Africa is now the seventh-largest trading partner in Africa, catering for its neighbours and "newer" shoppers from Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia, Gabon, Mali and Senegal. According to research by Market Decisions, one in 12 passengers on African flights is a self-employed trader. Traders also travel via taxis or buses, using the major road networks.

Although informal trading often mirrors formal trading, <sup>179</sup> certain aspects of vulnerability to HIV/AIDS may be different, and policies might affect formal and informal traders differently. Several factors affect informal traders' vulnerability to HIV/AIDS:

- **Length of time away from home.** Many informal traders spend long periods away from home either because they permanently work in another country or because they travel back and forth with their goods. One study has found traders spend between one week and three months away from home. <sup>180</sup>
- Poor working conditions. Since most traders are self-employed or part of a
  micro or small enterprise, they often survive on minimal expenses and cannot
  afford quality accommodation. It is reported that sleeping at the home of a sex
  worker is sometimes the only affordable accommodation.<sup>181</sup>
- **Delays at borders.** Traders often spend many hours, even days, at border crossings where high-risk sexual behaviour is often common. Some cross-border traders supplement their income with sex work or trade sex for customs clearance or to hitch a ride to their destination. Female traders are often coerced into sex by customs officials and policemen.<sup>182</sup> There are widespread and credible reports of sexual harassment of Zimbabwean female informal traders and illegal border-crossers by South African border officials/guards, as well as in South African prisons.<sup>183</sup>
- Lack of policies facilitating the informal sector. Informal traders have to
  contend with a daunting array of government regulations and officialdom. Southern African states do not acknowledge that traders should have a "trading visa";
  instead they are forced to seek inappropriate visitor, business, work-seeking or
  work permits. Traders have problems getting a multiple-entry visa and must nego-

- tiate each entry and departure. Sometimes, they are required to travel to a primary city and remain there for several days before being issued with a visa.
- Lack of access to health services. Like other mobile workers, traders often lack the time or access to health services, including those that treat STIs or that provide information on HIV/AIDS.

There are many myths about informal traders who come to South Africa that encourage xenophobia, thus isolating further from the communities they temporarily work in. Some include:<sup>184</sup>

# MYTHS AND TRUTHS ABOUT INFORMAL TRADERS IN SOUTH AFRICA

Myths	Truth
Traders come to South Africa to stay and use benefits meant for South Africans	Actually, most traders travel away from their home for only one to twelve weeks. Most leave their families back home and only come for the purpose of work, returning to their families as often as possible <sup>a</sup>
Traders have little or no education	Informal traders are often educated; one study shows that more than 90% of traders have some secondary education <sup>b</sup>
Migrants traders take jobs away from South Africans	Less than half of all migrants are interested in finding formal employment. 61% are handicraft/curio traders at home and do not intend to switch jobs <sup>c</sup>
Migrant traders are in the country illegally	Most of the migrant traders that come to South Africa enter the country legally. Because of the nature of their work, they are often publicly selling their goods thus it would not be beneficial for them to come into the country illegally. According to one trader, despite the difficulties of remaining legal in South Africa, imost are prepared to suffer the inconvenience and cost in order to remain legalî <sup>d</sup>

Notes:

(a) Peberdy, S., iMobile entrepreneurship: informal sector cross-border trade and street trade in South Africa, Development Southern Africa, 17(2), June 2000; (b) Peberdy, S., and Crush, J., 1998, Trading Places: Cross-Border Traders and the South African Informal Sector, Migration Policy Series No. 6, SAMP, IDASA, http://www.queensu.ca/samp/; (c) ibid; (d) Ibid.

# Relevant policies and programmes

There are very few policies in place that deal specifically with informal traders.

#### Government

Because traders work mainly in the informal sector, most national policies do not make specific reference to traders. However, Zambia's National HIV/AIDS/STI/TB Framework refers to cross-border traders as a highly mobile group. The framework also mentions that casual sex often occurs between female traders and truck drivers, and suggests that informal sector trading is closely related to sexual exploitation. The framework suggests that programmes for traders should be closely linked to programmes for truck drivers as they are often situated in the same areas.

Informal traders are not mentioned in the national policies of most countries nor are employment rights extended to them – often leaving them without legal protection in their own countries and in the host countries.

# Non-governmental organizations

Most of the HIV/AIDS initiatives that target cross-border informal traders do so under umbrella projects (such as USAID's Regional HIV/AIDS Project) that target truck drivers and CSWs. <sup>186</sup> The USAID project incorporates traders into peer education programmes with truck drivers and commercial sex workers.

#### Recommendations

- According to the Southern African Migration Project (SAMP)<sup>187</sup> a new, temporary permit category for individual informal cross-border traders should be introduced. This permit would allow multiple entries, reducing administrative costs, alleviating some of the work done by South African Home Affairs officials and removing the ambiguous and vulnerable status of informal traders. It would also reduce delays at borders and limit opportunities for border officials to extort sex or money from traders.
- Another important way to strengthen the legal rights of informal traders is to encourage regional associations of small traders to help empower and protect traders.<sup>188</sup>

TABLE 8

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH INFORMAL TRADERS,
BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Revise immigration and visa policies to include a category catering for traders, particularly in South Africa		✓	<b>√</b>	
Develop public education messages that counter myths about informal traders and resulting expressions of xenophobia	✓	✓	✓	✓
Highlight the position and contributions of informal traders and enhance their business rights	✓	✓	✓	✓
Ensure that all traders are provided with some form of legal protection, either from their host or home country	✓	✓	✓	
Encourage regional associations of small traders to empower and protect traders	✓		✓	
Provide safe inexpensive accommodation at borders		✓		
Sensitize border officials about sexual bribery and the health consequences of HIV/AIDS and STIs		✓		
Prosecute officials that exploit traders by demanding sex and bribes		✓		
Provide entertainment and recreational activities at borders		✓		
Increase access to health facilities at borders		✓		
Provide condoms and information on how to use them correctly	✓	✓	✓	✓

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

# **DOMESTIC WORKERS**

# **Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS**

Domestic workers are among the most vulnerable mobile populations in southern Africa, given their poor working conditions and lack of labour rights protection. <sup>189</sup> <sup>190</sup> They often lack proper contracts, and employers frequently violate the legal procedures for dismissal. <sup>191</sup> Domestic workers living on employers' property can also be subject to sexual harassment, <sup>192</sup> which renders them vulnerable to HIV infection. Domestic workers are often young women with little formal education and who earn low wages, which compels some to supplement their income with transactional sex. <sup>193</sup> <sup>194</sup>

# Relevant policies and programmes

None of the countries surveyed in this desk review appear to have direct HIV/AIDS policies for domestic workers – although Botswana, Namibia and South Africa have addressed domestic workers in their general employment legislation. <sup>195</sup>

South Africa's Basic Conditions of Employment Act fixes a minimum monthly wage of R600-800 (approximately US\$60-80) for domestic workers in urban areas and R498-527 (approximately US\$50) for those in rural areas. The legislation also contains regulations and guidelines regarding leave benefits. 196

Provisions for workers' rights protection in Namibia's Constitution were strengthened by the 1992 Labour Act, which emerged out of tripartite consultations between government, employers and workers. It places domestic and farm workers on an equal footing with other workers – a breakthrough. The Act legislates certain basic minimum standards of employment, introduces the concept of "unfair dismissal" into the law and provides a framework for industrial relations. Unfortunately, the Act does not yet fully reflect the unique nature of domestic work and the need to provide specific protections for this vulnerable sector. <sup>197</sup> Nevertheless, the Act has the potential to improve the lot of domestic workers. Its enforcement in that sector, however, remains weak. For example, inspections in this sector are undertaken only in response to worker complaints. A few domestic workers have brought cases to district labour courts, but the isolated nature of their working environment means that there

are usually no witnesses to support domestic workers in their complaints, thus making it more difficult for them to press their cases successfully. 198

Some training initiatives for domestic workers have been staged in recent years, thanks mainly to the ad hoc efforts of a few, dedicated individuals. The response to the training confirms that the demand for such courses is high; domestic workers with specialized training are more employable and can often command higher wages.

In Botswana and South Africa, workshops, education sessions and printed materials on labour rights, domestic violence and HIV/AIDS have been prepared for domestic workers.<sup>199</sup> The Services Sector Education and Training Authority (SETA) in South Africa has launched a programme for conducting training and certifying domestic workers so that they are more employable.<sup>200</sup>

Several trade unions and NGOs represent and support domestic workers. In South Africa the Network Against Child Labour (NACL) has produced the *Basic Employment Conditions for Domestic Workers* booklet, which explains the rules and regulations that apply to domestic workers and employers.<sup>201</sup> The HIV/AIDS section notes that domestic workers cannot be forced to undergo any test or medical examination without the full understanding and approval of the worker. As well, the terms of employment cannot be altered or ended if the worker refuses such a test.<sup>202</sup> In Botswana, a booklet called *Rights of Domestic Workers* has been developed, and an informal group Domestic Workers Foundation has been set up to provide a forum for domestic workers to air their concerns.<sup>203</sup>

TABLE 9

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH DOMESTIC WORKERS,
BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	~	<b>√</b>	✓	<b>✓</b>
Provide HIV/AIDS training for workers and employers through community organizations such as religious groups, NGOs, etc.	✓		✓	
Ensure that domestic workers have legal protection including access to medical care, decent accommodation, leave, a dignified environment and entitlement to family visits			✓	
Encourage domestic workers to know about their rights regarding criminal prosecution of employers who sexually harass or sexually exploit them; their right to fair labour practices, and access to medical and psychological services after abuse as well as general health care	<b>√</b>		✓	
Provide condoms and information on correct condom use	✓	✓	✓	✓
Strengthen associations of domestic workers unions and organizations			✓	

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

# REFUGEES AND INTERNALLY DISPLACED PERSONS (IDPS)

# Vulnerability to HIV/AIDS

Refugees are people who have fled their countries due to a well-founded fear of persecution (on the basis of race, religion, nationality, political opinion) and who cannot or do not wish to return. Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs), on the other hand, are people who have fled their homes, but who remain within the borders of their country.

Like other mobile populations, refugees and IDPs can be particularly vulnerable to HIV. However, the conditions of war, conflict and human rights abuses can render refugees and IDPs even more vulnerable to HIV infection. <sup>204</sup> <sup>205</sup> <sup>206</sup> HIV can spread fast amid impoverishment, powerlessness and social incohesion – conditions that are often at their most extreme during emergencies. HIV/AIDS prevention and care services tend to be severely disrupted, even destroyed in wars and civil strife.

Factors that render refugees and IDPs vulnerable to HIV infection include:<sup>207</sup>

- sexual abuse and violence often accompanies the flight of refugees and IDPs. In some conflicts, rape is used as a tool of repression against certain population groups;
- the break-up of stable relationships and the loss of mutual support, as well as loosening of cultural and familial controls on social behaviour;
- youth may become sexually active earlier than they would normally;
- the occurrence of transactional sex one of the few survival strategies for people cut off from their normal sources of income;
- the displacement of rural populations to heavily-populated areas, where they can find themselves much more at risk;
- the likelihood of injuries that might require blood transfusions in settings where blood supplies are unsafe.

Once refugees and IDPs move outside their original country or region, their abilities to earn a reliable income diminish or disappear, and many suffer from the stigma asso-ciated with their refugee status. Overcrowding, boredom and shortages of food and other basic necessities can engender unsafe behaviour (including drug and alcohol abuse, transactional sex and multiple sexual relationships).<sup>208</sup> In most countries, non-nationals such as refugees are generally not covered by national HIV/AIDS

control programmes<sup>209</sup> or lack access to other public health services. Language and cultural practices may also prevent refugees from accessing social or health services.

At the end of 2001, southern Africa hosted some 365,000 refugees, 21,700 asylum seekers, and 202,000 IDPs. Most refugees in the region reside in Zambia (280,000 and in Namibia (about 31,000). All the region's IDPs are in Angola. South Africa hosts half of the asylum seekers in the region.<sup>210</sup>

# Relevant policies and programmes

Comprehensive policies have been designed to help guide the response to HIV/AIDS for refugees in emergency settings. The WHO/UNAIDS/UNHCR *Guidelines for HIV Interventions in Emergency Settings* (1996) describe five stages of an emergency, each of which requires different HIV/AIDS interventions:

- 1. The destabilizing event. Ensure safe blood supply, mobilizing funds, collect and develop IEC materials in local languages;
- 2. Loss of essential services. Ensure safe blood transfusion, access to condoms, material and equipment available for universal precautions, basic HIV/AIDS information:
- 3. Restoration of essential services. More sophisticated and proactive HIV/AIDS interventions, such as conducting situation analyses (baseline data, research, etc.), identify HIV/AIDS coordinator, prepare work plans, establish partnerships with NGOs, leaders in the refugee community as well as in the local community, IEC activities, regular programme for condom supply and distribution, establish programme for STI control including syndromic management and education, clinical care for people with HIV/AIDS;
- **4. Relative stability.** Strengthening programme infrastructure, surveillance, monitoring and evaluation;
- **5. Return to normality.** Focus on sustainability of programmes after relief organizations withdraw.

Other relevant policies and guidelines include: 211

- UNHCR Policy and Guidelines regarding Refugee Protection and Assistance and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) 1992;
- UNHCR Sexual Violence against Refugees, Guidelines on Prevention and Response –1995 (updated in 2002);

- *UNAIDS Refugee and AIDS, Technical Update* 1997. This contains the guidelines discussed earlier:
- UNHCR's policy regarding Refugees and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) – 1998;
- HIV/AIDS Post Exposure Preventative Treatment Starter Kits for Staff 1999;
- · UNHCR Emergency Handbook 1999;
- Inter-Agency Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Refugee Situations, WHO/UNFPA/UNHCR 1999.

Zambia has an established National HIV/AIDS/STI/TB Institutional Framework<sup>212</sup> that makes specific mention of refugees and displaced people. It is one of the few available policies that recognize many different mobile population groups and their specific issues.

The stigma associated with refugees and their supposed link with the spread of HIV infection needs to be addressed through HIV/AIDS policies that focus on vulnerability. Refugees and IDPs are entitled to the best possible health care that is available to the local host community or that was available in their home country.

A relevant paragraph from the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment to which all SADC governments committed in June 2001, is the following:<sup>213</sup>

(para. 75) By 2003, develop and implement strategies that incorporate HIV/AIDS awareness, prevention, care and treatment into responses to emergencies and into international assistance programmes.

TABLE 10

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INTERVENTIONS WITH REFUGEES AND INTERNALLY DISPLACED PERSONS, BY STAGE OF MOBILITY

Recommendations	Particular relevance to*			
	Source	Transit	Destination	Return
Create a climate that encourages disclosure and openness about HIV infection	<b>✓</b>	✓	✓	<b>✓</b>
Develop public information programmes to counter myths and xenophobia about refugees and IDPs	✓	✓	✓	✓
Develop income-generating, education, sports and cultural programmes for refugees, especially for youth			✓	✓
Ensure that refugees have access to information and life skills training for protection from HIV infection			✓	✓
Ensure that refugees have means to protect themselves including access to condoms		✓	✓	✓
Develop and implement training that addresses gender relations			✓	
Focus regional and government attention on the need for HIV/AIDS prevention and care programmes for refugees/IDPs		✓	✓	✓
Strengthen the systems to keep refugee/IDP families together	✓	✓	✓	✓
Provide adequate shelter that prevents overcrowding and sexual abuse		✓	✓	✓
Ensure access to reproductive health services, including STI treatment		✓	✓	✓
Screen all donated blood and provide gloves and other precautions to avoid transmission in health care settings			✓	
Provide access to post-traumatic stress counselling as part of a mechanism to reduce high-risk sex conduct	✓	✓	✓	✓

Note: A given intervention might well be appropriate throughout several stages of the mobility process, but it is *particularly* relevant at the stage checked.

# CONCLUSION

Migration and mobility are complex realities with far-reaching consequences. Reasons for mobility range from professional aspirations to life-threatening catastrophes.

The system of migrant labour in southern Africa, which gathers together young men at work sites while leaving their partners and wives behind in typically impoverished rural areas, is a key factor in the pattern of the region's HIV epidemic, with the cyclical nature of labour migration facilitating the spread of HIV infection. To be effective, a response has to address all stages of the migration process.

Awareness about HIV/AIDS and basic prevention knowledge is quite widespread. However, the knowledge is often not put into practice. This is because current approaches to HIV/AIDS prevention are based largely on persuading individuals to change behaviour, without due regard for the social, cultural and economic contexts in which behaviour is shaped and lodged. This highlights the profoundly social – and economic – dimensions of the epidemic. A response that ignores the cultural, economic and sociological aspects of HIV/AIDS is unlikely to meet with success. This poses a major challenge: the challenge facing SADC governments is to develop policies that impact on the cultural, economic, social and normative factors that make so many southern Africans vulnerable to HIV/AIDS.<sup>214</sup>

A thorough analysis is required to map the geographic and social networks of migrants, which could enable the identification of current and potential risk profiles. The key to success at this stage is the involvement of migrant mobile populations, local communities and other stakeholders. One of the main lessons is the importance of working with and empowering target groups, rather than imposing external programmes that are less liable to be effective and that may even alienate the intended beneficiaries.

Reducing HIV prevalence in the Southern African region will require cutting edge solutions that not only reform the world of work and governance, but also create more respectful human relations. Addressing HIV/AIDS demands not only stimulating radical behaviour change, but constructing a new world of work. It will involve renewed political and corporate accountability.

"Knowing is not enough; we must apply. Willing is not enough; we must do." (Goethe)

# **ENDNOTES**

- The bibliography on mobile populations and HIV/AIDS is attached to this report in Annex C.
- 2. UNAIDS, *Report on the Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002*, UNAIDS, Geneva: 115, http://www.unaids.org/barcelona/presskit/barcelona%20report/contents.html.
- 3. Barnett, T., L. Decosas and A. Whiteside, "The Jaipur paradigm: a conceptual; framework for understanding social susceptibility and vulnerability to HIVî, *Journal of the SA Medical Association*, Vol. 90, November 2000.
- 4. John Snow International, *HIV/AIDS Interventions for Sex Workers and Mobile Populations in Zimbabwe*, November 2001.
- 5. Kambou, S.B. (Care International), *Proximate Cause: Addressing Financial Vulner-ability among Mobile Populations of West Africa*, Abstract [F11976], XIV International AIDS Conference in Barcelona.
- 6. Leggett, T., *Rainbow Vice: The Drugs and Sex Industries in the New South Africa*, David Philip, Cape Town, 2001.
- 7. Crush, J., et al., *Borderline Farming: Foreign Migrants in South African Commercial Agriculture*, South African Migration Project, Migration Policy Series No.16: 77, http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy16.htm.
- 8. Ibid
- 9. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002: 114.
- 10. International Labour Organization (ILO), *An ILO code of Practice on HIV/AIDS and the World of Work*, ILO, Geneva, 2001.
- 11. Smith, C., "HIV and the Media" in D. Martin (Ed.), *Looking the Beast in the Eye*, HIV/AIDS in South Africa, Jonathan Ball publishers, 2002.
- ILO, International Labour Conference, 87th Session, 1999, Migrant Workers, para. 20-23.
- 13. The Policy Project, *National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the Member States of the Southern Africa Development Community*, September 2002, http://www.policyproject.com/abstract.cfm?ID=1032.
- 14. *Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS*, United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS) on HIV/AIDS, 25-27 June 2001, New York., http://www.unaids.org/UNGASS/index.html.
- 15. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002: 114.
- 16. United Nations Population Division, Wallchart "International Migration 2002", October 2002, http://www.unpopulation.org.
- 17. UNAIDS, *AIDS Epidemic Update*, December 2002, http://www.unaids.org/worldaidsday/2002/press/Epiupdate.html.
- 18. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002.
- 19. UNHCR: at the end of 2001, Asia hosted the largest refugee population (48.3%), followed by Africa (27.5%), Europe (18.3%) North America (5%), Oceania (0.6%) and Latin America and the Caribbean (0.3%).
- 20. John Snow International, HIV/AIDS Interventions.
- 21. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002: 102-103.

- 22. Heinecken, L., "Living in terror: the looming security threat to southern Africa", *African Security Review*, 10(4), 2001, http://www.iss.co.za/Pubs/ASR/10No4/Heinecken.html.
- 23. AIDS 2002 Conference News/Health & Development Networks, Thursday 11 July 2002, War and the Spread of HIV/AIDS, http://www.aids2002.com/ViewArticle.asp?article=/T-CMS Content/News/7112002023543AM.xml.
- 24. Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD), *AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Military Sector*, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Military.pdf.
- 25. Healthlink Worldwide, *Combat AIDS, HIV and the Worldis Armed Forces*, 2002, http://www.panos.org.uk/aids/combat aids.htm.
- 26. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic, 2002.
- 27. UNAIDS.
- 28. Healthlink Worldwide.
- 29. Kingma, S., *HIV and the Military ñ Prevention Education is the Key to Protection*, address at the First International Conference of Military and Police Medicine, Cameroon, 1995.
- 30. Ibid.
- 31. Ibid.
- 32. Ibid.
- 33. Ibid.
- 34. LeBeau, D.,T. Fox, H. Becker and P. Mufune, "Agencies and structures facilitating the transmission of HIV/AIDS in Northern Namibia", in University of Namibia, *Society in Transition*, 2001, 32(1).
- 35. Ibid.
- 36. UNAIDS, *HIV/AIDS Interventions for Uniformed Services: Emphasis on Young Recruits*, Generic Guidelines.
- 37. Integrated Regional Information Networks.
- 38. *Refugees International Bulletin*, "The next war in Angola: combating HIV/AIDS", 30 July 2002.
- 39. Heinekin, L., "HIV/AIDS, the military and the impact on national and international security", in *Society in Transition*, 2001, 32(1).
- 40. Personal e-mail communication with R. Yeager, Associate Director, Civil-Military Alliance to Combat HIV & AIDS (CMA), 30 January 2003.
- 41. Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002: 103.
- 42. Barnard, M., "New way forward paved on HIV-AIDS and the military", *The Namibian*, 16 February 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/February/news/01D4F39413.html.
- 43. Barnard, M., "AIDS 'an intelligence issue'", *The Namibian*, 13 February 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/February/news/01D3168B4F.html.
- 44. Healthlink Worldwide, pp. 51-52.
- 45. South African Department of Defence, http://www.mil.za/CSANDF/SurgeonGeneral/AIDSCampaign/MasiWeb2/products.htm.
- 46. South African Department of Defence http://www.mil.za/CSANDF/SurgeonGeneral/AIDSCampaign/MasiWeb2/Default.htm.
- 47. The Policy Project, *National and Sector Policies in SADC Countries*, September 2002, http://www.policyproject.com/abstract.cfm?ID=1032.

- 48. FHI, Making Prevention Work: Global Lessons Learned from the AIDS Control and Prevention (AIDSCAP) Project 1991-1997, FHI, 1997, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/special/lessons/chap10.html.
- 49. Healthlink Worldwide (see ref. 25), p. 31.
- 50. UNAIDS, *AIDS and the Military*, UNAIDS Point of View, May 1998, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/sectors/index.html#military.
- 51. Heinekin, L., Centre for Military Studies, University of Stellenbosch, personal communication, 29 August 2002.
- 52. *Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic* 2002: 102-103.
- 53. UNGASS, Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS: Para. 77.
- 54. Railroad Association of South Africa Website, *Trucking Industry*, http://www.rra.co.za/trucking.shtml.
- 55. Spoornet Online, "Spoornet Corporate Profile: Interview with Zandile Jakavula", 2002, http://www.spoornet.co.za/Spoornet/CDA/Articles/SPN\_Article\_Index/0,1065,2-305.00.html.
- 56. International Transport Workers Federation, "AIDS in Africa: an issue for transport", *Transport International*, No. 1, 1999, http://www.itf.org.uk/TI/TI1/TI1 3.htm.
- 57. HEARD, *AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Transport Sector*, University of Natal, Durban, South Africa, 1998, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/.
- 58. Family Health International, *Corridors of Hope in Southern Africa HIV Prevention Needs and Opportunities in Four Border Towns*, Impact, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/impact/corrhope/corrbar.html.
- 59. Fransen, L., and A. Whiteside, *Considering HIV/AIDS in Development Assistance: A Toolkit* Document 3 (A) HIV/AIDS and the Transport Sector, World Bank, 1996, http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.
- 60. Telephone interview with Kevin Jeauffeau of Ikamji Freight, South Africa, 30 September 2002.
- 61 Bennett, A., *FHI USA AIDS Infothek* 2000, http://www.aidsnet.ch/modules.p+hp?name= News&file=article&sid=163.
- 62. HEARD, AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Transport Sector.
- 63. Mopheme/The Survivor, 05/09.
- 64. Morr, H., Presentation on Research (Survey and Evaluation) from the Cross Border Road Transport Aids Project, SA Department of Transport, EU and GTZ, 11 March 2002.
- 65. Ibid.
- Essenberg, B., Technical Workshop on Population Mobility, Migration and HIV/AIDS, HIV/AIDS Prevention in the Transport Sector of Southern African Countries, ILO, 18 March 2002.
- 67. Int. Transport Workers Fed., AIDS in Africa: An Issue for Transport.
- 68. Essenberg, Technical Workshop on Population Mobility, Migration and HIV/AIDS.
- 69. Telephone interview with Paul Matthew of Learning Clinic, 1 October 2002.
- 70. http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.
- 71. WHO, "Health risks and precautions: general considerations", in *International Travel and Health*, 2002, http://www.who.int/ith/chapter01\_01.html.
- 72. Ramjee, G. S. Abdool Karim and A.W. Sturm, "Sexually transmitted infections among sex

- workers in Kwa-Zulu Natal, South Africa", *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 25 (1998): 346-349 in *Spaces of Vulnerability: Migration and HIV/AIDS in South Africa*, Migration Policy Series No. 24, http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy24.htm.
- 73. Ibid.
- 74. When reading this data, one has to keep in mind that only selected truck drivers were screened.
- 75. The Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), *Spaces of Vulnerability: Migration and HIV/AIDS in South Africa*, Migration Policy Series No. 24, http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy24.htm.
- 76. Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, "South Africa: Airline found Guilty of Employment Discrimination", *Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review*, 5(4), 2000, http://www.aidslaw.ca/Maincontent/otherdocs/Newsletter/vol5no42000/intnews. htm#IN2.
- 77. Essenberg, Technical Workshop on Population Mobility, Migration and HIV/AIDS.
- 78. Telephone interview with Barney Curtis, spokesperson for the Federation of East and Southern African Road Transport Associations (Fesarta), 2 October 2002.
- 79. South African Government, *Transport Sector Strategic HIV/AIDS Plan*, November 2001, www.transport.gov.za/library/docs/aidsplan/acronyms.pdf.80 Zambian HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Secretariat, Zambia National HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Institutional Framework 2001 2003, Draft as of 22 November 1999.
- 81. Government of Lesotho, *National AIDS Strategic Plan 2001/2002 2003/2004*, Government of Lesotho, September 2000.
- 82. Peberdy, S., and J. Crush, "Invisible trade, invisible travellers: the Maputo Corridor spatial development initiative and informal cross-border trading", *South African Geographical Journal*, 83(2): 115-123, 2001.
- 83. HEARD, AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Transport Sector.
- 84. Ibid.
- 85. *The Namibian Economist*, "Living on the road",18 January 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/18jan/01-18-13.htm.
- 86. Meeting with Sister Mlilo and Mr. Tichavangana from CLAN Transport (PVT) Ltd. in Harare, Zimbabwe, Friday 9 August 2002.
- 87. Masuku, F., *Presentation on FERSATA/The UNIFREIGHT Group Zimbabwe*, Presentation at the Workshop Report "Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa", held in Harare, Zimbabwe,19 and 20 June 2002.
- 88. Cruttenden, D., *Presentation on Developing Workplace Policies, Case Study: The UNIFREIGHT Group AIDS Policy*, presentation at the Workshop Report "Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa", held in Harare, Zimbabwe, 19 and 20 June 2002.
- 89. *Spoornet Online*, "SPOORNET proclaims the month of September as HIV/AIDS month", 2002, http://www.spoornet.co.za/Spoornet/CDA/Articles/SPN\_Article\_Index/0,1065,2-203,00.html.
- 90. November 2001, November 2001, http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.

- 91. Meeting with the NECTOI and ZCTU in Harare, Zimbabwe, 9 August 2002.
- 92. Khulisa researchers were informed of the existence of the ZCTU HIV/AIDS policy at a meeting with the NECTOI and ZCTU in Harare, Zimbabwe, on 9 August 2002.
- 93. Matthew, P., *The Roadside Containers Project*, presentation at the Workshop Report "Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa", held in Harare, Zimbabwe, 19 and 20 June 2002.
- 94. Learning Clinic, *Presentation: Trucking against AIDS, AIDS Education and Training*, Learning Clinic, South Africa, 13 April 1999, http://www.transport.gov.za/library/docs/presentations/aids-trucking%20against%20aids/sld001.htm.
- 95. Russell, M., *Regional HIV/AIDS Programme Southern Africa*, presentation at the Workshop Report "Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa", held in Harare, Zimbabwe, 19 and 20 June 2002, http://www.rhap.org.za/.
- 96. Nimo, K. *World Vision Zambia Cross Border Initiative Project*, presentation at the Workshop Report "Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa", held in Harare, Zimbabwe, 19 and 20 June 2002.
- 97. ILO Regional project, *HIV/AIDS Prevention in the Transport Sector*. The project will be implemented in Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Zimbabwe.
- 98. National Ports Authority, *HIV/AIDS Programme*, synopsis, 22 August 2002, and brief telephone interview with Zett KaMasondo Mbonambi, Human Resources department, Durban.
- 99. See http://www.seafarerswelfare.org/4.html for a list of international organizations as well as NGOs and religious organizations that provide a range of services to seafarers worldwide.
- 100. International Committee on Seafarers Welfare Website, HIV/AIDS Awareness Information, http://www.seafarerswelfare.org/hivaids.html.
- 101. International Committee on Seafarers Welfare Website, Ibid.
- 102. Bennett, A., *FHI USA AIDS Infothek 2000*, http://www.aidsnet.ch/modules.php?name= News&file=article&sid=163.
- 103. Ibid.
- 104. Wilson, D., Lesotho and Swaziland: HIV/AIDS Risk Assessments at Cross-Border and Migrant Sites in Southern Africa, Project Support Group, Harare, Zimbabwe, and Family Health International (FHI) IMPACT Project, USA for USAID, 2001.
- 105. Bennett, FHI USA AIDS Infothek 2000.
- 106. Ibid.
- 107. UN Integrated Regional Information Networks, Miners HIV Survey, UN IRIN, 31 March 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200103310039.html.
- 108. Campbell, C., "Migrancy, masculine identities and AIDS: the psychosocial context of HIV transmission on the South African gold mines", in *Social Science and Medicine*, 45(2): 273-83, 1997.
- 109. Ibid.
- 110. HEARD, AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers, Mining Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Mining.pdf.
- 111. Campbell, Migrancy, masculine identities.

- 112. Ibid.
- 113. Ibid.
- 114. Marks, S., *The Spread of HIV/AIDS in South Africa*, paper presented at AIDS in Context Conference, University of Witwatersrand, April 2001.
- 115. Ibid.
- 116. FHI, Making Prevention Work.
- 117. Richter, L., "Slipping through the Safety Net", *ChildrenFirst, a journal on issues affecting children and their careers*, 5(38), August/September 2001.
- 118. Wilson, Lesotho and Swaziland.
- 119. Wolff, B., et al., *Safer at home? Male labour migration and HIV risk behaviour in South Africa from a rural perspective*, abstract nr [ThPeD7692], XIV International AIDS Conference, Barcelona.
- 120. Lurie, M., "Migration and AIDS in southern Africa: a review", South African Journal of Science, 96, June 2000.
- 121. Campbell, Migrancy, masculine identities.
- 122. SADC, SADC Protocol on Mining, September 1997.
- 123. SADC, SADC HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework, 3-4 April 2000.
- 124. Ibid.
- 125. SADC, SADC Protocol on Health, 1998.
- 126. White Paper: A Minerals and Mining Policy for South Africa, Department of Minerals and Energy, Pretoria, October 1998, http://www.dme.gov.za/home.asp?menu=main.
- 127. Ibid.
- 128. The Policy Project, National and Sector Policies.
- 129. Itano, N., "Amid specter of AIDS, mines look to end system that separates workers from their families", *Associated Press*, 10 September 2002.
- 130. http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/impact/iohiv/ioh21/ioh216.html.
- 131. AngloGold: Facing the challenge of HIV/AIDS (2001/2002), http://www.anglogold.com.
- 132. Agreement between AngloGold Limited and National Union of Mineworkers (NUM), MWU Solidarity (MWU-S), National Employees' Trade Union (BETU), South African Equity Workers Association (SAEWA) and United Association of South Africa (UASA) on HIV/AIDS in the Workplace, 13 June 2002.
- 133. Ibid.
- 134. Agreement between the National Union of Mineworkers, the United Association of South Africa and the Mine Workers Union Solidarity and GFL Mining Services Limited (incorporating Goldfields, etc.), 12 December 2001.
- 135. Royal Tropical Institute, The Netherlands, *Sexual Health Exchange*, 2001/4, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange\_content/assets/images/Issue04.pdf.
- 136. National Union of Mine Workers (NUM), *HIV/AIDS Policy*, 2002.
- 137. Ibid.
- 138. HEARD, AIDS Briefs: Integrating HIV/AIDS into Sectoral Planning, 1998, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/.
- 139. Campbell C., and B. Williams, "Beyond the biomedical and behavioural: towards an integrated approach to HIV prevention in the southern African mining industry", *Social Science and Medicine*, 48, 1999: 1625-39.
- 140. Smith, C., *Proud of Me: Speaking Out Against Sexual Violence and HIV*, Penguin South Africa, 2001, Interview Dr Brian Williams (Project manager Carletonville Project), CSIR, October 2000.

- 141. Terris-Prestholt, F., et al., *Cost-effectiveness of a Brothel-based Sexually Transmitted Infection Service among Highly Mobile Sex-workers in Johannesburg*, South Africa, abstract [TuPeD5055], XIV International AIDS Conference, Barcelona.
- 142. Campbell, C., B. Williams and D. Gilgen, "Is social capital a useful conceptual tool for exploring community level influences on HIV infection? An exploratory case study from South Africa", *AIDS CARE*, 14(1) 2002: 41-54.
- 143. Gebrekristos, H.T., *The Impact of Family Housing on the HIV/AIDS Epidemic among Migrants in South Africa*, abstract [PeG8404], XIV International AIDS Conference, Barcelona.
- 144. HEARD, *AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers \(\tilde{n}\) Construction Sector,* 1998, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Construction.pdf.
- 145. Ponninghaus, J.M., and S.M. Oxborrow, *The Lancet*, 1990, 336 (Nov. 10), 1198, in http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.
- 146. McMurchy, D., *HIV and The Lesotho Highlands Water Project, Summary of the Epidemiological Report on Phase 1B of the Lesotho Highland Water Project (LHWP)*, AIDS Analysis Africa 7.4, in http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.
- 147. SA Minister of Public Works, Ms S Sigcau, 21 October 2002, Launch of the HIV/AIDS Awareness Campaign, http://www.publicworks.gov.za/.
- 148. Ibid.
- 149. Ibid.
- 150. The Policy Project, National and Sector Policies: 47.
- 151. SA Minister of Public Works, Ms S Sigcau.
- 152. NUM, HIV/AIDS Policy, 2002.
- 153. HEARD, AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers ñ Construction Sector.
- 154. Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers Union (SACTWU), *HIV/AIDS Policy*, May 2002.
- 155. HEARD, AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers ñ Construction Sector.
- 156. HEARD, *AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers ñ Commercial Agricultural Sector*, 1998, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/CommAgric.pdf.
- 157. Rugalema, R., S. Weigang, and J. Mbwika, *HIV/AIDS and the Commercial Agricultural Sector of Kenya, Impact, Vulnerability, Susceptibility and Coping Strategies*, UNDP and FAO, 1999.
- 158. Early findings of CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe, by David Wilson and Patience Mukwashi, 10 November 2002.
- 159. Zimbabwe Ministry of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare and International Organization for Migration (IOM), Zimbabwe Farm Workers Survey, September 2001.
- 160. Crush et al., Borderline Farming.
- 161. Ibid.
- 162. Ibid.
- 163. Ibid.
- 164. Ibid.
- 165. Ibid.
- 166. Ibid.
- 167. Ibid.
- 168. Ibid.

- 169. CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
- 170. Crush et al., Borderline Farming.
- 171. Ibid.
- 172. Ministry of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare, *Zimbabwe Farm Workers Survey ñ Land Reform: a Labour Perspective*, September 2001.
- 173. CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
- 174. Ibid.
- 175. Rugalema et al., HIV/AIDS and the Commercial Agricultural Sector of Kenya.
- 176. Crush et al., Borderline Farming.
- 177. Ibid.
- 178. Haffajee, F., "Africa's greatest: a new wave of African traders spends R10 billion in Johannesburg", *Financial Mail*, 165(2), 14 December 2001.
- 179. Peberdy and Crush, Invisible Trade, Invisible Travellers.
- 180. Peberdy, S., "Mobile entrepreneurship: informal sector cross-border trade and street trade in South Africa", *Development Southern Africa*, 17(2), June 2000.
- 181. Family Health International, Corridors of Hope in Southern Africa.
- 182. Wilson, Lesotho and Swaziland.
- 183. CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
- 184. Peberdy, Mobile entrepreneurship.
- 185. Zambian HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Secretariat, Zambia National HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Institutional Framework 2001 2003, Draft as of 22 November 1999.
- 186. Regional HIV/AIDS Programme Southern Africa, http://www.rhap.org.za/.
- 187. Peberdy and Crush, Trading Places.
- 188. Rogerson, C., "'Formidable entrepreneurs': the role of foreigners in the Gauteng SMME economy", *Urban Forum*, 9(1) 1998: 143-153.
- 189. Hubbard, D., and L. Girvan, The Living and Working Conditions of Domestic Workers in Namibia, Gender Research and Advocacy Project with the Legal Assistance Centre, Namibia, 1996, http://www.lac.org.na/findrep5.htm.
- 190. Bhorat, H., "Benefits of wage law could be marginal", *Mail & Guardian*, 10 September 1999, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.
- 191. Beresford, B., "Domestic Workers and the Law", *Mail & Guardian*, 16 October 1998, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.
- 192. Dongozi, F., "Of affluent employers, their maids and gardeners", *Daily News*, Harare, Zimbabwe, 10 June 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200206100243.html.
- 193. Wilson, Lesotho and Swaziland.
- 194. CARE/IOM Regional Migration Study in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
- 195. Merten, M., "State's exclusion of workers from UIF bill 'unconstitutional'", *Mail & Guardian*, 16 March 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.
- 196. Intuit Consulting Services, *Domestic Wages*, Intuit Consulting Services, August 2002, http://www.domesticwages.co.za.
- 197. Hubbard and Girvan, The Living and Working Conditions of Domestic Workers in Namibia.
- 198. Ibid.
- 199. Business Week, "Ditshwanelo hails Gaolathe on minimum wages", Mmegi Business Week, 19(17), Botswana, 3 May 2002, http://www.mmegi.bw/2002/May/Friday3/295049072364. html.
- 200. Services SETA, Domestic Services Chamber PESTEL/SWOT Analysis Meeting, 24 July

- 2001, http://www.serviceseta.org.za/docsmedia/PestelReport/13\_06\_2002/domestic workers\_pestel\_24072001.doc.
- 201. Network Against Child Labour, *Basic Employment Conditions for Domestic Workers, Network Against Child Labour*, funded by the Gauteng Department of Social Services and Population Development, 2001.
- 202. Ibid.
- 203. Business Week, "Ditshwanelo hails Gaolathe on minimum wages".
- 204. FHI, Making Prevention Work.
- 205. Refugees and HIV/AIDS, Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme Standing Committee Meeting, Minutes, 15 February 2001.
- 206. Inter-Office Memorandum No 78/98 and Field-Office Memorandum No 84/98 distributed by the Deputy High Commissioner, Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Geneva, entitled "UNHCR Policy regarding Refugees and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS)", 1 December 1998.
- 207. UNAIDS, Refugees and AIDS, Technical Update, September 1997, www.unaids.org/aidspub/publication\_all.asp?WhereCl=69&SQLType=topic&OrderBy=publication.id.
- 208. United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), HIV/AIDS a Time Bomb for Refugees and the Internally Displaced, 22 April 2002, http://www.unfpa.org/news/2002/features/armedconflictside2.htm.
- 209. FHI, Making Prevention Work.
- 210. 2001 UNHCR Population Statistics (provisional), Population Data Unit, http://www.unhcr.ch/cgi-bin/texis/vtx/statistics.
- 211. Refugees and HIV/AIDS, Executive Committee of the High Commissioner's Programme Standing Committee Meeting Minutes, 15 February 2001.
- 212. Zambian HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Secretariat, *Zambia National HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Institutional Framework 2001 ñ 2003*, Draft as of 22 November 1999.
- 213. UNGASS, Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS.
- 214. Campbell C., and B. Williams, Beyond the biomedical and behavioural.

# **APPENDIX A**

# **Acknowledgements**

We would like to acknowledge the assistance we received from the following individuals during the data gathering phase of this research.

Name Organization

Louise Robinson CARE Lesotho
Puleng Letsie CARE Lesotho
Charity Sisya CARE Zambia
Thelma Kwaramba CARE Zimbabwe
Diane Lindsey CARE Zimbabwe

Mike St. Louis CDC

Dr. Tom Kenyon CDC Botswana

Sister E.C. Mlilo CLAN Transport, NECTOI E. Tichawangana CLAN Transport, NECTOI

Jacqueline Mpolokeng COSATU
Pulane Lefoka ERNESA

Barney Curtis Federation of Southern African Transport Operators

Ferial Haffajee Financial Mail

Kevin Jeauffeau Ikamji Freight – South Africa

Henning Morr ILO – South Africa Paul Matthew Learning Clinic

Mark Lurie Medical Research Council

S.R. Makoni
David Howe
F. Makanda
NECTOI Zimbabwe
T. Kanengoni
NECTOI Zimbabwe
C. M. Kare
NECTOI Zimbabwe
NECTOI Zimbabwe
NECTOI Zimbabwe
NECTOI Zimbabwe
NECTOI Zimbabwe

Lennox Mekuto NUM

Tracey King SABCOHA
Lynn Taylor SACTWU
Rachel Visser SACTWU

Dr. Sunanda Ray SafAIDS Ngoni Chibukire SafAIDS Sally Peberdy SAMP

Anselm Tapfumanei Silveria House – Zimbabwe

Matthew Roberts SMARTWork

Rene Loewenson TARSC Zimbabwe

Simon Mphisa UNICEF

Prof. Sheldon Weeks

Michele Russell

Patrick Osewe

W. T Chibebe

Joyce Nonde

UNIVERSITY of Botswana

USAID – South Africa

USAID – Zimbabwe

ZCTU – Zimbabwe

ZUFIAW Zambia

# **APPENDIX B**

# National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the Member States of the Southern African Development Community (SADC)<sup>1</sup>

## Botswana

- Botswana National Policy on HIV/AIDS, 17 November 1993.
- Policy Guidelines for the care of orphans in Malawi and Coordination of Assistance for Orphans, Task Force on Orphans, July 1992. Government of Malawi, Ministry of Women and Children Affairs and Community Services.

## Lesotho

- Policy Framework on HIV/AIDS Prevention, Control and Management, September 2000.
- National AIDS Strategic Plan, 2000/1.
- Memorandum on Sexual Offences Draft Bill.
- Sexual Offences Bill, 2000.
- Constitution of Paray AIDS Fund.
- Home Affairs HIV/AIDS Strategic Action Plan, 2001-2004.

# Mozambique

- Plano Estratégico Nacional de Combate às DTS/HIV/SIDA 2000-2002 (National Strategic Plan to Combat STI/HID/AIDS), 29 March 2000.
- Action Plan to Fight HIV/AIDS in Mozambique: Resource Requirements for 2001-2003, 30 November 2000.
- Absolute Poverty Reduction Action Plan (2000-2004), 2000.
- Relatório do Seminário para definir a Evolução da Epidemia de HIV/SIDA em Moçambique (Report of the Seminar to Define the Evolution of the HIV/AIDS Epidemic in Mozambique), 10 August 1999.

# Namibia

- The National Strategic Plan for HIV/AIDS (Medium Term Plan II), 1999-2004.
- Guidelines for Implementation of National Code on HIV/AIDS in Employment, Ministry of Labour, 1998.

A Comprehensive Approach to Prevention, Care, Legal and Human Rights Elements for a Defence Force HIV/AIDS Policy, 12-15 February, 2001, Swakopmund, Namibia.

## South Africa

- HIV/AIDS and STD: Strategic Plan for South Africa, 2000-2005.
- A National AIDS Plan for South Africa 1994-95, July 1994.
- National Policy for Health Act, 1990 (statement on testing policy).
- Operational Plan for HIV/AIDS and STDs 1997/98, February 1997.
- Independents Complaints Directorate, HIV/AIDS Policy, 1 March 2001.
- Policy Documents HIV/AIDS and STDs in the Workplace, Department of Housing.
- HIV/AIDS Policy. Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism.
- The National Treasury: Pensions Administration Draft HIV/AIDS and STD Workplace Policy.
- SARS HIV/AIDS Policy, Ministry of Finance.
- HIV/AIDS Policy, South African Sports Commission.
- Policy Document on HIV/AIDS and other STDs in the Workplace, Department of Transport.
- HIV/AIDS Employment Code of Good Practice, Department of Welfare (Draft).
- Policy Document on HIV/AIDS in the Workplace, Department of Public Service and Administration.
- Draft HIV/AIDS and Sexual Transmitted Disease (STD) Workplace Policy, Office
  of the President.
- Policy Document on HIV/AIDS and other STDs in the Department of Minerals and Energy.
- Draft HIV/AIDS Workplace Policy for the Department of Land Affairs.
- Policy on HIV/AIDS, Department of Labour, 13 March 1997.
- Draft Policy Document on HIV/AIDS and STD in the Workplace, Department of Health, November 1998.
- Mission Statement of the National HIV/AIDS and STD Programme.
- Comprehensive Policy Document on HIV/AIDS, Department of Justice.
- HIV/AIDS and STD Policy for Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism, SATOUR, South African National Parks and the National Botanical Institute.
- Draft Document on HIV/AIDS and other STDs in the Workplace, Department of Foreign Affairs.
- National Education Policy Act, 1996 (Act No. 27 of 1996), Department of Education, May 1999.
- Second Draft HIV/AIDS and STD Workplace Policy for the Department of Constitutional Development.

- HIV/AIDS Draft Policy, Statistics South Africa, March 1999.
- HIV/AIDS Policy, Office of Public Enterprises.
- HIV/AIDS Policy, POPCRU, Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council.
- HIV/AIDS in the Workplace Policy. Department of Home Affairs.
- HIV/AIDS Policy. Department of Public Enterprise.
- Management Strategy, AIDS in Prisons.
- 1999/2000 Policy Document on HIV/AIDS and Life Threatening Diseases, National Department of Agriculture.
- HIV/AIDS Policy, Safety and Security Sector Bargaining Council.
- HIV/AIDS, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry.
- Policy in Human Immunodeficiency Syndrome and Sexually Transmitted Diseases, Government Communication and Information System, March 1999.
- HIV/AIDS and STD Workplace Policy, Department of Provincial and Local Government.
- Draft HIV/AIDS and STD Workplace Policy for the Department of Arts, Culture, Science and Technology.

# **Swaziland**

- Policy Document on HIV/AIDS and STD Prevention and Control, August 1998.
- Swaziland National Strategic Plan for HIV/AIDS, May 2000.
- HIV/AIDS Care and Management Guidelines (Draft), Swaziland National AIDS Programme, Ministry of Health and Social Welfare, Kingdom of Swaziland, September 1998.

## Zambia

- National HIV/AIDS/STI/TB Intervention Strategic Plan 2002-2005, March 2002 (Draft), National AIDS Council.
- Zambia National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework, 2000-2002.
- National Strategic Framework (2001-2003), National HIV/AIDS/STD/TB Control, 10 October 2000.
- Costing the Zambia National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework, 2001-2003, Richard Bail, Chris Mwikisia, Billingsley Kambwa, Michael Masiye, October 2000.
- Strategic Plan, 1994-1998.
- Guidelines on HIV/AIDS Counselling in Zambia, Ministry of Health, 2000.
- Code of Ethics and Practice for Counselling in Zambia, The Zambia Counselling Council, 1999.
- National Gender Policy. Gender in Development Division, Office of the President, Cabinet Office. March 2000.

- National Policies and Strategies: Sports Policy, Child Policy, Youth Policy, Ministry of Sport, Youth and Child Development, August 1994.
- School Health and Nutrition Policy, Ministry of Education, June 1999, Draft.
- HIV/AIDS Policy Statement, Zambian Revenue Authority.
- Interim Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper, 7 July 2000.
- National Health Policies and Strategies, Health Reforms. Ministry of Health, December 2001.
- Reproductive Health Policy, Ministry of Health, June 2000 (First Draft).
- Integrated Reproductive Health, Plan of Action, November 2000.
- The National Policy Framework on Breastfeeding Practices and HIV/AIDS Transmission from Mother to Child (Final Draft).
- National Policy on Breastfeeding Practices, Ministry of Health and National Food and Nutrition Commission.
- National Food and Nutrition Policy.
- National Blood Transfusion Services Act, 1999.
- National Drug Policy, Ministry of Health.
- The Health Education and Health Promotion Policy, Ministry of Health, December 2000.
- The Employment (HIV and AIDS) Regulations, 1999.
- HIV/AIDS Response for the Ministry of Science, Technology and Vocational Training, Ministry of Science, Technology and Vocational Training.
- AIDS 2001 Workplans for:
  - Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
  - Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry
  - Ministry of Defence
  - Ministry of Education
  - Ministry of Energy and Water Development
  - Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources
  - Ministry of Information and Broadcasting Services
  - Ministry of Local Government and Housing
  - Ministry of Sport, Youth and Child Development
  - Ministry of Works and Supply
  - Ministry of Resettlement.

## **Zimbabwe**

- National Policy on HIV/AIDS for the Republic of Zimbabwe, December 1999.
- Labour relations (HIV and AIDS) Regulations 1998, Statutory Instrument 202 of 1998.
- Termination of Pregnancy Act (Act 29/1977).

- Sexual Offences Bill, 2000.
- National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework (2000-2004), Republic of Zimbabwe, November 1999.
- Zimbabwe National Orphan Care Policy.
- National AIDS Council of Zimbabwe Act (Chapter 15:14), No. 16/99.
- Constitution for the National AIDS Levy Fund.
- Public Health Act, Chapter 15:09, Revised Edition, 1996.
- Infant Feeding Options for HIV positive mothers.
- Secretary's Circular Minute No.2 of 2001, Ministry of Education, Sports and Culture, 2 January 2001.

# **Endnote**

1. The Policy Project, National and Sector HIV/AIDS Policies in the member states of the Southern Africa Development Community, September 2002.

# **APPENDIX C**

# Bibliography Database on HIV/AIDS and Mobile Populations in Southern Africa<sup>1</sup>

(\* information sources used for this publication)

# Migration in general

Amat-Roze, J.M.

1993 "Les inégalités géographiques de l'infection à VIH et du sida en Afrique sudsaharienne", *Social Science and Medicine*, 36(10): 1247-56.

Armstrong, S.

1995 "AIDS and migrant labour", *Populi*, 22(12): 13.

Baldo, M., and A.J. Cabral

1990 "Low intensity wars and social determination of the HIV transmission: the search for a new paradigm to guide research and control of the HIV", in Z. Stein and Z. Anthony (Eds), *Action on AIDS in Southern Africa*, New York: Committee for Health in Southern Africa.

Bassett, M.T., A.S. Latif, D.A. Katzenstein and Emmanual J. Cabral

"Sexual behaviour and risk factors for HIV infection in a group of male factory workers who donate blood in Harare, Zimbabwe", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 5(6): 556-559.

Bennett, A.

2000 "HIV prevention for mobile people and displaced people in Africa", *AIDS Infothek magazine*, No. 2, http://www.aidsnet.ch/e/infothek edition 2 00 022.htm.

Boerma, J.T., et al.

2001 Socio-demographic Context of the AIDS Epidemic in a Rural Area in Tanzania with a Focus on Peopleís Mobility and Marriage, MEASURE Evaluation, Chapel Hill, http://www.cpc.unc.edu/measure/publications/workingpapers/wp0131ab.html.

Brockerhoff, M., and A. Biddlecom

1999 "Migration, sexual behaviour and the risk of HIV in Kenya", *International Migration Review*, 33(4): 833-56.

Broring, G., and R. Van Duifhuizen

1993 "Mobility and the spread of HIV/AIDS: a challenge to health promotion", *AIDS Health Promotion Exchange*, No. 1: 1-3.

Caldwell, J.C., J.K. Anarfi and P. Caldwell

"Mobility, migration, sex, STD's, and AIDS: an essay on sub-Saharan Africa with other parallels", in G. Herdt (Ed.), *Sexual Cultures and Migration in the Era of AIDS: Anthropological and Demographic Perspectives*, Clarendon Press, Oxford: 41-54.

Carballlo, M., and H. Siem

"Migration, migration policy and AIDS", in M. Haour-Knipe and R. Rector (Eds), *Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS*, Taylor and Francis, London: 31-49.

Carballo, M., and S. Solby

2001 "HIV/AIDS, conflict and reconstruction in sub-Saharan Africa", draft notes for a symposium on preventing and coping with HIV/AIDS in post-conflict societies: gender based lessons from sub-Saharan Africa, http://www.certi.org/publications/AIDS symp/pub/carb.pdf.

Carlier, J.Y. (with G. Schiffino), edited by L. Fransen

1999 *The Free Movement of Persons Living with HIV/AIDS*, European Commission, Brussels, http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids/dump/efreemov.pdf.

Chirwa, W.C.

"Malawian migrant labour and the politics of HIV/AIDS, 1985 to 1993", in J. Crush and W. James (Eds), *Crossing Boundaries, Mine Migrancy in a Democratic South Africa*, Institute for Democracy in South Africa, Cape Town.

1997 "Migrant labour, sexual networking and multi-partnered sex in Malawi", *Health Transition Review*, Supplement 3 to Vol. 7: 5-15, http://nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/Chirwa1.pdf.

1998 "Aliens and AIDS in southern Africa: the Malawi-South African debate", *African Affairs*, Vol. 97: 53-79.

Decosas J.

1997 "Sida et développement: une relation tortueuse", *Sudafrique*, No. 10: 17-19.

1998 "Labour migration and HIV epidemics in Africa", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 8(5).

1999 *Mobility and Sexuality: The Policy Dimension*, paper presented to the Conference on AIDS, livelihood and social change in Africa, Wageningen, April 1999, http://www.kit.nl/information services/assets/images/paper decosas.doc.

Decosas, J., and A. Adrien

1997 "Migration and HIV", *AIDS*, Vol. 11 (suppl. A): 77-84.

Decosas, J., et al.

1995 "Migration and AIDS", *The Lancet*, 23 September, 346(8978): 826-828.

Department of Health, HIV/AIDS and STD Directorate (South Africa)

1999 *HIV/AIDS and Migration: A Consultation*, Department of Health (South Africa) and UNAIDS. Pretoria.

Duckett, M.

2000 "Migrants and HIV/AIDS", Development Bulletin, Vol. 52, June: 18-20.

Du Guernev, J.

"Migrations et SIDA en Afrique", Chronique du Ceped, No. 15: 4-5.

Epstein, H.

2002 "The hidden cause of AIDS", *The New York Review of Books*, 49(8), http://www.nybooks.com/articles/15371.

Evian, C.

1993 "The socio-economic determinants of the AIDS epidemic in South Africa: a cycle of poverty", *South African Medical Journal*, 83(9): 635-6.

Family Health International (FHI)

1998 Final Report for the AIDSCAP Program in Tanzania: October 1991 to September

1997, FHI, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/special/countryprog/Tanzania/tanzasum.html.

\* 1999 Crossing Borders: Reaching Mobile Populations at Risk, Making prevention work: global lessons learned from the AIDS control and prevention (AIDSCAP) project 1991-1997, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/special/lessons/chap10.html.

2002 *HIV Prevention and Mobile Populations*, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/impact/briefs/mobilepop.htm.

Foreit, K., et al.

2002 Cultural and Demographic Determinants of HIV Prevalence in Mozambique, Abstract nr. [MoPeE3716], at XIV International AIDS Conference 2002, Barcelona.

Frayne, B., and W. Pendleton

1998 Namibians on South Africa: Attitudes towards Cross-border Migration and Immigration Policy, Migration Policy Series No. 10, Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy10.htm.

Gardner, R., and R. Blackburn

1996 *People Who Move: New Reproductive Health Focus*, Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, Population Information Program, Baltimore, Population Reports Series J, No. 45, http://www.jhuccp.org/pr/j45edsum.stm#top.

Girdler-Brown, B.

"Migration and HIV/AIDS: eastern and southern Africa", *International Migration*, 36(4), special issue on Migration and HIV/AIDS: 513-51.

Goodwin-Gill, G.S.

"AIDS and HIV, migrants and refugees: international legal and human rights dimensions", in M. Haour-Knipe and R. Rector (Eds), *Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS*, Taylor and Francis, London: 50-69.

Gregson, S., et al.

"Is there evidence for behaviour change in response to AIDS in rural Zimbabwe?", *Social Science and Medicine*, 46(3): 321-30.

Haour-Knipe, M., and P. Aggleton

"Social enquiry and HIV/AIDS", Critical Public Health, 8(4): 257-71.

Haour-Knipe, M., M. Leshabari and G. Lwihula

1999 "Interventions for workers away from their families", in L. Gibney, R.J. DiClemente and S.H. Vermund SH (Eds), *Preventing HIV in Developing Countries: Biomedical and Behavioural Approaches*, Plenum Press, New York: 257-282.

Haour-Knipe, M., and R. Rector (Eds)

1996 Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS, Taylor and Francis, Bristol.

Herdt, G. (Ed.)

1997 Migration and Sexual Sub-cultures in the Era of AIDS: Anthropological and Demographic Perspectives, Clarendon Press, Oxford.

Hope, K.R.

1999 HIV/AIDS and the Mobile Population Groups in Botswana, Ministry of Health, Gaborone.

2000 "Mobile workers and HIV/AIDS in Botswana", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 10(4): 6-7, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AAA/aids10-4.pdf.

# Hope, K.R.

2001 "Population mobility and multi-partner sex in Botswana: implications for the spread of HIV/AIDS", *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 5(3): 73-83.

# Hunt, C.W.

1989 "Migrant labour and sexually transmitted disease: AIDS in Africa", *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, Vol. 30: 353-73.

# Ijsselmuiden, C.

1994 HIV Infection, Migrancy and Human Rights in the Southern African Region: Consequences for Intervention, Actes du symposium SIDA et migrations, 8e Conférence internationale sur le SIDA en Afrique, Québec, 1993.

# International Centre for Migration and Health (ICMH)

2000 Consultation on Population Movement, HIV/AIDS, Complex Emergencies and Reconstruction, ICMH, Geneva.

# International Organization for Migration (IOM)

- 1998 Migration and AIDS, Special Issue of International Migration, Vol. 36(4).
- 2000 Report from the Regional Labour Migration Seminar, 6-9 March 2000, IOM, Geneva.
- 2002 IOM Position Paper on HIV/AIDS and Migration, MC/INF/252, 17 October, IOM, Geneva.

## International Organization for Migration (IOM), UNAIDS, UNDP

2002 HIV/AIDS Prevention and Care Programmes for Mobile Populations in Africa: An Inventory, IOM, Geneva, http://www.iom.int//DOCUMENTS/PUBLICATION/EN/HIVAIDS Report Web.pdf.

## Lurie, M.

- 1997 "Migrancy and HIV/STD's in South Africa: a rural perspective", *South African Medical Journal*, 87(7): 909.
- "Migration and the spread of HIV and STD's: the Carletonville cohort study", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSI, Johannesburg: 151-160.
- 2000 "Migration and HIV/AIDS in southern Africa: a review", South African Journal of Science, 96(6): 343-347.
- 2001 *Migration and the Spread of HIV in South Africa*, PhD dissertation, The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore.
- 2002 Who Infects Whom? HIV-1 Concordance and Discordance among Migrant and Non-Migrant Couples in South Africa, South African Medical Research Council.
- 2003 "The impact of migration on HIV-1 transmission in South Africa: a study of migrant and non-migrant men, and their partners", *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 30(2): 149-156.

## Lurie, M., A. Harrison, D. Wilkinson and S.S. Abdool Karim

1997 "Circular migration and sexual networking in rural KwaZulu Natal: implications for the spread of HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases", *Health Transition Review*, Supplement 3 to Vol. 7: 15-24, http://nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/Lurie1.pdf.

# Lurie, M., et al.

2000 Migration and the Spread of HIV in Southern Africa: Prevalence and Risk Factors among Migrants and their Partners, and Non-migrants and their Partners, abstract nr [MoPpD1049], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.

## MacDonald. D.

"Notes on the socio-economic and cultural factors influencing the transmission of HIV in Botswana", *Social Science and Medicine*, 42(9): 1325-33.

National Council for International Health (NCIH)

1994 *Crossing Borders: HIV/AIDS and Migrant Communities*, National Council for International Health, Washington, DC.

Ntozi, J., and M. Lubega

1992 "Patterns of sexual behaviour and the spread of AIDS in Uganda", in T. Dyson (Ed.), Sexual Behaviour and Networking: Anthropological and Socio-cultural Studies on the Transmission of HIV, Editions Derouaux-Ordina, Liège: 315-333.

Nunn, A.J., et al.

1995 "Migration and HIV-1 seroprevalence in a rural Ugandan population", *AIDS*, 9(5): 503-6.

Pickering, H., and A.J. Nunn

"A three-year follow-up survey of demographic changes in a Ugandan town on the trans-African highway with high HIV-1 seroprevalence", *Health Transition Review*, Supplement to Vol. 7: 41-7, http://nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/Pickeri4.pdf.

Ouinn, T.C.

"Population migration and the spread of types 1 and 2 human immunodeficiency viruses", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 91(7): 2407-14.

Romero-Daza, N.

"Multiple sexual partners, migrant labour and the makings for an epidemic: knowledge and beliefs about AIDS among women in highland Lesotho", *Human Organization*, 53(2): 192-205.

Romero-Daza, N., and D. Himmelgreen

"More than money for your labour: migration and the political economy of AIDS in Lesotho", in M. Singer (Ed.), *The Political Economy of AIDS, Critical Approaches in Health Social Sciences Series*, Baywood Press: 185-204.

Sangiwa, G. P. Moses, B. Ncube, et al.

2000 New Start, Voluntary Counselling and Testing for HIV Prevention in Zimbabwe: Effectiveness at Reaching Target Populations, abstract nr [TuPeD3790], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.

Schoofs, M.

1999 "A woman's work: how HIV caught fire in South Africa – Part two: Bonisile Ngema's family was plunged into poverty when her son died of AIDS", *The Village Voice*, 12 May 1999, http://www.thebody.com/schoofs/womans\_work.html.

2000 "Labour migration fuels AIDS epidemic", SAfAIDS News, Vol. 8(1).

Schrijver, A. de, and A. Meheus

1991 "Sexually transmitted diseases and migration", *International Migration*, 29(1): 13-28.

Shtarkshall, R., and Y. Davidson

"Testing a policy decision: what can happen when you screen for HIV", in D. Fitzsimmons, V. Hardy and K. Tolley (Eds), *The Economic and Social Impact of AIDS in Europe*, Cassell, London: 207-18.

## Shtarkshall, R., and V. Soskolne

2000 Migrant Populations and HIV/AIDS ñ The Development and Implementation of Programmes: Theory, Methodology and Practice, UNESCO/UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/refugees/jc397migrant pope.pdf.

## Tarantola, D.

1999 Impact of Travel and Migration on the Spread of HIV: Risk Vulnerability and Mobility, speech presented at the sixth Conference of the International Society of Travel Medicine, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, June 1999.

## Tomasevski, K.

1991 "AIDS, travel and migration: legal and human rights aspects", *International Migration*, 29(1): 33-48.

## **UNAIDS**

- 1998 *Migration and HIV/AIDS*, Report by the UNAIDS programme coordinating board, 28 October 1998, PCB (7)98.5.
- 2000 "HIV prevention for mobile and displaced populations in Africa", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/mobile.html.
- \* 2000 "Mobile populations", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/migrantpopulations.html.
  - 2001 "Population mobility and AIDS", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/rufugees/JC513-PopulationTU-E.pdf.
  - 2001 *MigrantsíRight to Health*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/refugees/JC519-Migrants-E.pdf.
- \* 2002 Report on the Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic 2002, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/barcelona/presskit/embargo.htm.

## Wawer, M.J.

"Urban-rural movement and HIV dynamics", in J.M. Mann and D.J.M. Tarantola (Eds), *AIDS in the World II: Global Dimensions, Social Roots, and Responses*, Oxford University Press, New York: 48-50.

## Way, P.O.

1994 "African HIV/AIDS and urbanization", in J.T. Tarver (Ed.), *Urbanization in Africa: A Handbook*, Greenwood Press, Westport: 423-38.

## Williams, B., et al.

2000 The Natural History of HIV/AIDS in South Africa: A Biomedical and Social Survey, CSIR, Johannesburg.

## Williams, B., E. Gouws and S.S. Abdool Karim

2000 "Where are we now? Where are we going? The demographic impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa", *South African Journal of Science*, 96(6): 297-300.

# Williams, B., et al.

2000 "Patterns of infection: using age prevalence data to understand the epidemic of HIV in South Africa", *South African Journal of Science*, 96(6): 305-12.

## Wolff, B., et al.

\* 2002 Safer at Home? Male Labour Migration and HIV Risk Behaviour in South Africa from a Rural Perspective, abstract nr [ThPeD7692], XIV International AIDS Conference Barcelona. 2002.

## Wolffers, I.

2001 "Programmes for mobile populations and their partners", in P. Lamptey et al. (Eds), HIV/AIDS Prevention and Care in Resource-constrained Settings: A Handbook for the Design and Management of Programs, FHI Impact.

# **Military**

# Barks-Ruggles, E.

\* 2001 *Meeting the Global Challenge of HIV/AIDS*, Policy Brief No.75, The Brookings Institution, http://www.brookings.edu/dybdocroot/pa/policybriefs/pb075/pb75.htm.

## Barnard, M.

- \* 2001 "AIDS 'an intelligence issue'", *The Namibian*, 13 February 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/February/news/01D3168B4F.html.
- \* 2001 "New way forward paved on HIV-AIDS and the military", *The Namibian*, 16 February 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/February/news/01D4F39413.html.

## Calderon, M.R. (Ed.)

1997 *Civil-military Collaboration*, HIV Prevention and Control Series, Family Health International (FHI), http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/discappdfs/civilmilitary.pdf.

# Carballo, M., C. Mansfield and M. Prokop

2000 Demobilization and its Implications for HIV/AIDS: background paper, International Centre for Migration and Health (ICHM) and USAID, Geneva, http://www.certi.org/publications/policy/demobilization-6.pdf.

## Docking, T.

2001 AIDS and Violent Conflict in Africa, United States Institute of Peace, Washington, DC, http://www.usip.org/pubs/specialreports/sr75.pdf.

## Elliott, R.

\* 2000 "Namibia: Refusal to enlist HIV-positive in Army ruled discriminatory", *Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review*, 5(4), http://www.comminit.com/Materials/sld-5099.html.

# Family Health International (FHI)

- 2001 *Uniformed Services HIV/AIDS Peer Leadership Guide*, Uniformed Services Task Force on HIV/AIDS, Research Triangle Park, Family Health International.
- 2002 Developing a Comprehensive HIV/AIDS/STI Programme for Uniformed Services, www.fhi.org/en/aids/impact/briefs/uniformedservice.html.

## Fleshman, M.

\* 2001 "AIDS prevention in the ranks: UN targets peacekeepers, combatants in war against the disease", *Africa Recovery*, 15(1/2): 16-8, http://www.un.org/ecosocdev/geninfo/afrec/vol15no1/aidsmil.htm.

## Goyer, K.C.

2001 "HIV and political instability in sub-Saharan Africa", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 12(1): 13, 16, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AAA/AAA%2012\_1\_June-July\_2001.pdf. Health and Development Networks (HDN)

\* 2002 *War and the Spread of HIV/AIDS*, XIV International AIDS Conference in Barcelona, 2002, posted on e-mail newsgroup: Gender-AIDS http://www.hdnet.org/home2.htm.

## Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD)

\* no date AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Military Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Military.pdf.

## Healthlink Worldwide

2002 Combat AIDS, HIV and the World's Armed Forces, http://www.panos.org.uk/aids/combat aids.htm.

# Human Rights Watch

2002 The War within the War: Sexual Violence against Women and Girls in Eastern Congo, http://www.hrw.org/reports/2002/drc/index.htm.

## Inambao, C.

\* 2001 "Region's armies hard hit by HIV-AIDS", *The Namibian*, 10 July 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/July/news/01F4A29F.html.

## International Centre for Migration and Health

\* 2002 *Demobilisation and its Implications for HIV/AIDS*, Report to USAID Office of Transition Initiatives in Washington, DC.

## International Crisis Group (ICG)

2001 *HIV/AIDS as a Security Issue*, ICG, Washington, DC, http://www.crisisweb.org/projects/issues/hiv\_aids/reports/A400321\_19062001.pdf.

## Kamara, S.

\* 2002 "HIV/AIDS takes toll on African Military", *AF-AIDS E-mail newsgroup*, 2 July 2002.

## Lawday, A.

\* 2002 *HIV and Conflict: A Double Emergency*, Save the Children (UK), London, http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/hiv/pdfs/conflict.pdf.

## LeBeau, D., T. Fox, H. Becker and P. Mufune

\* 2001 "Agencies and structures facilitating the transmission of HIV/AIDS in Northern Namibia", University of Namibia, *Society in Transition*, 32(1).

# Malaza-Debose, M.

2001 Gender Based Experiences in Preventing and Coping with HIV/AIDS in Post-conflict sub-Saharan Africa, paper presented at the Conference on Preventing and Coping with HIV/AIDS in Post-conflict Societies: Gender Based Lessons from sub-Saharan Africa, South Africa, 2001, http://www.certi.org/publications/AIDS\_symp/pub/debose.pdf.

#### Mwaniki, M.

\* 2002 "Concern over high HIV/AIDS toll in the military", 21 May 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200205200661.html.

## Newman, L.M., et al.

2001 "HIV seroprevalence among military blood donors in Manica Province, Mozambique", *International Journal of STD and AIDS*, 12(4): 225-8.

## Panos Institute

1998 "The military: Malawi's warring past catches up with a reticent present", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 8(3): 8.

## **UNAIDS**

- \* 1998 "AIDS and the military", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/sectors/military/militarypve.pdf.
- \* 2002 UNAIDS Interview Schedule/Questionnaire Schedule: Situation and Response Analysis of HIV/AIDS Intervention with Uniformed Services (Armed Forces, Police, Border/Customs Officials), UNAIDS, Geneva.
- \* 2002 UNAIDS Strategic Action Plan on HIV/AIDS Interventions for Uniformed Services: Emphasis on Young Recruits, UNAIDS, Geneva.

\* 2002 *UNAIDS Strategic Meeting on HIV/AIDS and National Security*, 4-5 April 2002, Meeting Report.

US General Accounting Office (GAO)

2001 *UN Peacekeeping: United Nations Faces Challenges in Responding to the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Peacekeeping Operations*, GAO, Washington, DC, http://www.dec.org/pdf\_docs/PCAAA969.pdf.

Yeager, R.

2000 "International military HIV/AIDS policies and programs: strengths and limitations in current practice", *Military Medicine*, 165(2): 87-92.

Yeager, R., and D. Ruscavage

2001 HIV Prevention in Conflict and Crisis Settings, produced by The Civil-Military Alliance to Combat HIV and AIDS in collaboration with The USAID/Tulane Complex Emergency Response and Transition Initiative, http://www.dec.org/pdf\_docs/PNACM027.pdf.

# **Transport sector**

Bikaako, W.

2000 AIDS and Transport: The Experience of Ugandan Road and Rail Transport Workers and their Unions, International Transport Workers' Federation (ITF), http://www.itf.org.uk/Education/AIDS.pdf.

Chingono, M.

2001 "AIDS education and prevention in Zimbabwe's transport sector", *Voices from Africa*, NGO Responses to HIV/AIDS No. 10, UN Non Governmental Liaison Service, http://www.unsystem.org/ngls/documents/publications.en/voices.africa/number10/a11chingono.htm.

Cross Border Road Transport Aids Project

\* 2002 Report on HIV/AIDS Programmes in the Transport Sector, presentation at the Department of Transport, Midrand, South Africa, 11 March 2002, http://www.transport.gov.za/comm-centre/aids/report/index.htm.

Department of Transport (South Africa)

\* 2001 *Transport Sector Strategic HIV/AIDS Plan*, http://www.transport.gov.za/library/docs/aidsplan/aidsplan.html.

2002 Report on HIV/AIDS Programmes in the Transport Sector, http://www.transport.gov.za/comm-centre/aids/aids-f.html.

Desmond, C., A. Whiteside, J. Jones and T. Legget

2001 "The port of Durban and its role in the spread of HIV in KwaZulu-Natal", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 11(6): 6-7, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AAA/AAA%2011\_6\_Apr-May\_2001.pdf.

Dibble, P.

\* 1991 *AIDS and the Transport Operating Industry*, National Employment Council and Transport Operating Industry, Harare, Zimbabwe.

Elliott, R.

\* 2000 "South Africa: Airline found guilty of Employment Discrimination", *Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review*, 5(4), http://www.comminit.com/Materials/sld-5099.html.

## Essenberg, B.

\* 2002 Technical Workshop on Population Mobility, Migration and HIV/AIDS. HIV/AIDS Prevention in the Transport Sector of Southern African Countries, ILO, 18 March 2002.

## Family Health International (FHI)

2000 Corridors of Hope in Southern Africa: HIV Prevention Needs and Opportunities in Four Border Towns, Impact, Family Health International.

2000 Behavioural Surveillance Survey of Long Distance Truck Drivers in Zambia, Tropical Diseases Centre, National AIDS Council/Ministry of Health Zambia, Institute for Tropical Medicine under the USAID Impact Project.

2001 Lesotho and Swaziland: HIV/AIDS Risk Assessment, http://www.rhap.org.za/resources/lesothoswazi/contents ls.htm.

## Focus on Trucking and Logistics

2001 "AIDS committee visits first container clinic in Beaufort West (South Africa)", Focus on Trucking and Logistics, South Africa, Jan/Feb: 32.

## Fransen, L., and A. Whiteside

no date "HIV/AIDS and the transport sector", *Considering HIV/AIDS in Development Assistance: A Toolkit*, Commission of the European Communities, http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/infra.htm.

# Gysels, M, R. Pool and K. Bwanika

2001 "Truck drivers, middlemen and commercial sex workers: AIDS and the mediation of sex in southwest Uganda", *AIDS Care*, 13(3): 373-85.

# Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD)

\* no date *AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Transport Sector*, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Transport.pdf.

## International Labour Organization (ILO)

2001 An ILO Code of Practice on HIV/AIDS and the World of Work, ILO, Geneva.

# International Organization for Migration (IOM)

2002 "Mobile units for HIV/AIDS prevention", 16 April 2002. http://allafrica.com/stories/200204160374.html.

## International Transport Workers' Federation (ITF)

\* 2000 "AIDS in Africa: an issue for transport workers", *Transport International*, No. 1, http://www.itf.org.uk/TI/TI1/TI1 3.htm.

## Kayizzi, J.

\* 2001 "HIV/AIDS top killer of truck drivers", *The Monitor*, Kampala, Uganda, 10 December 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200112100117.html.

## Kraak, G.

2000 "The road less travelled: government and civil society join against HIV/AIDS in the trucking industry", *Development Update*, 3(1): 1-14.

## Marck, J.

"Long-distance truck drivers' sexual cultures and attempts to reduce HIV risk behaviour amongst them: a review of the African and Asian literature", in J. Caldwell et al. (Eds), Resistances to Behavioural Change to Reduce HIV/AIDS Infection in Predominantly Heterosexual Epidemics in Third World Countries, Health Transition Centre Books, Canberra: 91-100, http://www.nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/resistances ch8.pdf.

## Marcus, T.

- 1997 "AIDS: interpreting the risks: a case study of long distance truck drivers", *Development Southern Africa*, 4(3).
- 2000 Exposure and Experience Confounded by Structural Constraints: Assessing the Impact of AIDS on Long Distance Truck Drivers, abstract number [WePeD4612], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.
- McKay, V., M. Sarakinsky, H. Morr, E. Segkobela, E. Mokotong et al.
  - 2001 Evaluation of Roadside Health and Information Units in Harrismith and Beaufort West, evaluation commissioned by the EU/GTZ supported project HIV/AIDS prevention and control in the road transportation sector in Southern Africa.
  - 2001 Knowledge, Attitude, Behaviour and Practice about HIV/AIDS of Long Distance Drivers in Southern Africa, research committed by the EU/GTZ supported project HIV/AIDS prevention and control in the road transportation sector in Southern Africa, UNISA, ABET Institute, EU, GTZ, Pretoria, South Africa, November 2001.

Morr, H., U. Gilbert and R. Barradas

2001 HIV Prevention in the Road Transportation Sector in Southern Africa, European Union (EU) and German Agency for Technical Co-operation (GTZ), http://www.gtz.de/aids/download/road transportation.doc.

Mujuru, P.

\* 1996 Preventing AIDS at the Workplace, NECTOI, FHI, Harare, Zimbabwe.

Mukodzani, L., K.S. Mupemba and J. Marck

"All roads lead to Harare: the response of the Zimbabwe transport industry to HIV/AIDS", in J.C. Caldwell, I.O. Orubuloye and J.P.M. Ntozi (Eds), *The Continuing African HIV/AIDS Epidemic*, Health Transition Centre Books, Canberra: 131-8, http://nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/ContinuingHIV/mukodzani.pdf.

Mupemba, K.S.

"The Zimbabwe HIV prevention program for truck drivers and commercial sex workers: a behaviour change intervention", in J. Caldwell et al. (Eds), *Resistances to Behavioural Change to Reduce HIV/AIDS Infection in Predominantly Heterosexual Epidemics in Third World Countries*, Health Transition Centre Books, Canberra: 133-7, http://www-nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/resistances\_ch12.pdf.

Mwizarubi, B., C. Hamelmann and K. Nyamuryekung'e

1997 "Working in high-transmission areas: truck routes", in J. Ng'weshemi, T. Boerma, J. Bennett and D. Schapink (Eds), *HIV Prevention and AIDS Care in Africa: A District Level Approach*, Royal Tropical Institute, Amsterdam 137-49.

Mwizarubi, B.K., et al.

"HIV / AIDS education and condom promotion for truck drivers, their assistants and sex partners in Tanzania", in NARESA, Focusing Interventions among Vulnerable Groups for HIV Infection: Experiences from Eastern and Southern Africa, Network of AIDS Researchers of Eastern and Southern Africa (NARESA), Nairobi, monograph 4: 109-18.

Namibian Economist

- \* 2002 "Living on the road", 18 January 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/18jan/01-18-13.htm.
- \* 2002 "Marco strives for good relations with workers", 6 May 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/19apr/04-19-06.htm.

\* 2002 "Ministry intervenes in Cadilu-NAFAU dispute", 2 June 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/31may/05-31-02.htm.

Nyembe, M.

2000 Attitude of Truck Drivers towards HIV Testing in KwaZulu Natal Midlands Truck Stops, South Africa, abstract number [MoPeC2375], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.

Parker, W., S. Oyosi, K. Kelly and S. Fox

2002 On the Move: The Response of Public Transport Commuters to HIV/AIDS in South Africa, Department of Health and Centre for AIDS Development, Research and Evaluation (CADRE), http://www.cadre.org.za/pdf/On%20the%20Move%20Final%20Report.pdf.

Ramjee, G., and E. Gouws

2001 "Targeting HIV-prevention efforts on truck drivers and sex workers: implications for a decline in the spread of HIV in southern Africa", *AIDS Bulletin*, 10(1): 14-5, http://www.mrc.ac.za/aids/apr2001/truckdrivers.htm.

Ramjee, G., E. Gouws and Z. Stein

2000 HIV Prevalence among Truck Drivers in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa: Implications for the Explosive Nature of the South African HIV Epidemic, abstract number [TuPpD1194], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.

Ritter, T.

2000 Commercial Sex Workers and Truck Drivers: Background for a Core Transmitter Intervention, Delivery of Improved Services for Health (DISH), Uganda, http://www.ugandadish.org/core.doc.

SADC, GTZ, FESARTA, Cross-Border Road Transport Agency

2002 Report from Workshop: Defining the Way Forward for HIV/AIDS Initiatives in the Road Transport Sector in Southern Africa, Harare, Zimbabwe, 19-20 June 2002.

SAPA

2001 "Loss of seamen a concern", 8 May 2001, http://www.anc.org.za/briefing/nw200 10509/38.html.

Siebane, A.

"Counsellors target AIDS-infested N1", African Eye News Service (Nelspruit), Messina, 1 August 1999, http://allafrica.com/stories/199908010086.html.

Sunkutu, K.

2001 Cross-border Initiative HIV/AIDS Project: HIV and Migrant Populations: the Lessons Learnt from Working with Truckers and Sex Workers, World Vision Zambia presentation to the IOM workshop, Pamodzi Hotel, 9 April 2001.

The Herald

\* 2002 "Long distance truck drivers among major contributors to spread of HIV/AIDS survey", 18 March 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200203180886.html.

The Nation

\* 2000 "Help to regulate fishing industry", 30 August 2000, http://allafrica.com/stories/200008300048.html.

UN Integrated Regional Information Networks

\* 2002 "Corridors of Hope Against HIV", UN Integrated Regional Information Networks, 13 February 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200202130254.html.

Vlok, E.

2001 "The route of the problem, part 1", South African Labour Bulletin, 25(1): 55-60.

2001 "The route of the problem, part 2", South African Labour Bulletin, 25(2): 61-6.

Wendo, C.

2000 "USAID to Tame truckers' sex", *New Vision*, Kampala, 12 July 2000, http://allafrica.com/stories/200007120196.html.

Whiteside, A.

"How the transport sector drives HIV/AIDS and how HIV/AIDS drives transport", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 8(2): 5-6.

Wilson, D.

2000 "Preventing HIV infection through peer education and condom promotion among truck drivers and their sexual partners in Tanzania, 1990-1993", *AIDS Care*, Vol. 12: 27-40.

Wilson, D., B. Nyathi, N. Lamson et al.

"Community interventions in Zimbabwe: analysis of a multi-site replication", in NARESA, Focusing Interventions among Vulnerable Groups for HIV Infection: Experiences from Eastern and Southern Africa, Network of AIDS Researchers of Eastern and Southern Africa (NARESA), Nairobi: 83-98.

Wilson, D., et al.

"Ethnographic and quantitative research to design a community intervention among long-distance truck drivers in Zimbabwe", in NARESA, *Focusing Interventions among Vulnerable Groups for HIV Infection: Experiences from Eastern and Southern Africa*, monograph 2, Network of AIDS Researchers of Eastern and Southern Africa (NARESA), Nairobi: 99-108.

## Mine workers

AngloGold

\* 2002 Facing the Challenge of HIV/AIDS 2001/2002, AngloGold, http://www.anglogold.com/frames.asp?pagetodisplay=/InformationForInvestors/AIDSReport/

Bailey, S.

2001 "AIDS takes toll on mining group", *Mail & Guardian*, 8 June 2001.

Bedhesi, C.

"The NAMDEB project", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 57-63.

Campbell, C.

\* 1997 "Migrancy, masculinity and HIV: the psycho-social context of HIV-transmission on the South African gold mines", *Social Science and Medicine*, 45(2): 273-83.

2001 "Going underground and going after women: masculinity and HIV transmission amongst black workers on the gold mines", in R. Morrell (Ed.), *Changing Men in Southern Africa*, University of Natal Press, Pietermaritzburg.

Campbell, C., and Y. Mzaidume

2002 "How can HIV be prevented in South Africa? A social perspective", *British Medical Journal*, 324 (26 Jan): 229-32, http://bmj.com/cgi/reprint/324/7331/229.pdf.

# Campbell, C., and B. Williams

- "Understanding the impact of a community-led HIV prevention program in South Africa: context, conceptual framework and methodology", *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 5(4): 9-22.
- 1998 "Evaluating HIV-prevention programmes: conceptual challenges", *Psychology in Society*, No. 24.
- \* 1999 "Beyond the biomedical and behavioural: towards an integrated approach to HIV prevention in the southern African mining industry", *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 48: 1625-39.

# Campbell, C., B. Williams and D. Gilgen

\* 2002 "Is social capital a useful conceptual tool for exploring community level influences on HIV infection? An exploratory case study from South Africa", *AIDS CARE*, 14(1).

## Chirwa, W.C.

"Malawian migrant labour and the politics of HIV/AIDS, 1985 to 1993", in J. Crush and W. James (Eds), *Crossing Boundaries, Mine Migrancy in a Democratic South Africa*, Institute for Democracy in South Africa, Cape Town.

# Churchyard, G.J., et al.

- "Mycobacterial disease in South African gold miners in the era of HIV infection", International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, 3(9): 791-8.
- 2000 "Factors associated with an increased case fatality rate in HIV-infected and non-infected South African gold miners with pulmonary tuberculosis", *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 4(8): 705-12.

# Corbett, E.L., et al.

2002 "Morbidity and mortality in South African gold miners: impact of untreated disease due to human immunodeficiency virus", *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 34(9): 1251-8.

## Crisp, J.

"AIDS programmes in the mining industry: an overview", in B. Williams and C. Campbell (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Priorities for the Mining Industry*, ERU, Johannesburg: 91-2.

## Crisp, J., and F. Mthimunye

1999 "The Kriel project", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 54-6.

# Crush, J., T. Ulicki, T. Tseane and E. Jansen van Vuuren

- \* 1999 Undermining Labour: Migrancy and Sub-Contracting in the South African Gold Mining Industry, Migration Policy Series No. 15, Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications.html#SAMP%20Migration% 20Policy%20Series.
- \* 2001 "Undermining labour: the rise of sub-contracting in the South African gold mines", *Journal of Southern African Studies*, 27(1):5-31, http://www.queensu.ca/samp/ Publications.html#SAMP%20Published%20Articles.

## Day, J.H., S. Charalambous, A.D. Grant and G.J. Churchyard

\* 2000 "Integrated HIV prevention and care: experience from the South African mining industry", *AIDS Bulletin*, Vol. 9(4), http://www.mrc.ac.za/aids/dec2000/hivprevention.htm.

# De Coito, T., S. Ralepeli and R. Steen

2000 "Forging multi-sectoral partnerships to prevent HIV and other STI's in South Africa's mining communities", *Impact on HIV*, 2(1), http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/impact/iohiv/ioh21/ioh216.html.

Department of Minerals and Energy (South African Government)

\* 1998 White Paper: A Minerals and Mining Policy for South Africa, October 1998. De Vletter. F.

\* 1998 Sons of Mozambique: Mozambican Miners and Post-Apartheid South-Africa, Migration Policy Series No. 8, Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), http://www.queensu.ca/samp/Publications.html#SAMP%20Migration%20Policy%20Series.

Elias, R., et al.

\* 2001 HIV/AIDS: the Mining and Minerals Sector and Sustainable Development in Southern Africa, Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development Southern Africa (MMSDsa), research topic 2, http://www.mining.wits.ac.za/HIV&AIDS.doc.

Ellis, H.

2002 "Namdeb to provide AIDS drugs", *The Namibian*, 22 August 2002, http://www.namibian.com.na/2002/August/news/027D526323.html.

Essel, I.

\* 2002 "Miners join crusade against HIV/AIDS", 20 March 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200203190552.html.

Foster, S.

1996 "The implications of HIV/AIDS for South African mines", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 7(3): 5.

Gahagen, P.

"An integrated approach to HIV/AIDS prevention programmes: the New Vaal experience", in B. Williams and C. Campbell (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Priorities for the Mining Industry*, ERU, Johannesburg: 13-8.

Gilgen, D., et al.

2001 "The natural history of HIV/AIDS in a major gold mining centre in South Africa: results of a biomedical and social survey", *South African Journal of Science*, 97 (9/10): 387-93.

Goergen, R., et al.

2001 "Artisanal and small-scale mines: ticking bombs in need of workplace HIV/STI interventions", *Sexual Health Exchange*, Vol .4: 7-8, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange\_content/assets/images/Issue04.pdf.

Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD)

\* no date AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Mining Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Mining.pdf.

Hermanus, M.

1993 "HIV/AIDS policy in the mining industry", *South African Journal on Human Rights*, 9(1): 113-22.

Heywood, M.

1996 "Mining industry enters a new era of AIDS prevention", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, Vol. 6(3).

Ijsselmuiden, C.B., G.N. Padayachee, W. Mashaba et al.

1990 "Knowledge, beliefs and practices among black gold miners relating to the transmission of human immunodeficiency virus and other sexually transmitted diseases", *South African Medical Journal*, 78(8): 520-23.

Jochelson, K., M. Mothibeli and J. Leger

"Human Immunodeficiency Virus and migrant labour in South Africa", *International Journal of Health Services*, 21(1): 157-73.

Kahn, T.

\* 2002 "AngloGold confronts Health Care in the AIDS era", 25 April 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200204250292.html

Kaunda, J.

\* 2002 "Levy attributes unemployment to: slump in mining, manufacturing", 4 June 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200206040244.html.

Kennedy, C.

2002 From the Coalface: A Study of the Response of a South African Colliery to the Threat of AIDS, Working Paper No. 5, Centre for Social Science Research, Cape Town, http://www.uct.ac.za/depts/cssr/asruwrk/wp5.pdf.

Lurie, M., B. Williams, A.W. Sturm, G. Garnett, K. Zuma et al.

2000 Migration and the Spread of HIV in southern Africa: Prevalence and Risk Factors among Migrants and their Partners, and Non-migrants and their Partners, abstract number [MoPpD1049], XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000.

Lurie, M.

\* 2000 "Migration and AIDS in southern Africa: a review", *South African Journal of Science*, 96(6): 343.

Macheke, C.

"AIDS awareness programmes on the mines: a postal survey", in B. Williams and C. Campbell (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Priorities for the Mining Industry*, ERU, Johannesburg: 93-5.

Macheke, C., and C. Campbell

\* 1998 "Perceptions of HIV/AIDS on a Johannesburg gold mine", *South African Journal of Psychology*, 28(3): 146-53.

Mallory, K.F., et al.

\* 2000 "The impact of HIV infection on recurrence of tuberculosis in South African gold miners", *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 4(5): 455-62.

Mantashe, G.

\* 1995 *Labour Migration in Southern Africa*, National Union of Mineworkers (NUM) input to the COSATU international policy conference, 21 and 22 April 1995.

Maphalala, I.

2001 "Mine workers demand salaries for days lost", *The Times of Swaziland*, 18 September 2001, http://www.africaonline.com/search/search.jsp?a=v&contentid =40671&languageid=1.

Meekers, D.

"Combating sexual risk behaviour through condom social marketing", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 38-53.

2000 "Going underground and going after women: trends in sexual risk behaviour among gold miners in South Africa", *International Journal of STD and AIDS*, 11(1): 21-6.

Meeson, A.

2000 "Mining for solutions to HIV/AIDS", South African Labour Bulletin, 24(1): 45-50.

Movement for Democratic Change, Zimbabwe

2000 The MDC AIDS Policy for Zimbabwe, 25 May 2000, http://www.mdczimbabwe.com/archivemat/statements/socwelfare/aids000525txt.htm.

Mzaidume, Y.

1999 "Communities", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail C (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 103-6.

Mzaidume, Z., C. Campbell and B. Williams

2000 "Empowerment through participation: community-led HIV prevention by southern African sex workers", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 3: 6-7, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/mzaidume.htm.

National Union of Mine Workers (NUM)

\* no date HIV/AIDS Policy.

National Union of Mine Workers (NUM) and AngloGold Limited

\* 2002 Agreement on HIV/AIDS in the Workplace, 13 June 2002.

National Union of Mine Workers (NUM) and GFL Mining Services [incorporating Goldfields Mines, etc]

\* 2001 Agreement regarding HIV/AIDS in the Workplace, 12 December 2001.

Neondo, H.

\* 2002 "Women miners play major role in national economy", 25 February 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200202250842.html.

Pressly, D.

\* 2002 "Study estimates 28% of miners have HIV/AIDS", 25 March 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200203250162.html.

Richter, L.

\* 2001 "Slipping through the safety net", *ChildrenFirst: a journal on issues affecting children and their care-givers*, 5(38), August/September 2001.

Olenick, I.

\* 2000 "STD's decline among South African migrant workers after high-risk local women receive treatment", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 26(2): 90-1, http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2609000.html.

SADC Review

\* no date *Mining*, coordinated by Zambia, http://www.sadcreview.com/sectoral%20reports %202001/mining.htm.

Sadie, Y., M. Van Aardt and A. Von Below

\* 1993 AIDS in Africa and its Impact on the South African Mining Industry, occasional paper No. 56, African Institute of South Africa.

Schoofs, M.

1999 "All that glitters: how HIV caught fire in South Africa – Part one: sex and the migrant miner", *The Village Voice*, 28 April 1999, http://www.thebody.com/schoofs/glitters.html.

## Seccombe, A.

2002 "AIDS shock waves galvanise mining firms", Mail & Guardian, 22 April 2002.

Southern African Development Community (SADC)

\* 1997 *Protocol on Mining*, September 1997.

Steen, R., et al.

\* 2000 "Evidence of declining STD prevalence in a South African mining community following a core-group intervention", *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 21(7): 1-11.

## Swindells, S.

2001 "Mining houses start counting cost of AIDS", *Mail & Guardian*, 14 February 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/NXT/gateway.dll/DailyNews/MGO2001/3lv03540/4lv03757/5lv03763.htm.

## Tumelo, L.

2001 "AIDS and sexual health in the world of work: Botswana's Jwaneng Mine experience", *Sexual Health Exchange*, No. 4: 15-6, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange\_content/assets/images/Issue04.pdf.

UN Integrated Regional Information Networks (UN IRIN)

- \* 2001 "Business grapples with AIDS", *UN IRIN*, 9 June 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200106080436.html.
- \* 2001 "Business wakes up to the HIV/AIDS threat", UN IRIN, 23 June 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200106230015.html.
- \* 2001 "Miners HIV survey", *UN IRIN*, 31 March 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200103310039.html.
- \* 2001 "Mining Giants Aids Plan", *UN IRIN*, 24 February 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200102230579.html.

## **UNAIDS**

2000 "The Lesedi Project: HIV prevention in mining communities", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/lesedi.html.

## Williams, B.

2000 "Community effort can block AIDS", *Mail & Guardian*, 17 March 2000, http://archive.mg.co.za/NXT/gateway.dll/PrintEdition/MGP2000/3lv02644/4lv02778/5lv02800.htm.

## Williams, B., and C. Campbell

- 1996 "Mines, migrancy and HIV in South Africa: managing the epidemic", *South African Medical Journal*, Vol. 86: 1249-51.
- "A model of HIV transmission on South African gold mines: implications for control", *South African Journal of Epidemiology and Infection*, 11(2): 51-5.
- \* 1997 "HIV/AIDS: policy and practice in the South African mining sector", *AIDS Bulletin*, 6(1-2): 45-6.
  - "Creating alliances for disease management in industrial settings: a case study of HIV/AIDS in workers in South African gold mines", *International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 4(4): 257-64.
  - 1998 "HIV/AIDS in the mining industry: prospects and challenges", AIDS Bulletin, 7(1).
  - 1998 "HIV/AIDS in the mining industry: the Carletonville project", AIDS Bulletin, 7(1).
  - 1998 "Managing disease on the goldmines: 'work-related' and 'non-work-related' diseases", *South African Medical Journal*, 88(6): 789-95.

- "Community mobilization as an HIV prevention strategy: challenges and obstacles (South Africa)", *Sexual Health Exchange*, No. 2, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange content/html/1999 2 community mobilization.asp.
- "Responses to HIV/AIDS in the mining industry: past experiences and future challenges", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 13-29.
- Williams, B., and C. Campbell (Eds)
  - 1995 *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Priorities for the Mining Industry*, ERU, Johannesburg.
- Williams, B., C. Campbell and C. MacPhail
  - 1999 "The Carletonville pilot survey", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 131-49.
- Williams, B., C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds)
  - 1999 *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg.
- Williams, B., C. Campbell, N. Mqoqi and I. Kleinschmidt
  - "Occupational health, occupational illness: tuberculosis, silicosis and HIV on the South African mines", in D. Banks and J. Parker (Eds), *Occupational Lung Disease:*An International Perspective, Chapman and Hall, New York: 95-105.
- Williams, B., C. MacPhail, C. Campbell, D. Taljaard, E. Gouws et al.
  - \*2000 "The Carletonville-Mothusimpilo project: limiting transmission of HIV through community-based interventions", *South African Journal of Science*, 96(6): 351-9.

# Construction workers and large industry workers

Bassett, M.T., et al.

"Risk factors for HIV infection at enrollment in an urban male factory cohort in Harare, Zimbabwe", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology*, 13(3): 287-93.

Bassett, M.T., A.S. Latif, D.A. Katzenstein and J. Emmanual

"Sexual behaviour and risk factors for HIV infection in a group of male factory workers who donate blood in Harare, Zimbabwe", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 5(6): 556-9.

Clement, J.D.

2001 "Ford Motor Company of southern Africa: leading the way in the auto industry", *Sexual Health Exchange*, No. 4: 2, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange \_content/assets/images/Issue04.pdf.

Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD)

- \* no date AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Manufacturing Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Manufacturing.pdf.
- \* no date AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Construction Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/Construction.pdf.

### Hosking, T.

1990 The effects of AIDS on the building and construction industry", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 1(1): 4.

International Textile, Garment and Leather Workers' Federation (ITGLWF)

\* no date Why the ITGLWF Has Launched a Special Campaign on HIV/AIDS?, http://www.itglwf.org/displaydocument.asp?DocType=Background&Index =413&Language=EN.

Kravitz, J.D., R. Mandel, E. A. Petersen, M. Nyaphisis and D. Human

"Human immunodeficiency virus seroprevalence in an occupational cohort in a South African community", *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 155(15): 1601-4.

Machekano, R., et al.

2000 "Correlates of HIV test results seeking and utilization of partner counselling services in a cohort of male factory workers in Zimbabwe", *AIDS and Behaviour*, 4(1): 63-70.

Mbizvo, M.T. et al.

1996 "HIV seroincidence and correlates of seroconversion in a cohort of male factory workers in Harare, Zimbabwe", *AIDS*, 10(8): 895-901.

1997 "HIV seroconversion among factory workers in Harare: who is getting newly infected?", *Central African Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 43: 135-39.

Namibian Economist

\* 2002 "Business sector should fight AIDS says Hangala", 31 May 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/31may/05-31-14.htm.

\* 2002 "NamPower launch anonymous voluntary HIV/AIDS testing programme", 19 April 2002, http://www.economist.com.na/2002/19apr/04-19-25.htm.

Salm, A., W.J. Grant, T.J. Green, J.R. Haycock and J. Raimondo

\* 2002 Lesotho Garment Industry Subsector Study for the Government of Lesotho, funded by the Department for International Development (DfID), January 2002.

Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers Union

\* 2002 SACTWU Policy: HIV-AIDS, 22 May 2002.

# Agricultural farm workers

**AfricaOnline** 

\* 2001 "AIDS devastating rural labour force in Africa", 5 March 2001, http://ww2.aegis.org/news/afrol/2001/AO010501.html.

Bond, V., and P. Dover

"Men, women and the trouble with condoms: problems associated with condom use by migrant workers in rural Zambia", *Health Transition Review*, Supplement to Vol. 7: 377-91. http://nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/Bond1.pdf.

Chikovore, J., and M.T. Mbizvo

1999 "AIDS related knowledge and sexual behaviour among commercial farm residents in Zimbabwe", *Central African Journal of Medicine*, 45(1): 7-10.

Coutinho, A.

2001 "HIV/AIDS and the sugar industry in Swaziland: a case study", *AIDS Analysis Africa*, 11(4).

Crush, J., et al.

\* 2000 Borderline Farming: Foreign Migrants in South African Commercial Agriculture, Migration Policy Series, No. 16, Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy16.htm.

Daily Trust

\* 2001 "Aids destroys Agric in Africa", 5 December 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200112040659.html.

du Guerny, J.

\* 1999 "AIDS and agriculture in Africa: can agricultural policy make a difference?" *Food, Nutrition and Agriculture*, No. 25: 12-17, http://www.fao.org/sd/wpdirect/WPan 0048.htm.

Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)

no date "HIV/AIDS: a rural issue", *AIDS ñ A Threat to Rural Africa*, FAO, http://www.fao.org/Focus/E/aids/aids1-e.htm.

no date Key Facts on AIDS and Agriculture Information, FAO, Rome.

no date "Fighting AIDS: the challenges for FAO", *AIDS ñ A Threat to Rural Africa*, FAO, http://www.fao.org/Focus/E/aids/aids5-e.htm.

1995 A Synthesis Report of the Africa Region ñ Women, Agriculture and Rural Development, FAO, Rome, http://www.fao.org/docrep/x0250e/x0250e00.htm.

1997 The Effect of HIV/AIDS on Agriculture: An A to Z HIV/AIDS and Labour, FAO, http://www.fao.org/focus/e/aids/old/azfx-e.htm.

2000 *HIV/AIDS and Agriculture: A FAO Perspective*, Sustainable Development Department, FAO, April 2000, http://www.fao.org/sd/wpdirect/wpre0129.htm.

2000 *HIV/AIDS in Namibia: The Impact on the Livestock Sector*, Sustainable Development Department, FAO, February 2000, http://www.fao.org/sd/wpdirect/WPan 0046.htm

2000 *HIV/AIDS, Food Security and Rural Livelihoods*, FAO, http://www.fao.org/world foodsummit/english/fsheets/aids.pdf.

2002 *AIDS Hitting African Farm Sector Hard*, Focus on the Issues, Focus No. 4, FAO, http://www.fao.org/worldfoodsummit/english/newsroom/focus/focus4.htm.

2002 Declaration of the World Food Summit: Five Years Later, FAO Headquarters, Rome, 10-13 June 2002, http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/MEETING/004/Y6948E.htm.

Family Health International (FHI)

1998 Final Report for the AIDSCAP Program in Zimbabwe: October 1992 to October 1997, Family Health International, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/special/countryprog/Zimbabwe/zimbproj1.html.

Haacker, M.

2002 Counting the Cost of HIV in Southern Africa, International Monetary Fund, Washington DC, 4 April 2002.

Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD)

\* no date AIDS Brief for Sectoral Planners and Managers: Commercial Agriculture Sector, http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/AidsBriefs/sec/CommAgric.pdf.

Lupien, J.R., and V. Menza

1999 Assessing prospects for improving food security and nutrition, FAO Food And Nutrition Division, FNA/ANA 25, FAO, Rome, http://www.fao.org/docrep/X4390t/x4390t00.htm.

## Mahlangu, C.

"Action Plan to stem impact of AIDS on farms", *Mail & Guardian*, 19 April 2002, http://www.aegis.com/news/dmg/2002/mg020415.html.

### Maletsky, C.

2001 "Union bemoans Govt inaction on plight of poorest workers", *The Namibian*, 21 June 2001, http://www.namibian.com.na/2001/June/news/01FAE8AD6C.html.

### Meeson, A.

2000 "Not so sweet: HIV/AIDS and South Africa's canefields", *South African Labour Bulletin*, 24(5).

Ministry of Public Service, Labour and Social Welfare

\* 2001 Zimbabwe Farm Workers Survey ñ Land Reform: A Labour Perspective, September 2001.

Morris, C.N., D.R. Burdage and E.J. Cheevers

2000 "Economic impact of HIV infection in a cohort of male sugar mill workers in South Africa", *South African Journal of Economics*, 68(5): 933-46.

### Rugalema, G.

\* 1999 *HIV/AIDS and the Commercial Agricultural Sector of Kenya: Impact, Vulnerability, Susceptibility and Coping Strategies*, SD Dimension, FAO Sustainable Development Department, June 1999, http://www.fao.org/sd/exdirect/exre0026.htm.

Siziya, S., et al.

1999 "Risk awareness of HIV/AIDS among commercial farm workers in Zimbabwe", *Central African Journal of Medicine*, 45(12): 316-20.

### Topouzis, D.

1998 The Implications of HIV/AIDS for Rural Development Policy and Programming: Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa, study paper No. 6, Sustainable Development Department, FAO and HIV and Development Programme, UNDP, http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/study/english/sp6e.htm.

## Ulicki, T., and J. Crush

2000 "Gender, farmwork and women's migration from Lesotho to the new South Africa", *Canadian Journal of African Studies*, Vol. 34: 64-79.

UN Integrated Regional Information Networks (UN IRIN)

2001 "AIDS devastating rural labour force", 12 May 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200105150147.html.

2001 "HIV/AIDS depleting rural workforce, FAO report says", 12 May 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200105120082.html.

#### World Bank

No date "Document 3 (c) HIV/AIDS and rural development: an action plan", *Considering HIV/AIDS in Development Assistance: A Toolkit*, World Bank, http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/toolkit/rural.htm.

### **Informal Traders**

#### Dodson, B.

2000 "Porous borders: gender and migration in southern Africa", *South African Geographical Journal*, 83(1): 40-46.

## Haffajee, F.

\* 2001 "Africa's greatest a wave of African traders spends R10bn a year in Johannesburg", *Financial Mail*, 165(2), 14 December.

McDonald, D., and J. Crush

2000 "Understanding skilled migration in southern Africa", *Africa Insight*, Vol. 30: 5-9. Peberdy, S.

\* 2000 "Mobile entrepreneurship: informal sector cross-border trade and street trade in South Africa", *Development Southern Africa*, 17(2).

Peberdy, S., and J. Crush

\* 1998 Trading Places: Cross-Border Traders and the South African Informal Sector, Migration Policy Series No. 6, Southern African Migration Project (SAMP), http://www.queensu.ca/samp/publications/policyseries/policy6.htm.

\* 2001 "Invisible trade, invisible travellers: the Maputo Corridor spatial development initiative and informal cross-border trading", *South African Geographical Journal*, 83(2): 115-123.

Peberdy, S., and C. Rogerson

2000 "Transnationalism and non-South African entrepreneurs in South Africa's small, medium and micro-enterprise (SMME) economy", *Canadian Journal of African Studies*, Vol. 34: 20-40.

Rogerson, C.

\* 1998 "'Formidable enterpreneurs': the role of foreigners in the Gauteng SMME economy", *Urban Forum*, 9(1): 143-153.

Wilson, D.

\* 2001 Lesotho and Swaziland: HIV/AIDS Risk Assessments at Cross-Border and Migrant Sites in Southern Africa, Project Support Group, Harare, Zimbabwe and Family Health, and International (FHI) IMPACT Project, USA for USAID.

### **Domestic workers**

Beresford, B.

\* 1998 "Domestic workers and the law", *Mail & Guardian*, 16 October 1998, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

Bhorat, H.

\* 1999 "Benefits of wage law could be marginal", *Mail & Guardian*, 10 September 1999, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

Business Week

\* 2002 "Ditshwanelo hails Gaolathe on minimum wages", *Mmegi Business Week*, 19(17), Botswana, http://www.mmegi.bw/2002/May/Friday3/295049072364.html.

Craven, P., and M. Mothapo

\* 2001 "Domestic workers determination", *COSATU Communications Department*, 11 July 2001, http://www.cosatu.org.za/press/2001/Domestic\_workers\_determination-5782.html.

Daniels, G.

2001 "COSATU unhappy with UIF Bill", *Mail & Guardian*, 30 November 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

2001 "Monitor", *Mail & Guardian*, 17 august 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive. Dongozi, F.

\* 2002 "Of affluent employers, their maids and gardeners", *Daily News*, Harare, Zimbabwe, 10 June 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200206100243.html.

Hubbard, D., and L. Girvan

\* 1996 The Living and Working Conditions of Domestic Workers in Namibia, Gender Research and Advocacy Project with the Legal Assistance Centre, Namibia, http://www.lac.org.na/findrep5.htm.

**Intuit Consulting Services** 

\* 2002 *Domestic Wages*, Intuit Consulting Services, August 2002, http://www.domestic wages.co.za.

Mail & Guardian

1996 "Madam wins the day as Eve is cleaned out", 20 September 1996, http://archive.mg. co.za/MGArchive,

1999 "Minimum wage for domestic workers?", 16 March 1999, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

2001 "COSATU to strike to end 'jobs bloodbath'", 2 May 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

2001 "Verbatim", 13 July 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

Merten, M.

2001 "Investigation into domestic, seasonal workers' inclusion in UIF Bill sped", *Mail & Guardian*, 4 May 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

\* 2001 "State's exclusion of workers from UIF Bill 'unconstitutional'", *Mail & Guardian*, 16 March 2001, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

Network Against Child Labour

\* 2001 Basic Employment Conditions for Domestic Workers, Network Against Child Labour, funded by the Gauteng Department of Social Services and Population Development.

Ntuli, S.

1995 "Mboweni doesn't pay say workers", *Mail & Guardian*, 5 May 1995, http://archive.mg.co.za/MGArchive.

Services Seta

\* 2002 Domestic Services Chamber PESTEL/SWOT Analysis Meeting, http://www.serviceseta.org.za/docsmedia/PestelReport/13\_06\_2002/domesticworkers\_pestel 24072001.doc.

Sunday Times

1998 "Labour laws force madams into legal minefield", http://www.suntimes.co.za/jobs/labour/labour39.asp#madam.

# Refugees and IDPs

Abrahams, B., and H. Hajiyiannis

2001 A Baseline Study to Determine Levels of Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices in Relation to Reproductive Health among Male and Female Refugees Aged between

10 and 24 Years, Living in Gauteng Province, South Africa, Centre for the Study of Violence and Reconciliation (CSVR), http://www.csvr.org.za/papers/papunhcr.htm.

2001 Conducting a Reproductive Health KAP Survey with Refugee Young People in South Africa, UNHCR/Centre for the Study of Violence and Reconciliation (CSVR).

Barnett, B.

"Family planning rarely available for refugees", *Network*, 3(15): 4-8.

Beatty, M., R.K. Jones and T. McGinn

2001 Assessment of Reproductive Health for IDPs, Angola, 2001, Reproductive Health for Refugees Consortium (RHRC), http://www.rhrc.org/resources/angola00.html.

Benjamin, J.A.

1996 "AIDS prevention for refugees: the case of Rwandans in Tanzania", *AIDScaptions*, 3(2): 4-9, http://www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/serial/captions/v3-2/cp321.html.

Burns, K.

2000 "Refugees and reproductive health in the context of the HIV/AIDS epidemic: policy notes", *Sexual Health Exchange*, No. 2: 4-5, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange content/html/2000 2 refugees and reproducti.asp.

Burns, K., S. Male and D. Pierotti

2000 "Why refugees need reproductive health services", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 26(4): 161, http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2616100.html.

Davidson, S., and L. Lush

1995 What is Reproductive Health Care?, Refugee Participation Network, 20 November 1995, http://www.fmreview.org/rpn201.htm.

Doedens, W.

2000 "Sexual and reproductive health in conflict situations", *Sexual Health Exchange*, No. 2: 1-3, http://www.kit.nl/information\_services/exchange\_content/html/ 2000\_2\_editorial.asp.

Elliott, L.

"Gender, HIV/AIDS and emergencies, *RRN Newsletter*, No. 14 (June 1999): 4-6, http://www.odihpn.org/report.asp?ReportID=1055.

Gardner, R., and R. Blackburn

1996 People Who Move: New Reproductive Health Focus, Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, Population Information Program, Population Reports Series J, No. 45, Baltimore, http://www.jhuccp.org/pr/j45edsum.stm#top.

Girard, F., and W. Waldman

\* 2000 "Ensuring the reproductive rights of refugees and internally displaced persons: legal and policy issues", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 26(4): 167-73, http://www.agi-usa.org/pubs/journals/2616700.html.

Goodwin-Gill, G.S.

"AIDS and HIV, migrants and refugees: international legal and human rights dimensions", in M. Haour-Knipe and R. Rector (Eds), *Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS*, Taylor and Francis, London: 50-69.

Guy, S.

2002 Reproductive Health during Conflict and Displacement, Overseas Development Institute, London, http://www.odihpn.org/report.asp?ReportID=2405.

Holmes, W.

2001 "HIV and human rights in refugee settings", *The Lancet*, July 14; 358 (9276): 144-6

Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development (ICAD)

2001 *HIV/AIDS and Displaced Persons*, http://www.icad-cisd.com/content/home.cfm?lang=e.

Khaw, A.J., P. Salama, B. Burkholder and T.J. Dondero

2000 "HIV risk and prevention in emergency-affected populations: a review", *Disasters*, 24(3): 181-97.

Krause, S.K., R.K. Jones and S.J. Purdin

\*2000 "Programmatic responses to refugees' reproductive health needs", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 26(4):181-7. http://www.agi-usa.org/pubs/journals/2618100.html.

Lawday, A.

2002 *HIV and Conflict: A Double Emergency*, Save the Children (UK), London, http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/hiv/pdfs/conflict.pdf.

Mayaud, P.

2001 "The challenge of sexually transmitted infections control for HIV prevention in refugee settings: Rwandan refugees in Tanzania", *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 95(2): 121-4.

McGinn, T.

2000 "Reproductive health of war-affected populations: what do we know?", *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 26(4): 175-80, http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2617400.html.

McGinn, T., S.J. Purdin, S. Krause and R.K. Jones

2001 "Forced migration and transmission of HIV and other Sexually Transmitted Infections: policy and programmatic responses", *HIV InSite*, http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite.jsp?page=kb-08-01-08.

Mpundu, M.

\* 2000 "People on the move: migrant workers, conflicts and refugees", *AF-AIDS E-mail newsgroup*, http://www.hivnet.ch:8000/africa/af-aids/viewR?596.

Nersesian, P., and B. Brady

"Controlling STD's/HIV within dynamic refugee settings", *Refugee Participation Network*, 20 November 1995, http://www.fmreview.org/rpn208.htm.

Payson Conflict Study Group

\* 2001 Preventing and Coping with HIV/AIDS in Post-conflict Societies: Gender-based Lessons from Sub-Saharan Africa, USAID, http://www.certi.org/news\_events/prev\_coping\_w\_aids/Durban-Revised-Oct-12-final-formatted-version.pdf.

Purdin, S.

1999 "Refugees and reproductive health", *RRN Newsletter*, No. 14, June 1999: 10, http://www.odihpn.org/pdfbin/newsletter014.pdf.

Refugee Policy Group

1997 HIV/AIDS, Refugee Crises, and Mass Migration in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Implications of Mass Forced Migration and Repatriation on Disease Transmission, with an Analysis of Program Options, Refugee Policy Group.

# Reproductive Health for Refugees Consortium (RHRC)

No date *Refugees and Reproductive Health Care: The Next Step*, http://www.rhrc.org/resources/gr\_nextstep.htm.

## Salama, P., and T. J. Dondero

2001 "HIV surveillance in complex emergencies", *AIDS*, Supplement 3 to Vol. 15: s4-s12. Schreck, L.

2000 "Turning point: a special report on the refugee reproductive health field", International Family Planning Perspectives, 26(4): 162-6, http://www.agi-usa.org/pubs/journals/2616200.html.

#### Smith, A.

2002 *HIV/AIDS and Emergencies: Analysis and Recommendations for Practice*, paper 38, Overseas Development Institute, Humanitarian Practice Network (HPN), London, http://www.odihpn.org/pdfbin/networkpaper038.pdf.

#### UNAIDS

- 1995 Guidelines for HIV INTERVENTIONS in Emergency Settings, UNHCR, World Health Organization (WHO) and UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/rufugees/una96e1.pdf.
- \* 1997 "Refugees and AIDS", *UNAIDS Best Practice ñ Technical Update*, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/rufugees/refugtue.pdf.
  - 1997 "Refugees and AIDS", *UNAIDS Best Practice ñ Point of View*, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/specific/rufugees/refugpve.pdf.
  - 2000 "HIV prevention for mobile and displaced populations in Africa", *UNAIDS Best Practice Digest*, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/mobile.html.

### United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA)

\* 2002 "HIV/AIDS a time bomb for refugees and the internally displaced", *UNPFA News* and *Information*, 22 April 2002, http://www.unfpa.org/news/2002/features/armedconflictside2.htm.

#### UNHCR

- \* 1998 "UNHCR policy regarding refugees and AIDS", IOM No. 78/98, FOM No. 84/98, UNHCR, Geneva.
- \* 2001 "Refugees and HIV/AIDS", EC/51/SC/CRP.7, 15, UNHCR, Geneva.

## UNHCR and Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Work with Young Refugees to Ensure their Reproductive Health and Well-being: It's their Right and our Duty: A Field Resource for Programming with and for Adolescents and Youth, UNHCR, Geneva, http://intranet.theirc.org/docs/work\_with\_young\_refugees\_to\_ensure\_their\_repro\_health\_\_well-being.pdf.

## UNHCR, WHO and UNFPA

1999 Reproductive Health in Refugee Situations: An Inter-agency Field Manual, UNHCR, Geneva, http://www.unhcr.org.

# Waszak, C., and B. Tucker

1995 *The Reproductive Health Needs of Adolescent Refugees*, Refugee Participation Network 20, November 1995, http://www.fmreview.org/rpn207.htm.

# Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

1994 Refugee Women and Reproductive Health Care: Reassessing Priorities, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, New York.

- 2001 Assessment of Reproductive Health for Refugees in Zambia, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, New York, http://www.rhrc.org/resources/wc zambia 09 01.pdf.
- 2002 Refugees and AIDS: What Should the Humanitarian Community Do?, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, New York, http://intranet.theirc.org/docs/refugees\_and\_aids\_what\_should\_the\_humanitarian\_community\_do.pdf.

World Health Organization (WHO)

2000 Reproductive Health during Conflict and Displacement, World Health Organization, Geneva, http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/RHR 00 13 RH conflict and displacement/index.htm.

Wulf, D.

1994 Refugee Woman and Reproductive Health Care: Reassessing Priorities, Women's Commission for Refugee Woman and Children, New York.

### Commercial sex workers

Abdool Karim, Q., S.S. Abdool Karim, K. Soldan and M. Zondi

"Reducing the risk of HIV infection among South African sex workers: socioeconomic and gender barriers", *American Journal of Public Health*, 85(11): 1521-5.

Agha, S., and M.C. Nchima

2001 Prevention in Context HIV Risk Behaviour among Zambian Sex Workers, PSI Research Division, Population Services International (PSI), Washington DC.

2001 HIV Risk among Street and Nightclub-based Sex Workers in Lusaka, Zambia: Implications for HIV Prevention Interventions, PSI Research Division Working Paper No. 38, Population Services International (PSI), Washington DC.

Alexander, H.

2001 "The impact of violence on HIV prevention and health promotion: the case of South Africa", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 4: 20-2, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/halexander.htm.

Alexander, H., and J. Arnott

\* 2001 "Decriminalise the industry and treat sex work as work", *Mail & Guardian*, 10 August 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200108100034.html.

Alexander, P.

2001 "Contextual risk versus risk behaviour: the impact of the legal, social and economic context of sex work on individual risk taking", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 4: 3-4, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/alexander4.htm.

Blair, C.

1997 "Communicating HIV prevention messages in sub-Saharan Africa: the role of commercial sex workers: lessons learned", *Journal of Development Communication*, 8(1): 58-63.

Burling, K.

\* 1998 "Walvis sex workers living on the edge", *The Namibian*, 30 March 1998, http://allafrica.com/stories/199803300068.html.

Campbell, C.

1998 "Representations of gender, respectability and commercial sex in the shadow of AIDS: a South African case study", *Social Science Information*, 37(4): 687-707.

\* 2000 "Selling sex in the time of AIDS: the psycho-social context of condom use by sex workers on a Southern African mine", *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 50: 479-94.

# Campbell, C., and Y. Mzaidume

"Grassroots participation, peer education, and HIV prevention by sex workers in South Africa", *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(12): 1978-86, http://www.ajph.org/cgi/reprint/91/12/1978.pdf.

### Campbell, C., Y. Mzaidume and B. Williams

"Gender as an obstacle to condom use: implications for HIV prevention amongst commercial sex workers in a mining community", *Agenda*, No. 39: 50-7, http://www.agenda.org.za/cathy.htm.

#### De Coito, T.

1999 "Periodic presumptive treatment of women at high-risk", in B. Williams, C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), *HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa: Lessons from Industrial Settings*, CSIR, Johannesburg: 31-3.

#### Eferaro, S.

2001 "In God we trust!", *Vanguard*, 11 December 2001, http://allafrica.com/stories/200112110606.html.

### Family Health International (FHI)

1997 Final report  $\tilde{n}$  Periodic Presumptive Treatment of Women at High-risk: An Intervention to Reduce the Prevalence of Curable STDs in a South African Mining Community, Family Health International.

# Ghys, P.D., C. Jenkins and E. Pisani

2001 "HIV surveillance among female sex workers", *AIDS*, Supplement 3 to Vol. 15: s33-s40.

### John Snow International Project Support Group SAfAIDS

\* 2001 HIV/AIDS Interventions for Sex Workers and Mobile Populations in Zimbabwe, John Snow International, report prepared for the Zimbabwe sexual and reproductive health programme (ZSRHP).

#### Kalipeni, E.

2000 "Health and disease in southern Africa: a comparative and vulnerability perspective", *Social Science and Medicine*, 50(7-8): 965-83.

#### Kishindo, P.

"High-risk behaviour in the face of the AIDS epidemic: the case of bar girls in the municipality of Zomba, Malawi", *Eastern Africa Social Science Research Review*, 6(2): 35-43.

"Sexual behaviour in the face of risk: the case of bar girls in Malawi's major cities", Health Transition Review, Supplement to Vol. 5: 153-60, http://nceph.anu.edu.au/ htc/pdfs/Kishind1.pdf.

### Kriel AIDS Project

1998 Kriel Peer Education Project, Progress Report, Kriel AIDS Project.

## Laga, M., M. Alary, N. Nzila, A.T. Manoka, M. Tuliza et al.

"Condom promotion, sexually transmitted diseases treatment, and declining incidence of HIV 1 infection in female Zairian sex workers", *The Lancet*, 344: 246-8.

#### Leggett, T.

"Crack, sex work, and HIV", AIDS Analysis Africa, 9(6):3.

### Marck, J.

"Long-distance truck drivers' sexual cultures and attempts to reduce HIV risk behaviour amongst them: a review of the African and Asian literature", in J. Anarfi, K. Awusabo-Asare, J. Ntozi et al. (Eds), *Resistances to Behavioural Change to Reduce HIV/AIDS Infection in Predominantly Heterosexual Epidemics in Third World Countries*, Health Transition Centre Books, Canberra: 91-100, http://www.nceph.anu.edu.au/htc/pdfs/resistances ch8.pdf.

## Marseille, E., J.G. Kahn, K. Billinghurst and J. Saba

2001 "Cost-effectiveness of the female condom in preventing HIV and STD's in commercial sex workers in rural South Africa", *Social Science and Medicine*, 52(1): 135-48.

## Matshalaga, N.

1999 "Gender issues in STI's/HIV/AIDS prevention and control: the case of four private sector organisations in Zimbabwe", *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 3(2): 87-96

### Msweli, E.D., W. Dlamini and E. Vardas

2000 Enhancing Participant Compliance and Satisfaction in HIV/AIDS: A Case Study from South Africa, paper/poster presented at the XIII International AIDS Conference, South Africa, 2000, article number [TuPeD3777].

#### Mzaidume, Y.

"Managing HIV/AIDS in South Africa: lessons from industrial settings", B. Williams,
 C. Campbell and C. MacPhail (Eds), HIV/AIDS Management in South Africa:
 Priorities for the Mining Industry, CSIR, Johannesburg: 103-6.

### Mzaidume, Z., C. Campbell and B. Williams

2000 "Empowerment through participation: community-led HIV prevention by southern African sex workers", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 3: 6-7, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/mzaidume.htm.

#### Nairne, D.

"Please, help me cleanse my womb: a hotel-based STD programme in a violent neighbourhood in Johannesburg", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 2: 18-20, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/nairne2.htm.

2000 "We want the power: findings from focus group discussions in Hillbrow, Johannesburg", *Research for Sex Work*, No. 3: 3-5, http://www.med.vu.nl/hcc/artikelen/nairne3.htm.

### Outwater, A., L. Nkya, G. Lwihula, P. O'Connor, M. Leshabari et al.

2000 "Patterns of partnership and condom use in two communities of female sex workers in Tanzania", *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care*, 11(4): 46-54.

## Outwater, A., L. Nkya, E. Lyamuya, G. Lwihula, E.C. Green et al.

2001 "Health care seeking behaviour for sexually transmitted diseases among commercial sex workers in Morogoro, Tanzania", *Culture, Health and Sexuality*, 3(1): 19-33.

## Pettifor, A.E., M.E. Beksinska and H.V. Rees

2000 "High knowledge and high-risk behaviour: a profile of hotel-based sex workers in inner-city Johannesburg", *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 4(2): 35-43.

### Preston-Whyte, E.

"Survivial sex or the culture of sex work in South Africa", *AIDS Bulletin*, 5(1).

- Preston-Whyte, E., C. Varga, H. Oosthuizen, R. Roberts and F. Blose
  - 2000 "Survival sex and HIV/AIDS in an African city", R. Parker, R.M. Barbosa and P. Aggleton (Eds), *Framing the Sexual Subject: The Politics of Gender, Sexuality, and Power*, University of California Press, Berkeley: 165-90.
- Ramjee, G., S.S. Abdool Karim and A.W. Sturm
  - "Sexually transmitted infections among sex workers in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa", Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 25(7): 346-50.
- Rees, H., M.E. Beksinska, K. Dickson-Tetteh, R.C. Ballard and Y. Htun
  - 2000 "Commercial sex workers in Johannesburg: risk behaviour and HIV status", *South African Journal of Science*, 96(6): 283-4.
- Rustomjee, R., Q. Abdool Karim, S.S. Abdool Karim, M. Laga and Z.A. Stein
  - 1999 "Phase 1 trial of nonoxynol-9 film among sex workers in South Africa", *AIDS*, 13(12): 1511-5.
- Schoepf, B.G.
  - 1993 "AIDS action-research with women in Kinshasa, Zaire", *Social Science and Medicine*, 37(11): 1401-13.

#### Sichalwe, N.

\* 2002 "Prostitutes' invasion of Lusaka reaches alarming levels", *The Post*, 2 June 2002, http://allafrica.com/stories/200206020072.html.

Terris-Prestholt F., et al.

\* 2002 Cost-effectiveness of a Brothel-based Sexually Transmitted Infection Service among Highly Mobile Sex-workers in Johannesburg, South Africa, abstract [TuPeD5055], XIV International AIDS Conference, Barcelona, 2002.

#### **UNAIDS**

- 2002 "Sex work and HIV/AIDS", Best Practice ñ Technical Update, UNAIDS Geneva.
- 2000 "Community-led HIV prevention by southern African sex workers", *Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/sexworkers.html.
- 2001 "HIV risk among sex workers in Zambia", *Best Practice Digest*, UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/digest/files/HIVriska.htm.

## Varga, C.A.

- 1997 "The condom conundrum: barriers to condom use among commercial sex workers in Durban, South Africa", *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1(1): 74-88.
- "Sex workers managing the risk of HIV: coping strategies against HIV/AIDS", Women's Health News, No. 26: 21-2.
- 2001 "Coping with HIV/AIDS in Durban's commercial sex industry", *AIDS Care*, 13(3): 351-65.
- Walden, V.M., K. Mwangulube and P. Makhumula-Nkhoma
  - 1999 "Measuring the impact of a behaviour change intervention for commercial sex workers and their potential clients in Malawi", *Health Education Research*, 14(4): 545-54.
- Wilson, D., B. Sibanda, L. Mboyi et al.
  - "A pilot study for an HIV prevention programme among commercial sex workers in Bulawayo, Zimbabwe", *Social Science and Medicine*, 31(5): 609-18.

# Wojcicki, J.M.

2001 "An acceptance of violence against sex workers and women who exchange sex for money: survey results from Gauteng province and implications for HIV prevention", *AIDS Bulletin*, 10(1), http://www.mrc.ac.za/aids/apr2001/accept.htm.

## **Endnote**

1. The same bibliography database is also hosted on www.cadre.org.za.